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PREFACE

Cyrus Hall McCormick: Seed-Time, 1809-1856, published
by The Century Company five years ago, traces the life of the
inventor of the first practical grain reaper until the eve of the
Civil War when he was established in Chicago with fame and
fortune assured. The present volume completes the story of his
career. In this sequel the history of the harvesting-machine
industry is carried forward to 1885, but much space is neces-
sarily allotted to McCormick’s philanthropies and his réle in
the Presbyterian Church, the Democratic Party, and important
railroad and mining companies.

Although articles in contemporary newspapers and maga-
zines have been frequently consulted in writing this biography,
chief reliance has been placed upon the voluminous files of
letters in the libraries of the McCormick Historical Associa-
tion and the Nettie F. McCormick Biographical Association in
Chicago. To these organizations, and to their members indi-
vidually, I am indebted for the privilege of freely examining
this correspondence, for most of the illustrations in this
volume, and for cordial codperation at every stage of the work.

Eight years of research in the rich collection of the McCor-
mick Historical Association have placed me under heavy obli-
gation to Mr. Herbert A. Kellar, the librarian, for much
assistance and many courtesies. I am grateful to Miss Virginia
Roderick, the librarian of the Nettie F. McCormick Bio-

graphical Association, for aid in exploring the valuable source
v
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materials under her charge. My sincere thanks are also due to
other members of the staffs of these libraries—Miss Loraine
Weber, Miss Portia Cheal, Miss Rose Oenning, Miss Marie
Succo, Mr. Charles E. O’Connor, and particularly to Mrs.
Herbert A. Kellar who has helped me so often on special
problems.

Professor William E. Dodd first aroused my interest in the
life of Cyrus Hall McCormick and my debt to him has been an
increasing one. Portions of the manuscript have benefited from
the suggestions of Professor Wood Gray of The George
Washington University, and of my colleagues, Professor
Andrew C. McLaughlin, Professor Avery O. Craven, and
Professor William L. Eagleton. I wish also to express my
appreciation for the time and counsel generously given by
Professor Marcus W. Jernegan, Professor Bessie L. Pierce,
and Professor Einar Joranson when I have gone to them with
matters relating to this study.

My indebtedness to my wife, Frances R. Hutchinson, for
help with the typing and proof-reading, and for unfailing
encouragement at all times, is greater than any acknowledg-
ment here can express.

WiLriam T. HuTrcHINSON.

New Brunswick, N. J.
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CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

CHAPTER I

CYRUS McCORMICK AND THE PRESBYTERIAN CAUSE,

1855-1865

NEW chapter in the life of Cyrus McCormick began

as the last decade before the Civil War drew to its
close. By then he was fifty years of age, and since 1840 his
attention had been almost exclusively devoted to the improve-
ment and sale of his reaper. This concentration of effort had
brought him both wealth and renown. He had plowed deep
but in a single furrow, and his eyes had seldom been lifted
from the task. In the opinion of those who had felt his
power when they tried to block his course, he was a man
of iron. To fight and not to compromise had been his formula
of success, and appropriately enough, “Sine Timore” was
the motto on the ancient coat-of-arms of his family. In 1858,
as lawsuits and other business connected with his factory
obliged him to hurry from city to city of the North and
West, men who did not share his confidence would have
scorned to believe that he could alter his way of life, or that
he was even then preparing a program of action which would
make that year a turning point in his career.

Doubtless his marriage in January, 1858, to young Nancy
(Nettie) Fowler was a most important, if not the decisive,
factor in widening his horizon. The range of her interests
was as broad as his was narrow. She drew him into society
and he was gratified to find that persons of distinction who
first welcomed him because of his wealth and his reputation

3



4 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

as an inventor, soon listened with respect to his views upon
the issues of the day. He discovered that he had something
of interest to say about matters unrelated to his business,
and under her tactful guidance the courtesy and hospitality
of his native state of Virginia were transferred to northern
soil. Both enjoyed music and he often accompanied her on
his violin or sang with her the hymns and folk melodies
loved since his youth. The Presbyterian Church was a mu-
tual bond, and a Bible went with them on all their trips
together.? After his marriage, “Business before pleasure” re-
placed the “All business” rule of the earlier years.

Mrs. McCormick was his only master and she conquered
him by bending to his will. From the outset of their life to-
gether, he made her his business confidante and, probably
to her surprise, she quickly came to share his enthusiasm
for his work and brought to his problems a hitherto unsus-
pected talent for giving wise counsel. His letters rarely credit
a decision to her influence, but without doubt as he grew older
he came more and more to rely upon her advice. She was his
mainstay and he seldom took an important step without first
gaining her approval. Although proud of his victories, she
valued them the morfe because the wealth that they brought
could be used to help those who were less fortunate. To her,
this opportunity was the supreme justification of her hus-
band’s inflexibility and his determination to work and win
as long as his strength permitted. He came to share her point
of view and during the last twenty-five years of his life he
devoted large sums of money to the service of others. As he
wrote to his former slave, “Jo” Anderson, in 1870, “Increased
means and success in a business life bring with them usually,
as in my own case, an increase of cares and responsibility ;
while the . . . means I find to counteract injurious effects

1C. H. McCormick, from Eureka Springs, Ark., to C. H. McCormick,
Jr., May 21, 1882,
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therefrom are . . . in being also actively employed in works
of benevolence.”*? On another occasion he assured an old
friend in Virginia, “I am in favor of using means while one
lives, rather than leave all to be lost or squandered, as it may
be, after death.” 3 '

McCormick’s conservatism and his early life in Virginia
go far toward explaining why he was always a Presbyterian
of the Old School and a stanch “stand pat” member of the
Democratic Party. Innovations in methods of harvesting
grain account for his fame and his fortune by the eve of the
Civil War, but he willingly devoted both to the maintenance
of “sound principles” hallowed by long usage in church and
state. He prided himself upon his adherence to the old, and
was the more convinced of the correctness of his beliefs when
he saw new ideas threaten the unity of his denomination and
the nation. In his opinion the Presbyterian Church (O.S.)
and the Democratic Party, with their many members in both
the slave and the free states, were two of the chief, if not
" the chief, ties which held the Union together between 1845
and 1860. He regretted the doctrinal schism of 1837 which
had set apart the New School Presbyterians as a separate
church. The Old School Presbyterian Church, however, was
still national in its membership and it would not break in twain
over the slavery question if he could prevent it. His policy
in relation to his party and his church from 1856 to 1861
was shaped by his determination that the Union should be
preserved. After this hope failed with Sumter and the Old
School denomination divided, he bent his efforts for the next
ten years and more, at the cost of much popularity, to reknit

2 C. H. McCormick to “Jo” Anderson, Greenville, Va., Jan. 19, 1870.

3%#C. H. McCormick to T. J. Massie, Aug. 6, 1866. The “4” here and
elsewhere in this volume indicates that the letter is a part of the manuscript
collection of the Nettie F. McCormick Biographical Association. All other

documents cited, unless otherwise noted, are in the library of the McCormick
Historical Association.
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the church bond. Only by doing so, in his opinion, would
the country again be truly united. For these reasons, patriot-
ism, party loyalty, and religious faith were often but slightly
differentiated in McCormick’s mind. On several occasions
after the Civil War, friends felt obliged to remind him that
all conservative Old School Presbyterians were not Demo-
crats and that all supporters of Andrew Johnson and his
reconstruction policy were not equally ‘“‘sound” in matters
of religion.* He found it difficult to understand how a true
conservative could fail to be both.

Although his course in politics and in religion was pursued
toward a single objective, he insisted that the unity of his
church would be broken if the General Assembly took a stand
upon political questions in its ‘“‘deliverances.” By “politics”
in the 1850’s McCormick and many other Presbyterians
(0.S.), remembering the unhappy experiences of the Metho-
dists and Baptists a few years before, meant the agitation
within their ranks of the issues of slavery and slavery—ex-
tension. To an increasing number of northern Old School
Presbyterians (although far from a majority of the denomi-
nation as late as 1860), refusal to modify the “non-interfer-
ence” deliverance of the General Assembly of 1845 on the
subject of slavery and to return to the positive antislavery
position of 1818, was in reality taking a stand in politics with
a vengeance.® By the time of the Kansas-Nebraska Bill and
the Dred Scott decision, the members of the Old School
Church, reflecting the political conflicts of the times, were
classed as ‘radicals” or “conservatives,” depending upon
whether or not they opposed or upheld the deliverance of 1845.

% Post, Chap. II.

5In 1845 the General Assembly of the O. S. Presbyterian Church de-
clared that “since Christ and his inspired Apostles did not make the holding
of slaves a bar to communion, we, as a court of Christ, have no authority

to do so; since they did not attempt to remove it from the Church by legis-
lation, we have no authority to legislate on the subject.”
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The southern Presbyterians were almost without exception
within the conservative camp on this question, and many of
the most influential northern members, including McCormick,
were willing to support them.

It perhaps need not be added that the New School Presby-
terians of the North had also experienced, although to a lesser
degree, the impact of the same issues, and were divided. In
fact, by 1860 doctrinal differences between individual members
of these two branches of the church often seemed unimportant
when compared with the cleavage within their ranks on the
subject of slavery. An Old School and a New School Presby-
terian might feel a closer community of interest if they thought
alike upon the absorbing political topics of the day, than either
did with a member of his own group who viewed these same
issues in another light. There were many New School Pres-
byterians whose theological beliefs squared in all essentials with
Old School tenets. In short, the distinction between these two
wings of the same denomination, although fixed by twenty-five
years of practice, was often an academic one.

Not so, however, to McCormick or to most of the influen-
tial Old School Presbyterians who lived in the South. The
inventor read his Bible devoutly, made a close study of the
dogmas of his denomination on the subjects of free will, elec-
tion, imputation, and grace, and was convinced that the
“standards” of the Old School Church could not without real
loss be twisted to harmonize with those of the seceders of
1837. For the sake of peace he outwardly yielded a little to
the New School position in the early 1870’s, but with slight
exaggeration it may be said that the maintenance of “good
old” Presbyterianism against assaults by heretic or unbeliever
was one of the consuming interests of the last twenty-five years
of his life. He was often willing to defer decision upon im-
portant business matters during this period if the needs of
his denomination seemed to require his whole attention.
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Because of his residence in Chicago after 1847, and the
rapid growth of the Northwest, he naturally felt that the chief
opportunity of the Old School Presbyterian Church lay in his
own section of the country. He had noted many evidences of
infidelity along the Ohio River during his first visit there in
behalf of his reaper in 1845, and he saw more clearly as years
went by that the advancing West was a challenge to his de-
nomination to keep step. Other churches must not be permitted
to preémpt the new field. With this jealous regard for the
spread of sound Presbyterianism, went hand in hand a firm
belief by 1858 that the fate of the Union would be decided
by the stand taken by the Northwest upon the questions of
the day. Thus the welfare of his country as well as of his
church was in the balance, and the future of each would be
assured if the Northwest remained sanely conservative. On
these issues McCormick was no longer the hard man of busi-
ness, coldly calculating financial profit and loss, but an idealist
ready to break a lance in behalf of a cause which some his-
torians, wise after the event, believe to have been doomed to
failure from the outset.

McCormick appreciated the influence of the pulpit upon
public opinion, and by 1856 was grieved to find that his own
minister in Chicago, among others, was leaning toward aboli-
tionism. This, in the inventor’s view, was both unorthodox and
dangerous to the public peace. Thus far the leading seminaries
of his faith in the North, Princeton, Union, and Western
(Allegheny, Pa.), had remained true to the deliverance of
1845, but the little institution at New Albany, Indiana, largely
on account of the same question, was fairly upon the rocks.
It was high time to halt the menacing radicalism for the sake
of his party, his church, and his country.

With these convictions, and with perhaps a million dollars
in his pocket, McCormick in 1859 put in train several projects
which significantly suggest the methods used by Stephen Doug-



Mrs. Cyrus Hall McCormick
From a photograph by Koehne, Chicago, about 1880
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las in his rise to political eminence,—a newspaper to champion
Democracy, a religious magazine to disseminate conservative
Old School Presbyterianism, a Seminary to teach the same
principles, and its professors and graduates, by advancing the
cause of the denomination in the Northwest through their
pulpits in Chicago and elsewhere, to hold this pivotal region
from radicalism. The political phase of this plan will be sepa-
rately considered in the next chapter.

A master mind seemed providentially ready at hand among
the clergy of the West to be McCormick’s executive. Dr.
Nathan L. Rice, a pastor and the editor of a Presbyterian
journal in St. Louis, had been known for over twenty years
as one of the ablest controversialists in the church. His career
had been a stormy one, but whether battling Catholics at
Bardstown, Campbellites at Lexington, Universalists at Cin-
cinnati, or Abolitionists everywhere, he had held his own in
debate and was early counted among the giants of the Old
School Church. He denied that he was a proponent of slav-
ery, although he was ready to demonstrate by chapter and
verse that slaveholding as practiced in the South was not a
sin, and that it was not the duty of the church to preach
against it.* McCormick first met him at Cincinnati in 1843,
and at that time expressed his admiration in a letter to his
brother. Here an acquaintance began which soon ripened into
a friendship of large moment in the lives of both men for
the next twenty-five years.

Shortly after coming to Chicago to live, McCormick helped
to organize a little Presbyterian Church (O.S.) which was
familiarly known as the “North Church.” The congregation
prospered and outgrew two buildings within a decade.” Here

8 “Chicago Daily Press,” Oct. 30, and Nov. 7, 1857, letter of N. L. Rice,
printed in both issues.

7In 1857 the North Church was located at the corner of Illinois and
Wolcott sts.
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the inventor made many new friends but perhaps none of
more significance in the life of Chicago Presbyterianism than
Charles A. Spring, superintendent of the Sunday-school for
several years, and brother of the famous Dr. Gardiner Spring
of the Brick Presbyterian Church of New York City.8

Charles Spring, McCormick, and others were dissatisfied
with the preaching of the Rev. R. H. Richardson, and by 1854
were planning to organize a new and more orthodox O.S.
Church further south in what one day would be called the
“Loop.” Rice was to be their pastor if he could be secured.
McCormick wrote to his friend:

There does seem to us to be a striking providence in this matter
when all eyes and hearts are at once turned toward you as the man
for the place and the work. . . . We do think the cause for which
you have been so successfully laboring would be promoted by the
change. We believe our whole church throughout the country is
now sensible of the great importance of securing its proper in-
fluence at this point, and the proper exercise of that influence upon
the vast interests extending throughout the great N. Western coun-
try of which Chicago must be the principal City and commercial
emporium. . . . It is but reasonable to calculate that the mag-
nitude of the work to be undertaken will demand a vigorous effort
on the part of the church with the “right man” as its pastor.

It is thought that for the publication of your paper, too, this is
quite as suitable a point as is St. Louis and that in this opinion
you probably concur, having yourself proposed to issue it from
both places.

We have secured a very commodious and suitable hall in which

to commence operations. Presbytery is to meet about the 22nd inst.
to organize the new Church.®

8 C. A. Spring, Sr., to C. H. McCormick, Jr.,, Dec. 1, 1884. Spring states
that he assumed charge of the Sunday-school because Cyrus McCormick
urged it. McCormick’s friendship for Spring ripened but slowly. C. H.
to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 9, 1857 and July 15, 1858. Here he calls Spring
a “silly man,” and “a weak brother.” “He, good man, has need to be held
up to the point of firmness.”

®C. H. McCormick to N. L. Rice, Dec. 3, 1854. McCormick here inti-
mates that he had written him two years before upon the same subject,
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Thus, so far as records show, McCormick somewhat vaguely
first gave written expression to the “cause” which he had in
mind.

These great expectations came to naught when Rice de-
clined to leave St. Louis, and for almost three years the
project hung fire for want of a suitable pastor. McCormick’s
patent business and lawsuits obliged him to live in Washing-
ton for long periods. Here he became a well-known figure in
the congregation of the eminent Dr. Phineas Gurley, who one
day would number Lincoln among his parishioners and be at
his bedside when he died.

Between 1854 and 1857 Spring and a few others kept alive
the plan for a South Church in Chicago, and in late 1855 -
secured for their pastor the youthful Rev. R. W. Henry of
Pittsburgh. McCormick at once showed his interest by join-
ing the new congregation and contributing liberally to its
support. Without his donation the church building could not
have been erected on his lot. He loaned money to Mr. Henry
and rented him a house at one half the usual rate.l® Soon,
however, it was learned that the clergyman had voted for the
presidential candidate of the Republican Party in the autumn
of 1856, and rumor persisted that he was “tainted” on the
slavery issue.’ He refrained from discussing the questions
of the day from his pulpit, but McCormick was convinced that
he was not the man to advance the “great cause” in the North-
west.'? By good fortune, the minister of the North Church
resigned in the summer of 1857, and with Mr. Henry’s co-
operation, McCormick at once held out such tempting induce-

10 C. H. McCormick in the “Chicago Daily Press” of Jan. 20, 1858, states
that he paid one half of Mr. Henry’s salary until about Sept., 1857.

11 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 7, 1856, Jan. 13, and 28, 18s7.

12 Idem to idem, n. d., but in 1857, prior to Sept. 1: “The present Church
is but a circumstance; and I possibly could build a Church, and rent the
pews, if necessary to carry out a Great Church enterprise, which has been
my object throughout.”
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ments to the debt-burdened Dr. Rice that he could no longer
afford to decline.*®

Although the manufacturer announced his intention of join-
ing Rice's congregation, it was understood that this change
would not affect the fortunes of the South Church, since he
would continue his financial arrangement with Mr. Henry,
and donate the church lot, then estimated to be worth $30,000.
The two ministers would be, in fact, co-pastors, frequently
exchanging pulpits and working hand in hand for the advance-
ment of Old School Presbyterianism in Chicago. This was
the more necessary since the North Church building was in-
conveniently located and too small to accommodate the crowds
who would doubtless wish to hear the distinguished divine
from St. Louis. When this plan of interchurch codperation was
first suggested, Mr. Henry tentatively acquicsced, but he
changed his mind before Dr. Rice arrived in Chicago in early
October. By that time the smoldering discontent of the South
Church congregation had become an open blaze.

The forces giving rise to the South Church schism were
constants in the history of Chicago Presbyterianism for the
next ten years. Most of the elders were conservative men of
comfortable fortune who had attended the church at its birth
and were well aware that it could hardly continue to live
without their aid. Mr. Henry was not an able preacher, and
although he prudently confined his sermons to non-contro-
versial subjects, his discretion deserted him when he left the

18 C, H. McCormick to N. L. Rice, Aug. 17, 1857. Rice would receive
$3000 a year from his congregation and McCormick would add to it $2300
annually for five years. He would also send him $1000 for moving expenses
and assume on easy terms the $5000 debt Rice owed in St. Louis. Rice would
not need to pay interest to McCormick on this sum unless his paper yielded
profits, and if Rice should die before the principal was discharged, the
balance due would be cancelled. As early as March, 1857, McCormick had
urged Rice to locate in Chicago, suggesting that a third church might

be organized for him. C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Mch. 28, 1857. “Chicago
Daily Democrat,” Sept. 18 and Oct, 10, 1857.
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pulpit. Although he had joined in the call sent to Dr. Rice,
he doubtless anticipated with little pleasure the coming of a
colleague with whom he could not compete. Spring and one
W other elder, of their own volition, admonished him privately
to spend more time in his study. They, like McCormick, were
cager to be of Dr. Rice's flock, but unlike him, they could not
leave a substantial peace-offering upon their departure. Mr.
Henry, who had no wish to stay where he was not wanted,
(@tendered his resignation, but the congregation gave him an
lo almost unanimous vote of confidence and refused to let him
go. The discontented elders and trustees were virtually ¢jected
from their positions and left the Church. Peace and poverty
thus descended upon the congregation in the midst of the
Panic of 1857.
Mr. Henry, perhaps emboldened by this evidence of loyalty,
’J spoke with less reserve upon the subject of slavery, and the
eager Republican press, contrary to his wishes, expanded his
* remarks into essays which placed him squarely at odds with
> the redoubtable Dr. Rice.** To add to the trouble, Cyrus Me-
Cormick now withdrew his aid from the South Church, pressed
its needy pastor for payment of his debt, and cut off his
/(supply of free coal from the factory yard.*® But most serious
of all, he declined to donate the lot to the Church on the
— grounds that there was no longer any possibility of codpera-
(0 tion between the two congregations, that the position of enry
__on slavery was unorthodox, and that the property was too
Z 1$ “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Oct. 13, 1857. “Chicago Daily Press,” Oct.
x5, 30; Nov. 7, 1857. “Daily Chicago Times,” Oct. 30, 1857
18 Mr. Henry, with C. A. Spring as his endorser, borrowed about $1400
of McCormick. In 1865, Spring wrote bitterly that Henry had left him
with this debt to pay. It is probable that McCormick at that time released
his friend from the obligation. C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 12, 1857;
Apr. 3, July 17, 1858. L.P.C.B. No. ¢, pp. 99-100, W. S. to J. B. McCor-
mick, Oct. 8, 1857. #C, A. Spring to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 2, 186s.

O\"L.P.C.B." here, and wherever used in this volume, stands for “Letter
Press Copy Book.”
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valuable to give to an organization in so precarious a con-
dition that its continued existence was a matter of grave
doubt.®

Although McCormick was willing that the South Church
building should remain on his lot until he needed it for other
purposes, the little congregation of less than one hundred
members bravely determined to throw off its dependence upon
the generosity of a man, who in its opinion, had treated Mr.
Henry unjustly and violated his pledge. The “Chicago Press
and Tribune” complimented this resolve and denounced Mec-
Cormick as the self-appointed “lay-bishop” of Presbyterianism
who “has an ambition to hold in fee simple a Church and a
pastor. . . . The opening on Wabash Avenue, at the corner
of Congress Street [site of South Church], is a good one for
any clergyman who happens to be for sale.” " McCormick
released his interest in the South Church building and it was
sold to Lutherans. The congregation worshipped in the Rail-
road Chapel near the station of the Michigan Southern Rail-
road until its new edifice was completed. War issues darkened
its history for the next four years, and for thrice that long it
was severely, harassed by debt.?8

“It is glorious,” wrote Cyrus McCormick to his brother
William S., on September 1, 1857, when he heard that Dr.
Rice would move his large family and his paper to Chicago.
At last the inventor’s ambitious plan was fairly launched and
he was immediately accused of subsidizing the preaching of
pro-slavery principles in the free Northwest.*® Since Dr. Rice

16 “Chicago Daily Press,” Oct. 31, Dec. 29, 1857; Jan. 20, 21, 22, 1858,

17 “Chjcago Daily Press and Tribune,” July 31, Aug. 2, 18358.

18 C. H. McCormick to J. Wilson and R. J. Hamilton, Dec. 10, 1857.
L.P.C.B. No. 9, pp. 878-9; C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 4, 5, and 29,
1857. Article by C. H. McCormick in “Chicago Daily Press,” Jan. 20,
1858. #J. Forsythe to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 14, 1869.

19 “Richmond (Va.) Examiner,” September 25, 1857, quoting an article
by Horace Greeley in the “New York Daily Tribune.” “The South” (Rich-
mond), Sept. 3, 1857. Dr. Rice preached his first sermon in North Church
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and Mr. Henry were soon crossing swords over the issue in
the Chicago press, the suspicions of those hostile to McCor-
mick were confirmed. Dissension within the ranks of the Chi-
cago Old School Presbyterians increased in bitterness as the
Lincoln-Douglas debates fanned the flame, but although the
North Church was enlarged,®® the forceful sermons of Dr.
Rice soon overcrowded it with listeners. Money was difficult
to raise in those hard times and it was early 1861 before the
congregation was ready to dedicate its new, large, heavily
mortgaged, brick edifice at the corner of Cass and Indiana
streets. From the outset, McCormick had been anxious that a
“handsome’ structure should be erected with all speed. His
$10,000 headed the subscription list, and although court de-
cisions at that time were going strongly against him, he was
prepared to give more if need should arise.?! Little wonder
that his enemies soon called the building “Mr. McCormick’s
Church.” 22

on Oct. 11, 1857. “Chicago Daily Press,” Oct. 3, 10, Dec. 29, 1857; Jan.
18, 20, 21, 22, 1858. “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Dec. 10, 1857 ff. Strangely
enough, Rice was not a Democrat. See letter of C. H. McCormick in
“Chicago Daily Press” of Jan. 20, 1858.

20 “Chicago Daily Press and Tribune,” Aug. 2, 1858. At this time, while
its building was being enlarged, the North Church congregation held serv-
ices in old St. James’ Church, on Cass St. The erection of the “new and
beautiful” church was delayed for financial reasons until 1859.

21 Letters to Nettie F. McCormick of Amanda J. Adams, Mch. 13, 1858;
Henrietta M. McCormick, Mch. 17, 1858; and of Mary Ann McCormick,
Sept. 1, 1838, and Feb. 17, 1861. L.P.C.B. No. 11, pp. 399, 503 ff., No. 12,
p. 152, letters of W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 27, Apr. 2, and June
4, 1858. C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Mch. (?), Apr. 9, 19, May 3, 26,
and 31, 1858. W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Mch. 29, 1858. In a letter of
June 10, 1858, to C. H. McCormick, W. S. Johnston, Jr., offered to sell
the lot at the corner of Cass and Indiana sts. for $15,000.

22 H. A. Hurlbut to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 14, 1861. At this time, the
new North Church was still unfinished, and Hurlbut hoped that McCormick
would find some way to provide $1500 so that the job could be completed.
See also, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, July o, 1862, and #H. A. Hurlbut to
C. H. McCormick, Jan. 31, 1866. These letters show that the church was
mortgaged for $12,000 to C. H. McCormick, Wesley Munger, and E. S.
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In the meantime, Dr. Rice transferred his monthly “St.
Louis Presbyterian” to Chicago. Although the number of its
subscribers increased, it was never self-supporting. Because
the entire financial burden of the periodical was necessarily
shouldered by McCormick, it was, in fact, his property. Dur-
ing its career of-less than two years, the “Presbyterian Ex-
positor,” as it was soon called, represented a further contribu-
tion of over $6,000 by the inventor to ‘“‘the cause” in the
Northwest.?® He had been sanguine that it would pay its way.
Tts failure to do so, coupled with his costly publication venture
in the secular field at this time, made him hesitate a decade
later when the establishment of a new religious magazine
seemed to be desirable.2*

But the prime instrument for the accomplishment of Mec-
Cormick’s design was to be an Old School Presbyterian semi-
nary in Chicago. From this institution as a focus, with each
professor holding a pastoral charge in the city and contribut-
ing sermons and articles gratis to the “Expositor,” conserva-
tive influences and sound theology would radiate to more and
more homes in the Northwest.2® Each alumnus would reflect

Wadsworth. C. H. McCormick to H. A. Hurlbut, Dec. 3, 1866, “Chicago
Evening Post,” Dec. 2, 1868.

23 When the “Presbyterian Expositor” was established in Jan. 1860,
McCormick understood that he, the North, and the South Church, should
each bear one-third of its running expenses. The South Church under Mr.
Henry would not, and the North Church could not, pay their quotas. C. H.
to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 9, 1857. A final settlement between McCormick
and Dr. Rice, given in L.P.C.B. No. 40, p. 592, Apr. 6, 1861, indicates
that the “Expositor” cost the inventor over $7,000. The amount is given as
$6,282.06 in $C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 27, 1866. In
letters to H. A. Boardman, July 8, 1866, and to the faculty of the Presby.
Theo. Sem. of the NW., Jan. ?, 1874, C. H. McCormick mentions $8,000
as his loss from Rice’s paper. “Chicago Times,” Jan. 24, 1875, states $8,000~
$10,000.

2¢ Post, pp. 43 ff.

25 C. H. McCormick to B. M. Smith, July 14, 1865: “In what was done
by me for the ‘Presbyterian Theological Seminary of the Northwest’ one
important object designed to be secured was the establishment of such an
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from his pulpit the principles he had learned as a student. As
early as the autumn of 1856, McCormick expressed an interest
in the news that the little seminary at New Albany, unable
longer to compete with Danville across the Ohio River, was
obliged to move or die.?® The board of directors of the Indiana
institution, controlled by the seven Old School Presbyterian
synods in the Northwest, convened in Chicago in November
to take counsel with leading churchmen there. The outcome
of this meeting was the appointment of six members of the
North and South Churches as the trustees of a “Presbyterian
Theological Seminary of the Northwest,” as yet unlocated
and without endowment.?” On the first of the following month,
McCormick wrote to his brother that he proposed to use his

institution in the great West . . . with a view to strengthen the national
religious influence there, as opposed to the sectional, or radical influence, and
thus so far to promote the stability of the Union.”

26 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 24, 1856. The New Albany Seminary
was an outgrowth of a log-cabin academy founded by Dr. John F. Crowe
at Hanover, Ind.,, in 1827. From this academy came Hanover College in
1833. In 1840, to secure the benefits of a gift, the theological school was
moved to New Albany, on the Ohio River. With Lyman Beecher at Lane
Seminary (N. S.), a short distance to the eastward, and Robert L. Breckin-
ridge at Danville Seminary (O. S.) after 1853, it is not surprising that
the ability of the school at New Albany to survive was in doubt. The
faculty there attempted to maintain neutrality on the question of slavery,
but the antislavery students drifted to Lane, and those from the South,
to Danville. See J. G. McClure, “The Story of the Life and Work of the
Presbyterian Theological Seminary, Chicago, founded by Cyrus H. McCor-
mick” (Chicago, 1929) ; W. W. Moore, “Halsey’s History of McCormick
Seminary,” in “Presbyterian Quarterly” (Charlotte, N. C.), Jan. 1, 1804;
Alfred Nevin, “Encyclopzdia of the Presbyterian Church in the United
States of America” (Phila., 1884), p. 303; Pamphlet, “1829-1929, Presby-
terian Theological Seminary, Chicago” (Chicago, 1929). This states, without
giving its authority, that in 1855 Dr. J. G. Monfort of Cincinnati suggested
that McCormick should be approached on the question of moving the semi-
nary to Chicago. If this is true, Monfort later had good cause to regret his
suggestion.

27 The act of incorporation by the legislature was dated Feb. 16, 1857.
“McClure,” pp. 31-32; Pamphlet, “Constitution and Charter of the Pres-
byterian Theological Seminary of the Northwest” (Chicago, 1872).
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influence and his money to secure the transfer of the school
from New Albany to Chicago, since it would be of “impor-
tance to our cause.” 28 Dr. Rice prepared a pamphlet in support
of the project and it also received considerable notice in the
newspapers of the city.2®

The Panic of 1857, coupled with acute differences of opinion
between radical and conservative Old School leaders in the
Northwest, made it impossible to go forward during the next
two years. Until 1858 it was planned to establish the seminary
in Hyde Park, just south of Chicago, where Paul Cornell and
others promised to give land, but definite action was delayed
both by the hard times and because the members of the board
of directors failed to agree whether the institution should re-
main under synodical control or be transferred to the super-
vision of the General Assembly of the whole church. Since the
churches of the Northwest were becoming more antislavery
in outlook, this issue was of far more importance than a mere
question of administration.®® In the meantime, the seminary at
New Albany was unable to survive the financial storm, and the
closing of its doors after Commencement in 1857 signified that
whenever the new institution should commence instruction, it

28 C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 1, 1836.

29 “Chicago Daily Press,” Nov. 20, 1857.

30 Ibid., Nov. 21, 1857. At a meeting of the board of directors at this
time it was decided to remain under synodical control for the time being.
Among the directors were C. A. Spring, Paul Cornell, A. B. Newkirk, and
Jesse L. Williams. An unsigned and undated memo. in the papers of the
N. F. McCormick Biog. Asso. states that between 1856 and May, 1859,
this synodical board did little except run up expenses. Its agent spent more
than the contributions received, and employed an architect, at a fee of
$1,600, to design a seminary building to cost $200,000!1 The board was
replaced by a new body of forty directors in May, 1850, when the seminary
passed under the control of the General Assembly of the national Church.
On Dec. 15 1857, Wm. Houston of Rockbridge Cy., Va.,, wrote to
W. S. and C. H. McCormick that he had read in the “New York Observer”
of Cyrus’s “munificent offer of land and money for a Theological Seminary
in connection with the name of Professor Rice].” I have not found in the
McCormick MSS. any mention of an offer being made at this time.
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would be in only a nominal sense a continuation of the old.3!
McCormick’s interest did not lag during these troublous times,
and he found a loyal ally in Charles Spring.32

By 1859, conditions were more favorable for a resumption
of the campaign for an endowment of land and money. Shortly
before the Lincoln-Douglas debates, Dr. Rice and Dr. Eras-
mus D. MacMaster, able defender of the growing antislavery
group within the Old School Church, fought an indecisive
duel of words over the issue of the day.?® Rice wished to be,
and MacMaster had been and hoped to be again, a member of
the faculty of the seminary, and the matter in controversy
between them was the same question which had hitherto made
codperation impossible among the friends of that institution.
Naturally, the opposing groups in the General Assembly at In-
dianapolis in May, 1859, rallied around one or the other of
these leaders. If the antislavery forces should carry out their
program of reéstablishing the seminary at Indianapolis with
MacMaster as senior professor, McCormick’s “grand design”
would be defeated.®* But several days before the Assembly
convened, McCormick placed in the hands of Charles Spring,
a delegate from the Chicago Presbytery, a weapon so power-

31 “Report of the Minority of the Board of Directors to the Committee
of Inquiry of the General Assembly, May 15, 1869.” Article by Rev. D. X.
Junkin, “The Presbyterian Banner” (Pittsburgh), Mch. 24, 1869. Dr.
Junkin was one of the directors.

32 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 12, 1857. C. H. McCormick to C. A.
Spring, Sr., Mch. 7, 1872: “You the most aged and experienced of us all,
and to whom I was myself indebted for the original suggestion and advice
to make the donation to this cause [the seminary] in 1850.” C. A. Spring
to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Nov. 26, 1884. W. H. Neff, in his “Reminiscences
of the Second Presbyterian Church, Cincinnati” (Cin., 1898), states that
Rev. Thos. H. Skinner was largely responsible for inducing C. H. McCor-
mick to make his gift. I have found no confirmation of this.

33C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Nov. 19, 1857.

3¢ Dr. MacMaster, who will enter this story on several occasions, was
fifty-three years of age in 1859. He had been President both of Hanover
College and Miami University. He was an able scholar, and it was said
that he could fill with distinction any chair in a theological seminary.
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ful that the issue was not long in doubt. On May 13, 1859,
the inventor, then in Washington, drafted a proposal to en-
dow four professorships in the seminary with $25,000 each,
provided that the Assembly took over the control of the insti-
tution from the seven synods of the Northwest and located it
in Chicago. McCormick added that he regarded “this proposed
enterprise as of the greatest importance not only to the re-
" ligious, but also the general interests of the country.” 8
Faced with the offer of a gift larger, so it is said, than any
made to a theological seminary up to that time, and also prom-
ised a liberal donation of land,®® the Assembly declined the
bid by the MacMasterites of $10,000 and ten acres, and em-
phasized its preference for Chicago by a vote of 251 to 71.
Nor could Dr. MacMaster prevent the election of Dr. Rice
to the Chair of Didactic and Polemic Theology. In view of
the future, it was also significant that Dr. Willis Lord was
selected for the Chair of Biblical and Ecclesiastical History

35 C. H. McCormick to C. D. Drake, n.d,, but 1869: “My opinion then
was that the peace of the Country was greatly threatened by the agitation
of that question [slavery]; and that, to keep that agitation out of the
Church so far as possible was an important means for the preservation of
the Union, as well as for the peace of the Church.” “Daily Chicago Times,”
May 27 and June 8, 1850.

38 “Minutes of the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church in the
United States of America,” 1859-1864 (Phila. n.d.), p. 25. Here it is
stated that forty-five acres of land had been promised in Chicago. The
present writer is unable to particularize more than thirty-one acres. Twenty-
five of these were the “North Side” property on which the seminary was
finally located in 1864. Twenty acres there were given by Wm. B. Ogden
and his partner J. E. Sheffield of New Haven, Conn., with the proviso that
a building costing a stipulated sum should be erected on it within two
years (by May, 1861). Adjoining this land, Lill & Diversey, brewers, gave
five acres. Thos. H. Beebe was chiefly instrumental in securing the gift
from Ogden, and Charles Spring in gaining the donation from Lill &
Diversey. In June, 1859, Chas. Macalister of Philadelphia gave, or prom-
ised to give, six acres in the West Division at the corner of Taylor and
Rucker sts. “Chicago Daily Press and Tribune,” June 25, 1839. C. A.
Spring, Sr,, to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Dec. 20, 1884.
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and Dr. Leroy J. Halsey for the Chair of Historical and Pas-
toral Theology.3” McCormick had won the day.

Probably few gifts have brought a philanthropist more trou-
ble, and ultimately more satisfaction, than McCormick’s pledge
to the Presbyterian Seminary of the Northwest. Less than two
years after the first students assembled about their professors
in the temporary class-rooms in a Chicago hotel in the au-
tumn of 1859,%® the opening of the Civil War brought to a
head the growing dissension within the Old School Church
over the question of slavery. McCormick’s donation had not
been an unconditional one. As he wrote later : “When my offer
of the endowment was before the Assembly of 1859, it was
well understood to have been made in connection with the
position then held by the Genl. Assembly of the O. School
P. Church on the Slavery question, as represented by Dr. Rice,
in the Deliverance of the Assembly on that question in
1845.” 8° In other words, there were implied qualifications at-

37 “McClure,” p. 43. “Minutes of the General Assembly,” op. cit. pp.
1-40, C. A. Spring was a member of the first board of directors, composed
of twenty ministers and twenty ruling elders. In his old age he affirmed
that “delicacy prevented” C. H. McCormick from going as a delegate to
Indianapolis. C. A. Spring, Sr., to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Dec. 19, 1884.
A letter written by #Dr. B. M. Smith to C. H. McCormick, May 12, 1866,
leaves little doubt that McCormick, although not a delegate, was at Indian-
apolis during the meeting of the General Assembly of 1859. “Chicago Daily
Press and Tribune,” May 25 and 27, 1850.

38 “McClure,” pp. 46, 55. The hotel was at the west corner of Clark
and Harrison sts. Classes were also held in buildings at the corner of
Illinois and Pine sts., and in the basement of North Church.

39 C, H. McCormick to C. D. Drake, n.d., but late 1869. C. H. McCormick
to W. Lord, Jan. 6, 1869: “The written conditions of my bond were not
the only ones. There were also understood and implied pledges and one was
that the Seminary should be the exponent of sound scriptural and conserva-
tive views.” D. X. Junkin stated in “The Presbyterian Banner,” Mch. 24,
1869, that there was, in 1859, a “very explicit understanding . . . in regard
to the type of theology that was to prevail in it.” “Minutes of the General
Assembly,” 1865-1869, p. 507: “It is historically true that he [McCormick]
and the great majority of that Assembly [1850] were agreed as to the
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tached to the gift. McCormick was later to argue that if the
seminary faculty departed from the doctrines of their de-
nomination as held in 1859, he would be released from his
obligations. In his view, the question of freedom of speech was
not involved, since this was a theological seminary and not
a university. The faculty were naturally expected to teach the
orthodox doctrines of their denomination. What these doc-
trines were at the time of his gift, there could be no question.

The rather small minority of the delegates to the General
Assembly of 1859 in favor of the Indianapolis location did
not accurately represent the strength of the midwestern anti-
slavery group within the church.*® It was soon made clear that
the new institution could expect little or no financial support
from most of the synods of the Northwest, and without the
substantial and continued aid of McCormick and the members
of the North Church, the enterprise would quickly fail.#* Thus
a seminary which was intended to be the regional focus of a
large denomination, soon became the instrument of a con-
servative group, chiefly residing in one city. The political drift
of the Northwest beween 1859 and 1861 augured ill for the
success of an institution dedicated in part to the task of pre-

impropriety of agitating the slavery question in the judicatories of the
church. . ..”

40 The history of the Old and New School Presbyterian Churches dur-
ing these years is admirably told by Lewis C. VanderVelde in “The Presby-
terian Churches and the Federal Union, 1861-1869” (Cambridge, Mass.,
1032).

41 #Copy from the “Original Endowment Book of the First Financial
Agency of the Pres. Theological Seminary of the Northwest,” written in
1887 by C. A. Spring. This shows that up to Feb. 25, 1860, about 140
people had contributed or pledged $132,018. Of this amount, McCormick’s
was $100,000. C. H. McCormick to C. D. Drake, n.d., but 1869. Besides
the contributions from the Chicago group, and small donations from friends
at Galena and Rockford, Ill, the funds raised for the seminary during the
war came chiefly from New York City. The depressed state of agriculture
in the Northwest on the eve of the Civil War also hampered the raising of
funds for the seminary.
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serving the status quo upon a question that had made much
history since 1845. McCormick’s participation in politics drew
his opponents’ fire upon “his” seminary, and many wished
to believe that he had established a “fortress of slavery” in
their midst.*? This was a damaging charge in days when nice
distinctions were forgotten, and northerners who worked for
peace and compromise were labelled “pro-slavery” by their
foes.*?

As Cyrus McCormick surveyed the general situation in
April, 1861, he must have felt that his efforts had brought very
small return. His “castle,” as one of his enemies sneeringly
termed it later, had fallen in ruins.** The land donated for
the seminary was an expanse of “grass pastures and cabbage
patches” with the turf still unbroken for the erection of a
building. The seminary in 1861 graduated eleven students who
had received their instruction in makeshift class-rooms about
the city. For want of a dormitory, some had been sheltered in
the homes of the professors. Dr. William M. Scott, the Profes-
sor of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, was on his death-bed,
and Dr. Rice in impaired health and tired of braving the rising
radicalism of Chicago, “felt himself called by Providence to
resign his Chair” in order to accept the pastorate of the Fifth
Avenue Presbyterian Church in New York City.#5 Only Dr.

42 “McClure,” p. 48.

#3N. L. Rice to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 4, 1860: “I never had any inti-
mation that you desired the Professors of the Theological Seminary to take
any ground on slavery other than that which the Presbyterian Church had
ever occupied. . . . While I was a Professor at the Seminary I never knew
you to inquire into the opinion of the Professors in regard to slavery.”

44 “Chicago Evening Post,” Dec. 2, 1858. ’

45 “Minutes of the General Assembly,” 1850-1864, 0p. cit., p. 153. McCot-
mick’s order of preference for a successor of Dr. Rice was Dr. H. A.
Boardman of Philadelphia, Dr. T. V. Moore of Richmond, and Dr. P.
Gurley of Washington. See, #C. H. McCormick to Rev. T. V. Moore,
Richmond, Va., Apr. 13, 1861: “I may remark that the health of Dr. Rice

has not been good, while he has labored under some embarrassments in
other respects.”
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Halsey and Dr. Lord were left of the original faculty, and
while Halsey remained true to the Old School position of 1845,
he was a timid fighter and shunned all controversy. The “wan-
ton war spirit” and inefficient office management brought the
“Presbyterian Expositor” low, and since it had failed in its
purpose, it was abandoned in order to save useless expense.*®
Conservatism in church or state was now akin to disloyalty.
War had come and Lincoln’s election had been made possible
by the vote of the Northwest.

With war excitement at white heat, the Old School Presby-

terian General Assembly convened at Philadelphia in mid-
* May, 1861. For the first time in over twenty years the con-
servatives were unable to control its deliberations. After
prolonged and bitter debate, with Dr. Charles Hodge and the
Princeton group leading the opposition, the Gardiner A. Spring
Resolutions were adopted. In these it was affirmed that “this
General Assembly . . . do hereby acknowledge and declare
our obligations to promote and perpetuate, so far as in us lies,
the integrity of these United States, and to strengthen, up-
hold, and encourage the Federal Government in the exercise
of all its functions under our noble Constitution; and to this
Constitution, in all its provisions, requirements, and principles,
we profess our unabated loyalty.” This judgment upon a politi-
cal question was accepted by the southerners who comprised
at least one-third of the membership of the Old School Presby-
terian Church as a sentence of banishment.*” Allegiance to the
Constitution was thereby made a test of membership in the

46 %], M. Faris to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 20, 1861.
* 47 “Minutes of the General Assembly,” 1850-1864, 0p. cit., pp. 138 fi.
McCormick believed that Lincoln, when his opinion was asked, advised
the General Assembly not to pass the Spring Resolutions. See, C. H.
McCormick to B. M. Smith, July 14, 1865. McCormick’s view of these
measures is summarized in his letter to W. S. Plumer on Jan. 5, 1864:
“I have never believed in the policy of the Gern’l. Assembly at Phila. . .

in cutting off the Church South, and thus severing the strongest cord of
sympathy and communication between the North and the South.”
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denomination and, in fact, an evidence of godliness. Among
those who voted in the affirmative were Rev. Willis Lord and
Charles Spring.

When members of the Assembly who like Cyrus McCor-
mick viewed their church as a safe-guard of the Union, pro-
tested that this action was a “national calamity,” they were
reminded that “‘there are occasions when political questions #ise
into the spheve of morals and rveligion. . . . Would you [they]
have us recognize, as good Presbyterians, men whom our own
government, with the approval of Christendom, may soon
execute as traitors?”’ *8 Dr. Lord and Jesse L. Williams, who
for many years was prominent in the affairs of the Chicago
Seminary, were members of the committee which framed this
reply. By 1862, the General Assembly, on the motion of Dr.
R. J. Breckinridge, declared that treason and rebellion were
sinful. In 1863, following the Emancipation Proclamation, it
decided that slavery was contrary to the will of God. Thus,
until the mid-year of the war, the church expanded its defini-
tion of sin to keep step with Lincoln and his policy. For three
years thereafter, it left the President and his followers far
behind. Thaddeus Stevens could hardly have surpassed the
vituperative language of its resolutions.

In such fashion did the Old School Church desert Cyrus
McCormick and those of like mind in the crisis of 1861-1865.
At a time when, in his opinion, it could have performed a
notable service for the whole country, it spurned its oppor-
tunity, descended into the political arena, and drove out a
large portion of its membership. The Spring Resolutions were,
in effect, an official repudiation of the purpose McCormick
had in view when he pledged $100,000 to the seminary. With
an aroused public sentiment and a depleted faculty, which
could only be brought to full strength again by the action of
the radical General Assembly, the chief patron of the institu-

48 “Minutes of the General Assembly,” 1859-1864, op. cit., p. 173.
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tion saw his own money used to promote doctrines believed
by him to be both unscriptural and unwise. He could either
submit or resist, and as always when faced by this alternative,
he had but one choice. For ten years he fought. During the
first nine he lost almost every skirmish. In the tenth he won
substantially all for which he had contended. Doubtless he was
helped to this long-delayed victory by the gradual abatement
of party and sectional bitterness following the Civil War. His
contest against radicalism in his denomination portrays in
miniature the struggle which simultaneously gave direction
to the history of the nation between 1861 and 1871.
Following the death of Dr. Scott, Drs. Halsey and Lord,
with some little tutorial assistance in Hebrew, carried the
entire teaching load at the seminary for the rest of the war.
Rising prices and reduced salaries added to the difficulty of
their position.*® The student body was very small and the
uncertainty of the times handicapped the efforts of the effi-
cient agents of the seminary, C. A. Spring and his successor,
Fielding N. Ewing, to raise money for a building. Fortunately,
those who had donated land in 1859 with the stipulation that
a building should be begun within two years, generously
grantéd a period of grace.’° By 1863 sufficient money had been

49 “McClure,” pp. 49-50. MS. “Facts and Allegations as to Dr. Lord.”
Dr. Rice had received no salary as Professor of Theology at the seminary,
but had been content with his income as pastor of the North Church and
editor of the “Presbyterian Expositor.” The release of this $1500, supple-
mented by a few small gifts, allowed each of the other three professors a
salary of $3,000 a year. Drs. Lord and Halsey received this amount until
1863 when their stipend was reduced to $2500. Thereafter they were unable
to meet expenses. In 1861 the professors protested that they were being
paid in “stump tail” currency, then so common in the Northwest. See,
L.P.C.B. No. 41, pp. 749-754, W. S. and L. J. McCormick to Mr. Munger,
May 17, 1861; ¥W. S. to C. H. McCormick, May 2, 1861.

50 “Cook County (Ill.) Deed Book,” No. 270, p. 472, Deed of Jos. E.
Sheffield, Wm. B. Ogden, et al, conveying twenty acres of land on May 1,
1863, to the trustees of the seminary, provided that within forty days a
building should be begun—to cost at least $15,000. This land could not be
sold by the seminary for twenty-five years.
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found to begin the erection of a three-story structure of gen-
eral utility known as Ewing Hall.?*

Besides his will to fight, McCormick had one weapon of
considerable effectiveness to use against his foes. By the terms
of his gift, $25,000 were to be paid in each of the first four
years following the opening of the seminary. Each instalment
represented the endowment of one Chair, and until the full sum
was turned over, he promised to pay six per cent interest on
the balance due. In this way, salaries would be provided for
the four members of the faculty from the outset, although the
seminary would not gain control of the entire principal for
several years.

When the first instalment came due in September, 1860,
McCormick met it promptly. At that time his friends con-
trolled the seminary and the impending revolution was not
foreseen. Before another year had elapsed, however, the entire
situation had changed and the national church to which Mec-
Cormick had pledged the money no longer existed. For this
reason the autumn and winter of 1861-1862 went by with
the second instalment still withheld. By the spring of 1862
the institution was in a “delicate and critical situation’” but
McCormick was unwilling as yet to assume the responsibility
of forcing its closure for lack of funds.®® Thereupon, in May,

51 Ewing Hall was opened in February, 1864. See, Pamphlet, “Theologi-
cal Seminary of the Northwest; A Brief Statement of its Condition and
Prospects; together with the Annual Report of the Board of Trustees”
(Chicago, 1867). Dr. Rice secured from his rich parishioners in New York
the money to erect Ewing Hall. See, N. L. Rice to C. H. McCormick, Jan.
4, 1869; Mary C. Shields to Nettie F. McCormick, Sept. 1, 1863, and
Amanda Adams to Nettie F. McCormick, Aug. 20, 1863. “Minutes of the
General Assembly,” 1859-1864, pp. 292 ff.

52 The quoted phrase is from the minutes of the General Assembly of
1862. See, ibid., p. 225. This Assembly adopted a “hands-off” policy toward
the seminary, and allowed the board of directors to act as it deemed best.
McCormick attended the sessions of the Assembly at Columbus, O. The
critical situation of the seminary may be implied from the copy of a tele-
gram sent by C. H. McCormick to Dr. Gurley on Apr. 5, 1862, and found
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he paid the second instalment, and the trustees agreed not to
call upon him for the remaining $50,000, or interest upon it,
unless the two vacant professorships were filled. Since it was
understood that the General Assembly should not be pressed
by the board of directors of the seminary to make new
appointments to its faculty, the payment of the last two in-
stalments thus seemed to be deferred indefinitely into the
future.®3

McCormick was abroad for two years beginning in the sum-
mer of 1862, and learned to his surprise that the General As-
sembly of 1863, at the request of the board of directors, ap-
pointed Rev. Charles Elliott, D.D., of Oxford, Ohio, to the
Chair of Biblical Literature and Exegesis. When the inventor
protested that this was both unjust to him and unwise in view
of the need for retrenchment, F. N. Ewing answered that “he
thought Vallandigham would be elected governor (!) and the
Republican rule overthrown.” 5 But, as McCormick wrote, ‘I
want the Seminary to go forward and prosper notwithstand-
ing the excision” of the southern churches, and he consented
to advance the interest on the third instalment for Elliott’s
support, although he insisted that he did not thereby acknowl-
edge their right to demand it, since in his opinion the agree-
ment of 1859 had been violated. Shortly thereafter he directed
his brother, William S., to pay the principal.5

on the inside front cover of L.P.C.B. No. 47, “Seminary continued another
year with the two Professors without election.”

53 MS. agreement between C. H. McCormick and the trustees, dated Apr.
22, 1862. The principal of the second instalment was paid on May 2, 1862.
Memo. in the papers of the N. F. McCormick Biog. Asso., Seminary File
for 1862. See also W. Lord to McCormick, Dec. 19, 1868.

54 This is a striking illustration of the close connection between the for-
tunes of war and the church. Clement Vallandigham of Ohio was probably
the oustanding Copperhead of the Middle West. Ewing meant that if this
element gained control, the war would probably be brought to a speedy
close and better days would then come to the seminary.

55 MS. Receipt dated Aug. 2, 1864. He met the third instalment in two
payments of $12,500 each. The second payment was made Oct. 31, 1864.
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The improved situation at the seminary doubtless accounts
in some measure for McCormick’s decision to come to its as-
sistance. By 1864 the trustees could report to the General
Assembly “a decided financial advance” and an increase in
student enrollment.’® Danville Seminary was in the theater
of the war, and its distress had been Chicago’s gain. Although
one of the major reasons for the establishment of the Semi-
nary of the Northwest had been defeated by the secession of
the southern states, there still remained the work of spreading
Old School Presbyterianism throughout the upper Mississippi
Valley, not, to be sure, the brand represented by the radical
majority in the General Assemblies, but the conservative doc-
trines which might again come into their own with the peace.

Thus, by the close of the Civil War, McCormick had paid all
except $25,000 of the sum pledged to the seminary six years
before. The remaining instalment was for the endowment of
the Chair of Theology, unfilled since Dr. Rice’s resignation
in 1861. Of the four professorships, this one was the senior
in rank and interested McCormick the most keenly. The Chair
bore his name and its incumbent would have the maintenance
of orthodoxy among the students principally in his charge.
There was a real danger that the General Assembly would
elevate Dr. Lord to the position since he was in tune with its
wartime deliverances on secession and slavery, and had taught

Memo. in N. F. McCormick B.A., Seminary File, 1864. #C. H. McCormick
to F. N. Ewing, April 1, 1864. C. H. McCormick to Wm. S. Plumer,
Jan. 5, 1864. From this letter it is evident that the plea of his friend, Dr.
Halsey, had also been an important factor in persuading McCormick to
come to Dr. Elliott’s aid. The letter continues: “The first question is,
whether the results of the present fearful war will make it advisable yet
to extend it [the seminary] to its original dimensions; and second, if so,
that it should be done as originally designed—so far as to have preachers
for professors. This was the original calculation with Dr. Rice and myself,
with a view to Church extension in the City, by supplying pastors for sev-
eral churches.”
56 “Minutes of the General Assembly,” 1859-1864, pp. 365 ff.
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theology at the seminary after Dr. Rice left. Quite apart from
considerations of personal hostility, McCormick believed that
Dr. Lord’s theological views were unsound. Lord had entered
the Old School Church through the door of Congregationalism
and was at least tolerant of the advanced ideas of the New
School Presbyterians.®” For this reason McCormick agreed
heartily with the suggestion of John M. Faris, the new agent
of the seminary, that the Chair should remain temporarily
vacant because no suitable candidate could be found “who
would be acceptable to conservative men and at the same time
not encounter such violent opposition from radicals as would
probably prevent his election” by the General Assembly.5® If
this were done and a proper person were finally secured for
the position, McCormick was willing to increase considerably
the endowment of each Chair,—a proposal the more tempting
since the interest on $25,000 no longer paid the living expenses
of a professor.®® By good fortune the General Assembly of
1865 adjourned without making an appointment to the vacant
place.

The Lord-McCormick opposition following the Civil War
cannot be understood without a review of the history of the
North Church in Chicago between 1861 and 1865. When Dr.
Lord left his Brooklyn pastorate and joined, with hesitation
as he afterward remembered, the faculty of the little seminary
by the Lake, he had the endorsement of Dr. Rice. This was
sufficient to win him favor in the eyes of Cyrus McCormick.
He made friends easily and he lacked neither ability nor am-
bition. But he veered with the political wind, and although he

57%0n Jan. 5, 1864, he wrote W. S. Plumer: “But I do feel I should
be entitled to some consideration and that if I carry out my part [ie, pay
the instalments still due], Dr. Lord should resign. He has been no friend
of mine, nor of the great conservative cause I had in view when the Semi-
nary was established.”

58 J. M. Faris to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 28, and Mch. 1, 186s.

59 #C. H. McCormick to J. M. Faris, Mch. 26, 186s.



THE PRESBYTERIAN CAUSE 31

could endorse Dr. Rice’s articles in the “Expositor” opposing
secession in the winter of 1860-1861,%° he could not approve
his lectures against Abolitionism and Congregationalism deliv-
ered at about the same time.®! He dropped from the list of con-
tributors to the paper and refused to sign an address of friend-
ship to the South drafted by Dr. Scott at McCormick’s sug-
gestion during the same critical months.®? While keeping on
good terms with the kindly Dr. Halsey, he sought the com-
panionship of men who supported a policy of coercion toward
the seceding states, notably Dr. Robert (“Scotch’) Patterson
of the First Reformed Presbyterian Church of Chicago, and
Mr. Jesse L. Williams, a rich civil engineer of Fort Wayne
who had assisted the seminary with money. Lord’s alignment
with the radical group in the General Assembly of 1861 and
McCormick’s growing distrust of the Doctor’s theology, have
already been mentioned.%?

After Dr. Rice shifted his field of labor to New York City,
McCormick endeavored to secure Dr. T. V. Moore of Rich-
mond, Va., as pastor of the North Church. Dr. Lord worked
to defeat this election on the grounds that Moore was a dis-
unionist.®* McCormick believed, although Lord later denied

60 N. L. Rice to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 4, 1860. Shortly after the fall
of Sumter, Dr. Lord prepared an article for the “Presbyterian Expositor”
on the duties of Christian citizens in the crisis. McCormick refused to allow
it to appear. Dr. Lord to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 19, 1868.

61 Letters of W. S. McCormick in L.P.C.B. No. 29, p. 500, to J. C.
Walker, Jan. 25, 1860; and in No. 30, pp. 678, 600, to W. A. Braxton,
Mch. 3, 1860; and W. T. Rush, Mch. 5, 1860: “The Old School Church
is weak where there is so much abolitionism.”

62 N. L. Rice to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 4, 1869; W. Lord to C. H.
MecCormick, Dec. 19, 1868.

63 Supra, pp. 25, 30.

64 £C. H. McCormick to T. V. Moore, Richmond, Va., Apr. 13, 1861.
McCormick offered him $5,000 as a joint salary for preaching and teach-
ing theology at the seminary. Dr. Halsey urged McCormick to secure
Moore. C. H. McCormick to W. Lord, Jan. 16, 1869; W. Lord to C. H.
McCormick, Dec. 19, 1868; T. V. Moore to W. Lord, March 5, 1869. In
this letter, Moore denied that he had been a disunionist in 1861.
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the charge, that his opposition was in some measure due to
his wish to secure the appointment for himself.®® If this were
so, he failed to gratify his ambition. Although the radical
antislavery members of the congregation were in a majority,
the conservatives had to be relied upon for most of the min-
ister’s salary. McCormick then worked in vain to prevent the
congregation from inviting the young Rev. David Swing.%¢
He wished Dr. Stuart Robinson of Louisville to be called so
that the seminary and North Church might both benefit. When
Robinson came to Chicago to speak, however, he was barred
from the church building.®” Swing occupied the pulpit during
most of the summer of 1862 after McCormick sailed for
Europe but he found the war-torn congregation no inducement
to remain.®8

Thereupon, the North Church called the Rev. J. B. Stewart

65 McCormick persuaded the congregation to call Dr. Gurley, but to
McCormick’s chagrin, the offer was declined, “leaving us at sea whence we
were unable to get back to land!” #C. H. McCormick to W. S. Plumer,
Jan. 5, 1864. At a meeting of the congregation in the late summer or early
autumn of 1861, Dr. Lord apparently attacked C. H. McCormick for his
attitude toward the war. See C. H. McCormick to W. Lord, Jan. 16, 1869.
Dr. Lord told Rev. E. Erskine that if McCormick’s ideas in regard to the
seminary had been followed, a mob would have quickly pulled down its
walls. $E. Erskine to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 25 1868. Dr. Lord later
denied that he had denounced C. H. McCormick before the congregation
in this manner. Dr. Lord to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 19, 1868.

86 %C. H. McCormick to the “Moderator of To-Night's Meeting of the
Congregation of North Church,” June 18, 1862. C. H. McCormick opposed
the call of Mr. Swing on the grounds that he did not have the ability to
teach in the seminary; he was too young and never had had a pastoral
charge; and because his delivery was awkward and his voice unpleasant.
In this letter McCormick chided the congregation for not better supporting
the seminary.

87 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, July 30, 1862. #C. H. McCormick to Wm.
S. Plumer, Jan. 5, 1864.

88W. S. to C. H. McCormick, June 13, Sept. 28, 1862. Rev. R. H.
Richardson preached in North Church for at least two Sundays in August.
L.P.C.B. No. 49, p. 869, C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Aug.
25, 1862. C. H. McCormick to Dr. Lord, Jan. 16, 1869.
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of Ohio.%® According to Mary Ann McCormick he delivered
on Thanksgiving Day ‘the worst abolition sermon ever
preached in the Church. . . . Thought the proclamation [of
Emancipation] did not go far enough and favored arming
the negro or in any other way aid them to insurrection, and
every other mean thing a dewilish heart could devise.” 7® She
and her husband, William S. McCormick, no longer attended
church,™ being unable to endure the antislavery sermons and
the applause of the congregation when the minister denounced
the South. As early as mid-May, 1861, William wrote to a
cousin who lived in St. Louis: “Do you clap your Preachers
on Sunday? They do it here loud and long. I believe they pray
substantially that every devil of you down south shall be killed
(not die) in his sins. They don’t pray that your eyes shall be
opened to see the glorious light of the: everlasting patron-

89'W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 12, 1862: “I hear Armour of Munger
& A. says C. H. McCormick & Dr. Rice did more than any other two
men to make the troubles in the country!! Stewart elected Pastor wunani-
mously I hear.” Mr. Stewart was never installed as pastor, although he
preached in the North Church for over a year.

70 Mary Ann McCormick to Nettie F. McCormick, Dec. 7, 1862. Amanda
Adams to Nettie F. McCormick, Aug. 20, 1863. L. J. and Wm. S. McCor-
mick formally left the North Church in Feb., 1863, and L. J. McCormick
took a pew in the South Church. Apparently Mary Caroline Shields, the
sister, retained her membership in, and continued to attend, the North
Church. See W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 15, 1863, and Mary Caro-
line Shields to Nettie F. McCormick, Sept. 1, 1863. C. H. McCormick
had not contributed to the support of the North Church for some time
but he still paid pew rent there.

TW. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 3, 1862: “I do not myself feel like
going to Church here and whether I am a skeptic or not I don’t know.
I have not much confidence in anything I see connected with the church
here certainly. I some times think I will leave it absolutely and while I
conceal these feelings from my family, I- know to my sorrow that there
are no church influences here that are of any service whatever to my fam-
ily. There has not been a man here that you could even regard as a friend
—I mean preacher—and who as Elder or Member can you confide in?”
Mary Ann McCormick expressed the same thought in a letter to Nettie
F. McCormick on Mch. 5, 1864.
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Saints of the North, but rather that you may in your darkened
understanding, plod along up to the cannon’s mouth. I never
had any sympathy for secession . . . but I fear the remedy is
to be far worse than the disease.” 72

Dr. Lord approved of Mr. Stewart and assisted him in the
pulpit on his first Sunday in the North Church.” But the new
pastor was in poor health and many did not like his sermons.™
Church attendance dwindled during 1863, and by the close of
the year some of the discouraged conservatives of his congre-
gation were of a mind to withdraw and establish a new
church.” Much to their relief, Stewart resigned before the
winter was over.”® An evening in early March was appointed
for the election of a new pastor. Owing to the extreme in-
clemency of the weather, only a few members of the congre-
gation assembled at the designated hour. They resolved to ask
Dr. Lord to be their clergyman. Many of the radicals, how-

72L.P.C.B. No. 41, p. 6og, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, May 14, 1861.
On Oct. 5, 1862, he wrote to C. H. and L. J. McCormick in the same
vein: “Even our religious people would deal out death and destruction—
extermination—of men women and children at the hand of the Slave or
other midnight assassin. The cry is not (as it seems) ‘God be merciful to
us miserable sinners.’” But help us to destroy these southern wretches—
all of them—without mercy. Should we buy specie or remove to Europe?”
See also, L.P.C.B. No. 58, p. 119, W. S. McCormick to C. A. Spring,
Sr., Mch. 21, 1863.

8 %C. H. McCormick wrote to W. S. Plumer on Jan. 5, 1864, that
he had hoped the professors at the seminary would be pastors: “calculat-
ing myself to have the benefit of one so provided, while, as matters now
stand, I and my friends are without a preacher, unable to support the
present abolitionist Stuart [sic] of the North Church.”

" Amanda Adams to Nettie F. McCormick, Aug. 20, 1863; Mary Ann
McCormick to Nettie F. McCormick, Oct. 21-22, 1863.

s Mary C. Shields to Nettie F. McCormick, Sept. 1, 1863; #C. H.
McCormick to W. S. Plumer, Jan. 5, 1864. At this time, C. H. McCormick
hoped that Dr. Lord would leave the seminary, if the North Church radi-
cals could be persuaded to choose him as their pastor. Then a new church
could be formed and some eminent conservative, preferably Dr. Stuart
Robinson or Dr. Gurley, might be called to its pulpit and the Chair of
Theology at the seminary.

76 In May, 1864, Mr. Stewart accepted a call to the sth Presbyterian
Church of Cincinnati. “Daily Chicago Times,” May 25, 1864.
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ever, although they agreed with the Professor’s views, did
not wish him for their minister. Faced by the opposition of
a majority of the congregation, made up of an unnatural al-
liance of members from both camps, Dr. Lord declined the
call. His friends at once seceded and with Dr. Lord as their
temporary pastor, organized the Central Presbyterian Church,
its building located within one hundred yards of their former
meeting-house.” These events were reported in due time to
Cyrus McCormick, who was about to return to Chicago from
London. They confirmed him in his opinion that Dr. Lord
must be kept from the Chair of Theology, and if possible, be
forced to resign from the seminary altogether.

The withdrawal of Dr. Lord’s adherents left the conserva-
tives in control of the North Church. They at once called Dr.
David C. Junkin to be their leader. His recent service as a
chaplain in the Navy well prepared him to bid defiance to the
charges of disloyalty launched against him and his congrega-
tion by the Chicago Presbytery. He was not a persuasive
speaker, however, and he was in poor health.”® Upon his in-
stallation the members of the McCormick clan once more re-
turned to their pews. William S. and Mary Ann McCormick,
who had heard but one sermon since Dr. Rice left Chicago,
attended a church sociable in December, 1864, and furnished
the ice-cream and cake.”®

77 “Daily Chicago Times,” Apr. 13, 1864. In 1868, Dr. Lord wrote
C. H. McCormick (letter of Dec. 19) that he had tried his best to prevent
this schism. The Central Presbyterian Church lasted a little over two
years, and then most of its members returned to the North Church. Mary
C. Shields to N. F. McCormick, Jan. 3, 1865. Mary Ann McCormick to
Nettie F. McCormick, March 5, 1864, and Apr. 16, 1866. L. J. McCormick

to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 17, 1866. C. H. McCormick to H. A. Hurlbut,
" Dec. 3, 1866.

78 When C. H. McCormick learned of Dr. Junkin's appointment, he
prophesied that he would not last long. See, #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H.
McCormick, Apr. 17, 1866.

79 Letters to Nettie F. McCormick of Mary Ann McCormick, Dec. 27,
1864, and Mary C. Shields, Jan. 3, 1865. During the war, the South Pres-
byterian Church, in the charge of Dr. W. W. Harsha (1862-69), experi-
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Cyrus McCormick always personalized the forces against
which he contended. His beloved Old School Presbyterianism
had run after strange gods for five years and had worked in-
justice to him and to the South. No one man better epitomized
the whole church and seminary issue than Dr. Willis Lord.
Although his salary was made possible by McCormick’s en-
dowment, he had led in the policy of proscription. If he could
be ousted, McCormick would be ready to believe that a better
day had dawned for his church and his country. The story of
his long fight to achieve his purpose throws light upon the his-
tory of Presbyterianism in both the North and South during
the early years of the Reconstruction Era.

enced much the same troubles as the North Church. The South Church
owed $5,400 and since its creditors were radicals they threatened to fore-
close unless the interest were promptly paid. Finally the church decided to
sell its lot in order to meet some of its most pressing obligations. With
Cyrus McCormick’s consent it moved its building in late 1865 to its old
site on his property at Wabash and Congress sts., rent free. At the same
time he leased Dr. Harsha a house at about half the usual charge and
helped to pay the interest on the church debt. #C. H. McCormick to H. N.
Waller, Mch. 29, 1865. Receipt of T. Armstrong, Trustee, to C. H. McCor-
mick, June 7, 1862. Letters to C. H. McCormick of #W. W. Harsha,
Feb. 25, Apr. 7, 1865; #H. N. Waller, Mch. 4, 1865; ¥D. X. Junkin, Mch.
6, 1865; C. A. Spring, Jr., Feb. 22, 1866; $Mrs. J. C. Partridge, Apr. o9,
1866; and of #C. A. Spring, Sr., Apr. 6, 1865 and Feb. 23, 1866. In his
letter of Apr. 6, 1865, Mr. Spring, Sr., told the inventor that by his generos-
ity he was heaping coals of fire upon the heads of some members of the
South Church, who during Mr. Henry’s pastorate had treated him so
unjustly.



CHAPTER II
CYRUS McCORMICK AND THE CIVIL WAR

HOSE who followed the earlier career of Cyrus Mec-

Cormick could have predicted with reasonable assurance
his course in the political crisis of 1860 and 1861. His birth
and long residence in Virginia, his close association for fif-
teen years with Chicago and the farmers of the Middle West,
and his long journeys in the interest of his business through-
out the whole of the North with the exception of New
England, gave him a national outlook and a fixed belief that
the utmost concession to the South was preferable to a dis-
solution of the Union and Civil War. Viewed from the nar-
row standpoint of his economic interests, his growing emphasis
upon the need of expanding his southern market would alone
account for his opposition to the program of the new Repub-
lican Party. By inheritance and by conviction he was a Demo-
crat. His conservatism increased with his wealth, and his
faith in the principles of his party was strengthened by the
belief that upon its success in the elections of 1856 and 1860
depended the continued life of the nation.

Virginia, perhaps more than any other state, enjoys the en-
during affection of her sons, even after they have made new
homes beyond her borders. McCormick was no exception to
the rule.! Strong ties of blood and of friendship led him, when

1 “Daily Chicago Times,” July 5, 1866. In February, 1880, C. H. McCor-
mick was elected the first President of the Virginia Society of Chicago.
At a banquet of the society that month, he said: “We may say that the

love of our country as one great whole, is a noble virtue of the mind, while
the love of our native State is a pure affection of the heart. . .. I may

37
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all plans of compromise failed, to prefer a peaceful separation
of the South from the North to a war in which the Old
Dominion would be the principal battle-ground.? His opposi-
tion to the use of force after Lincoln’s first inauguration was
in harmony with the “union at any cost” principle which
shaped his entire political course between 1856 and 1865.

His attitude toward slavery was doubtless moulded by his
southern upbringing, but it was in harmony with the view
of many Northerners who had never owned negroes. Because
his three or four slaves refused to leave Virginia, he was
unable under the law of that state to emancipate them when
he moved to Chicago. He hired them out for service to neigh-
bors in the Valley and in 1860 they were still his property.
They were old, however, and their small value, when com-
pared with his large fortune, certainly did not determine his
position on the issues of the day. As a Jeffersonian, he was
antislavery in principle, but he held that the Constitution sanc-
tioned human bondage and that the Union should not be
endangered by agitating the issue of immediate emancipation.
In common with many others in the North, he blamed the
Abolitionists for the uncompromising pro-slavery feeling of
the South by 1850. Twenty years earlier, so he believed, the
willingness of the border states to inaugurate a program of
gradual enfranchisement had been stifled by the tactics of
William Lloyd Garrison and his fellow-radicals. If the country
had been spared abolitionism, an antislavery movement in the
South would have been well under way by 1860.

say of Virginia, as David said of the city of his love: Tf T forget thee, O
Jerusalem, let my right hand forget her cunning.’” “The Daily Inter
Ocean” (Chicago), Feb. 24, 1830; G. Garnett to C. H. McCormick, Feb.
12, 1830; #]. E. Cooke, Millwood, Va. to C. H. McCormick, July 18,
1880.

2L.P.CB. No. 41, p. 52, W. S. McCormick to N. Chandler, Apr. 18,

1861; No. 41, p. 377, to J. B. McCormick, May 3, 1861; No. 42, p. 40, to
W. T. Rush, May 22, 1861.
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Except for his support of a compromise as the most prac-
tical method of dealing with the problems of slavery and
slavery-extension, McCormick seems never to have formulated
a plan whereby the institution could eventually be abolished
in the United States. Slavery handicapped the South eco-
nomically, but the Bible was proof enough to him that human
bondage was not an offense against God or man. Horace
Greeley was mistaken when he chided McCormick for support-
ing a system of forced labor which blocked the extensive sale
of his machines in the South.® McCormick did not champion
slavery, except in the sense that he believed immediate emanci-
pation by federal action without compensation would be an
invasion of States’ rights and individual rights, and a remedy
worse than the disease. In several letters he emphasized that
slavery should be treated as a ‘“national” rather than a “sec-
tional” evil, and that Southerners should be asked in a friendly
spirit to codperate through the central government in prepar-
ing the slaves for ultimate freedom.* He urged that men of
the North ought in fairness to admit that their fathers for
their own profit had carried the negroes from Africa, and
therefore, they were as much at fault as were the slave-owners.

Political differences of opinion, however, were no bar to
his friendship, and in his estimation his services to his party
were always subordinate in importance to his work for his
church. A surprising number of his warmest friends, lawyers,
and office employees, were of the Presbyterian faith, but many
of them voted the Republican ticket and were outspoken in
their opposition to slavery.5 To draw the obvious conclusion

8 “Richmond Examiner,” Sept. 25, 1857, quoting from the “New York
Daily Tribune,” C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 10, 22, 1857.

+#MS. of C. H. McCormick, nd. but about Jan. 16, 1860. ¥C. H.
McCormick to Ed., “Chicago Times,” Apr. 11, 1864; to Ed, “New York
World,” June 20, 1864.

sL.P.C.B. No. 39, p. 205, J. T. Grifin to E. Healy, Feb. 25, 1861:
“The writer as well as all of those in the office (except W. S. McC.) are
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from this fact would probably be unwarranted since no letter
remains to indicate that he ever applied a religious test when
choosing a helper. The Church was his chief social focus and
acquaintanceships formed there were mnaturally carried over
into his business life without a conscious purpose of excluding
members of other denominations.

Nevertheless, as has already been indicated, he believed that
the Democratic Party and the Presbyterian Church were of
the utmost importance as cohesive forces within the nation.
Acting upon this assumption, his policy toward the one was
so closely akin to his program for the other that his enemies
were unable clearly to disassociate the two in their attacks
upon him. They accused him of sacrilege in using religion to
further his political ends, and called him the “Presbyterian
Pope” because he made so little distinction in practice between
the issues of church and state.

Personal ambition unquestionably helped to lead McCor-
mick into the forum in 1860. He was one of the first manu-
facturers of the modern type who sought a political crown
for a successful business career. At one time or another be-
tween 1860 and 1880 he looked with favor upon the offices
of mayor, governor, congressman, senator, vice-president, and
ambassador. Some friends told him that his wealth, influence,
and ability should make him President of the United States.®

republicans and supporters of Lincoln” L.P.C.B. No. 93, p. 772, C. A.
Spring, Jr., to A. McCoy, Nov. 22, 1866: “I have never known any differ-
en<1:f: mz}de by him [C. H. McCormick] in business matters on account of
politics.”

6 T. J. Paterson, Rochester, N. Y., to C. H. McCormick, July 35, 1860:
“I should have thought a few years since that nothing short of a miracle
could work so great a change [in you], but . . . now that you are afloat
on the political waves, with your indomitable will, means, & abilities, I
shall be supprised [sic] at nothing you may accomplish, & shall expect to
see you yet a candidate for the Presidency. When Pierce, Buchanan,
Douglas, & Linclon [sic] & Co. can accomplish so much, you have no rea-
son to dispare [sic].”



CYRUS McCORMICK AND THE CIVIL WAR 41

Republicans charged that he succumbed to the flattery of Demo-
cratic leaders who wished the benefit of his wealth at election
time.” His participation in politics was doubtless expensive,
and if McCormick viewed it as an investment, it was a sin-
gularly unprofitable one. The Democratic Party was in eclipse
during the twenty-five years of his active interest in its wel-
fare, and he was not spared to witness its triumph in the
autumn of 1884. He was Chairman of the Democratic State
Central Committee during two presidential election contests,
and a member of the National Committee at the same time,
but he never held an office as the result of an election or by
appointment of a national or state administration. He once
said that he could not stay out of political life because there
were principles at stake which deserved to be defended. He
believed in the utility of action against a rival, whether in
business, politics, or the church. This gives a singular unity
to his career. In his opinion, life without competition would
merely be an existence.

His executive ability fitted him for public office, but his
brusque forthrightness and his refusal to conciliate or to use
“weasel words” greatly reduced his chances of obtaining it.
He sought to transfer to political life his code of success in
business and found that subduing his competitor and gaining
the favor of an electorate called for different techniques. The
loyalty of the buying public could be held by the quality of
performance of his reaper, but voters demanded more oratory
and smooth promises than he was prepared to supply. His
southern birth was always a political handicap in northern
Illinois, and his refusal to delegate to a subordinate his mani-
fold business problems during an election campaign made it

7 Article by “Long John” Wentworth in “The Daily Inter Ocean,” May
14, 1884: “Whenever the Democrats wanted money in their campaigns they
would always try to get Cyrus in to bleed him.” Wentworth and McCor-
mick were at opposite poles in politics but they were good friends.
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impossible for him to devote more than a part of his time and
energy to the game of politics.

In 1856 McCormick urged his two brothers to become citi-
zens of Chicago, so that they might vote for Buchanan?® in
the autumn election. This advice was superfluous. They were
both stanch Democrats and William, at least, believed that if
Buchanan won, he would bring back better times and stifle
Abolitionism.? Cyrus McCormick was doubtful of the out-
come, but he was willing to contribute $1,000 to the cause,
if a Democratic victory in Illinois could thereby be rendered
more certain.’® Should Fremont win, the Patent Office officials
at Washington would probably view applications for patent-
extensions from prominent Democrats with an unfriendly eye.

Because “Long John” Wentworth and his “Chicago Demo-
crat” deserted Stephen Douglas in 1854, the Illinois Senator
later in the same year set up the “Chicago Daily Times,” with
Isaac Cook as publisher and Daniel Cameron and James W.
Sheahan as editors, to champion his policies. Cook refused to
follow Douglas when he broke with Buchanan in 1858, and
ieft the “Times” in order to establish the “Chicago Daily
Herald” as an administration organ.!* McCormick rejoiced
because of Douglas’s defeat of Lincoln for the United States

8C. H. to W. S. McCormick, from Balto., Oct. 1, 1856. L.P.C.B. No. 2,
pp. 95, 12214, J. L. Wilson to J. B. McCormick, June 6, 1856, and to D.
Zimmerman, June 9, 1856.

9 Ibid., No. 3, pp. 471, 480, 505, 689-690; W. S. McCormick to J. L.
Myer, Oct. 1, 1856; to T. J. Paterson, Oct. 1, 1856; and Messrs. Fair-
banks, Concord, Ill, Oct. 16, 1856: “If we succeed in electing James
Buckhanan [sic] I think Reapers & every other interest will be right side up
& that is just what I think we shall do.” Ibid., No. 4, pp. 215-216, 219,
W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, Cline’s Mills, Va,, Nov. 12, 1856. W. S.
MecCormick was in Va. at election time and lost his vote.

10C. H. to W. S. McCormick, from Phila., Oct. 7, 14, 1856.

11 The first issue of the “Chicago Daily Herald” was on July 25, 1858,
See “Chicago Daily Press and Tribune,” July 27, 1838,
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Senate that autumn,?? but he continued to support the policy
of Buchanan. Although Douglas and McCormick remained
good friends, their political views were no longer in accord,
and the statesman opposed in Congress the inventor’s efforts to
secure an extension of his patents.'® McCormick believed that
unless the discordant wings of the Democratic Party could be
reconciled, the “abolitionist” Republicans would win in 1860,
and endanger the Union by their victory.

To him, John Brown’s raid was the first fruit of the new
radicalism and a foretaste of what would become the rule if
the Republicans gained control. For this reason the Harpers
Ferry outrage was a call to action. He determined to do what
he could in his own section to reunite his party, combat Gar-
risonian doctrines, and foster a tolerance of the “peculiar in-
stitution” of the South. The immediate practical steps to be
taken was to halt the bickering between the “Herald” and
“Times” of Chicago, and combine them so that they could
more effectively fight that “dirty sheet,” as he called the
“Tribune.” 1*

On February 17, 1860, he bought for $2,000 a half-interest
from Isaac Cook in the “Chicago Herald.” By the terms of
the purchase he was given control of its policy “as fully as if
he was the sole owner.” E. W. McComas, an able Virginia
lawyer then living in the city, was to be its political editor.
“It is agreed that the paper shall be devoted to no party except
the democratic party. Nor shall it . . . advocate the claims of

12 . P.C.B. No. 16, p. 514, W. S. McCormick to J. G. Hamilton, Nov. 4,
1858.

13 “Congressional Globe,” 34th Cong. 1st Sess. (July 14, 1856), p. 1601.
Douglas highly complimented McCormick’s services as an inventor but
opposed extension of his patent by a special act of Congress, for consti-
“tutional reasons. See W. T. Hutchinson, “Cyrus Hall McCormick: Seed-
time” (New York, 1030), p. 295. Hereafter cited as “Hutchinson, 1.”

14 C. H. to W. S. McCormick, from Washington, Aug. 2, 1858: “Stop
[my subscription to] the dirty sheet, instantly.”
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any aspirant or person for the presidency until after the nomi-
nation of the National Democratic Convention at Charles-
ton.” 15 In the early winter McCormick failed to receive the
Democratic mayoralty nomination, but his successful rival in
the convention was roundly beaten in the March election by
“Long John” Wentworth, a Republican.*®

Due to the withdrawal of many southern delegates from
the Charleston convention in April, 1860, no nomination of
candidates could there be made, and it was resolved to reas-
semble at Baltimore in mid-June.r” Thither McCormick jour-
neyed, not as a delegate, but as one who hoped that his in-
fluence with southern members might help to heal the schism.*8
He wrote of the result of his efforts as follows:*?

I did my best here to the last to effect a Compromise between
D.[ouglas] & the South in some way, but his leading frds. would
hear nothing. . . .

Tt seems to me now that it is scarcely possible to prevent Lincoln
from being elected by the people, while, if that be possible, it would
seem to be best . . . that Douglas should carry Ill, and run as well
as possible at the North. The election might thus go to the House of

15 MS. Agreement dated Feb. 17, 1860, between Isaac Cook and C. H.
McCormick. The “Herald’s” slavery-in-territories platform which it urged
upon the Democratic national convention, was unacceptable to Douglas.

18T P.CB. No. 30, p. 736, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Mch. 7, 1860.
Douglas Democrats were charged with “knifing” C. H. McCormick at the
last moment when his nomination seemed to be assured.

17 In view of Isaac Cook’s association with McCormick, it is interesting
to note that he led an Illinois “Danite” (anti-Douglas) delegation to the
Charleston convention, but it was refused admission.

18 Tpid., No. 32, pp. 241, 545, 501, J. T. Griffin to J. B. McCormick, May
23, 1860; W. S. to J. B. McCormick, June 2, 1860; W. S. McCormick to
W. T. Rush, June 4, 1860.

19 C, H. McCormick to E. W. McComas, dated “Baltimore 1860,” and
doubtless written in late June. “Squatter Sovereignty must be crushed out.
... The South must continue to be the great body of the Democratic
party, as agst. the Northern Republican party. The South demanding equal
rights in the Territories—the North demanding that the South shall be
excluded therefrom! This is the issue that is before the country and must be
met.”
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Rep. It may thus be better to have no Breck.[inridge] electoral
ticket in Ill. of which I can better determine at Washington tomor-
row. . . . Lf this cannot be done, and if Douglas cannot be induced
to decline an acceptance of the nomination—nor both he &
B.[reckinridge]—then I think it, af present, extremely doubtful
whether all our labor would not be lost to continue the contest
further.

The Southern position is now, without doubt, sound & just, and
I think they are determined to maintain it. They can’t now recede
unless Douglas does; .

Squatter sovereignty is in my judgment dead. Douglas cannot
possibly, in my judgment, carry in this contest more than three or
four states .. . while I repeat that it must be very doubtful
whether he can carry a single one.

From the tenor of this letter it might be expected that
henceforward the “Chicago Herald” would work for Douglas,
not because its proprietor favored his principles, but in order
to forestall a Lincoln victory by throwing the choice of a
president into the House of Representatives with its Demo-
cratic majority.2® Jefferson Davis was working toward the
same end. Although the plan does credit to McCormick’s politi-
cal acumen, it was rendered impracticable by the inability of
southern and western Democrats to unite upon a third candi-
date in case Breckinridge and Douglas should withdraw. Con-
sequently, sound political strategy demanded that McCormick
champion Douglas. His honest conviction, however, counseled
him to support Breckinridge, but to do this in Illinois would
merely work to Lincoln’s advantage by weakening Douglas.
Faced by this dilemma, the ‘“Chicago Herald” carried the
name of neither candidate at the head of its editorial column

20 L.P.C.B. No. 33, p. 606, W. S. McCormick to Jas. Campbell, Aug.
18, 1860: “Expect to vote for Douglas though not my choice by a good
deal.” The “Chicago Press and Tribune” on Aug. 16, 1860, called the
“Chicago Times” “tamely pro-Douglas, but fiercely pro-slavery.” During
the campaign, Douglas called the Breckinridge Democrats “disunionists,”
but the “Chicago Times” denied that this label was deserved.
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but continued to defend the Buchanan administration.?* This
was more helpful to Breckinridge than to Douglas, since many
“Danites,” as the Buchanan supporters in Illinois were known,
seemed willing to resign themselves to the election of Lincoln,
if Douglas could thereby be defeated.

In late July, 1860, McCormick bought out Cook’s remaining
interest in the “Herald” 22 and also paid James W. Sheahan
and Abner Price about $10,000 for the “Chicago Daily
Times.” 2 Perhaps one strong Democratic paper could be
made by combining two weak ones. The “Daily Chicago
Times,” as the new journal was soon called, was edited by
E. W. McComas with the assistance of Daniel Cameron.
Sheahan, always a faithful Douglas man, late in the same year
established the “Morning Post.” 2¢ McCormick scanned the

21 “Principles—Not Men,” was its motto. T. J. Paterson, Rochester, N. Y.,
to C. H. McCormick, July 5, 1860: “I see the Herald goes for the nominee
of the Baltimore Democratick Convention & places no name at the head
of its columns. As there were two Conventions at Baltimore claiming to
be Democratick I consider you are in the fog yet, & are in doubt which
was the Simon Pure Democratick Convention. I trust you will not renounce
the Religion & Politicks of your fathers to embrace that miserable heresy
of Douglass [sic] Squatter Sovereignty.” “New York World,” Aug. 5,
1860. “Chicago Press and Tribune,” July 30, 1860.

22 §Receipt of I. Cook, July 28, 1860. At this time it was reported that
McCormick would run for Congress in the autumn. “Chicago Daily Demo-
crat,” July 23, 1860.

28 C., H. McCormick to H. A. Boardman, July 8, 1866: “I bo’t out the
Times (Chicago) for opposition to the election of Old Abe.” The bill of
sale was drawn on July 25, 1860, and the new paper made its first appear-
ance as the “Chicago Times-Herald,” on July 31. Shortly thereafter, the
name was changed to the “Daily Chicago Times.” “Chicago Press and
Tribune,” Feb. 14, 15, July 30, Aug. 16, 1860. According to this paper,
McCormick purchased the “Times” because Sheahan had defeated his can-
didacy for the mayoralty nomination earlier in the year. McCormick bought
up the debts of the paper and thus forced its sale. “Scientific American”
(N. Y.), Aug. 25, 1860.

24 “New York World,” Aug. 5, 1860. It was rumored in 1860 that Mc-
Cormick had obliged Sheahan to promise that he would not publish an-
other political paper in Chicago. “Chicago Daily Democrat,” Mch. 19, 1861.
If Douglas felt that he had any chance of winning the election, he would
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copy for his paper as closely as he did the material submitted
for the ‘“Presbyterian Expositor,” and his blue pencil, accord-
ing to the recollection of his friend Judge Murray F. Tuley,
sometimes made McComas writhe.? The desecration of the
Sabbath by work in the newspaper office was avoided by issu-
ing the Sunday edition on Saturday evening. All articles or
advertisements calculated to corrupt the morals of its subscrib-
ers were barred. “Nothing will be allowed in its columns that
will cause a blush to the most rigidly pure.” 2¢ While McCor-
mick was its owner, the daily circulation of the “Times” was
not over 2,000 or 3,000, and it was far from self-sustaining.
Probably no complete file of the paper for the period from
July 1860 to June 1861 now exists.

By mid-September, McCormick was the chairman of the
Cook County Central Committee of his party. He most prob-
ably voted for Douglas on Election Day. His worst fears were
realized when the final returns were announced and a con-
vention in South Carolina adopted an ordinance of secession.
Henceforward, McCormick shelved his disagreement with
the “Little Giant” over the proper position of the national
government on the issue of slavery-extension in the territories,
and worked with him in behalf of any compromise which
might preserve the Union.?” In late December he urged Doug-
hardly have permitted Sheahan to sell out to McCormick during the cam-
paign. Letter of J. W. Sheahan in “Chicago Press and Tribune,” Aug. 17,
1860. £D. Cameron to C. H. McCormick, n.d., but probably Dec., 1860.

25 M S. Reminiscences of C. H. McCormick by Judge Murray F. Tuley,
undated, but after May, 1884. In view of McCormick’s frequent absences

from Chicago during this period, Tuley’s statement must be accepted with
reservations.

26 MS. Sketch of C. H. McCormick by D. Cameron, Sept. 8, 1870. In
the “Daily Chicago Times” of Dec. 8, 1860, McComas assured his readers:
“Vulgarity and licentious details of every description will be wholly ex-
cluded from its columns. Not one sentiment will be uttered that could
bring a blush to the cheek of virtue, or a rebuke from the strictest moralist.”

27 The “Chicago Times” of Oct. 30, 1864, states that McCormick voted
for Douglas in 1860, #An undated MS., probably written by C. H. McCor-
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las to support the Crittenden Plan, believing that under his
lead the entire northwestern democracy and enough Republi-
cans would rally around it to carry it through Congress. To
make certain in this crisis that Douglas and he should act in
harmony, he waited upon the word of the Illinois Senator be-
fore committing the “Times” to any measure. “Of course,”
he wrote, “it requires true greatness to be able to accommo-
date such differences so as to strike the line that will carry
the cause, and save the Union.” 28 He was convinced that
attempts to conciliate the South would be futile without Re-
publican aid, but he hoped that his friend William H. Seward
would lead the more conservative leaders of his party along
the path of peace.?®

On the wisdom of preventing secession by réaching a peace-
ful agreement with the South, all leading Democrats in Chi-
cago were as one, but they were not unanimous on the ques-
tion whether coercion should be used in case persuasion failed

mick in 1869, suggests, but does not positively state, that he voted for
Douglas in 1860. He attended a Douglas rally in Chicago in early October
of that year. L.P.C.B. No. 35, p. 306, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Sept.
26, 1860; No. 41, p. 414, W. S. McCormick to A. Steele, New Orleans,
May 6, 1861. In the issue of “Daily Chicago Times” for Dec. 8, 1860, its
editor afirmed: “It will stand to the Union as long as a shred holds it
together, and struggle earnestly to reconstruct it if it falls asunder.” On
this same day, Chas. H. Lanphier, an influential Douglasite and editor at
Springfield, warned his chief that the “Daily Chicago Times” was still as
much pro-Buchanan as pro-Douglas. “Has not McCormick’s application,”
continued Lanphier, “for a renewal of his reaper patent got something to
do with the ‘Times’ seeming go-between course? Such renewal would amply
pay him for fifty or seventy-five thousand sunk in a daily newspaper.”
This letter is one of the Douglas MSS. at the University of Chicago. A
“Chicago Daily Tribune” editorial on Oct. 27, 1860, charged McCormick
with planning to supplant Douglas in the U. S. Senate.

28 C. H. McCormick to S. Douglas, Dec. 28, 1860: “We aim to leave the
subject open . . . for your final decision as to what is best.” Thereafter,
Douglas worked in the U. S. Senate to have McCormick’s patent of 1847
extended.

8? L.P.CB. No. 38, p. 144, C. H. McCormick to P, H, Watson, Jan. 8,
1861.
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to hold the southern states under the flag. The necessity of
facing this issue became more apparent with every passing
day, since Republican spokesmen, voicing the will of Lincoln
at Springfield, showed their determination to stand firm upon
their platform of 1860.

Although McCormick from the outset declared that a union
worthy of the name could not be preserved by the use of force,
he admitted as early as January 8, 1861, that counsels of peace,
in the event of the failure of compromise, would go unheeded,
and that the secession of the South would bring “all the hor-
rors of a civil war.” 3 Douglas, on the other hand, was pre-
pared to support a policy of coercion if the issue could not be
avoided.®? At a meeting called to order by the inventor in
North Market Hall, Chicago, in mid-January, to elect dele-
gates to a convention at Springfield, the “McCormick Party,”
as the “Tribune” called it, was in the majority, and resolved
that ““it would be unwise and impolitic to seek by war to com-
pel an unwilling Union.” 32

From this time until the close of the first week in April,
McCormick refused to abandon hope of a compromise.®® He

80 Tbid.,, No. 38, p. 144, C. H. McCormick to P. H. Watson, Jan. §,
1861. W. S. McCormick concisely stated the McCormick position in a
letter on Jan. 30, 1861, to T. H. Silvez of Newark, N. J. (Ibid., No. 39,
p. 557) : “We are with the Democratic party of the Northwest. First the
Union as it is, if possible by peace, compromise, but in any event peace, &
no war, even if that peace is only attainable by a separation. If a com-
promise is offered that will satisfy the Border States, I believe the Union
will be safe.”

31 “Comngressional Globe,” Jan. 9, 1861; “Chicago Daily Tribune,” May 2,
1861.

32L.P.C.B. No. 38, p. 336, W. S. McCormick to J. Henry, Jan. 15,
1861. “Chicago- Daily Tribune,” Jan 16, 23, 1861. This paper believed that
McCormick would fail to swing the Cook County Democracy away from
Douglas to support a policy of peace at any cost. “We think it safe to say,
that in undertaking to swallow the Democracy of Cook, McCormick over-
estimated his power of deglutition and underestimated the size of the pill.”

33L..P.C.B. No. 38, pp. 180, 304, 422, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry,
Jan. 9, 18, 20, 1861: “We think the black Republicans will yield tho
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remarked with satisfaction that those Republicans who ad-
vocated no concessions faced a mutiny within their own ranks,
and that Seward, who spoke more softly now that the crisis
had come, seemed destined to guide the policy of the Lincoln
administration. McCormick believed that secession was both
unconstitutional and the worst of folly, and that the will of
the people, if ascertained through the medium of a convention
called in both North and South, would be for peace and union.
In his view, the nation had been brought to its sorry pass by a
few designing politicians of both North and South who were
ready to sacrifice their country to advance their own selfish
ends. Many agreed with him, and the Peace Democrats of the
North throughout the war reaffirmed on many occasions their
opinion that the conflict could be ended and the Union restored,
if a convention “fresh from the people” were called. Nor did
McCormick during the rest of his life change his opinion that
the war might have been avoided by the same method.
McCormick’s peace-at-any-cost position brought down upon
his head the fury of the “Chicago Tribune.” He was de-
nounced as a “rebel” and a “slave-driver.” 3* For a few days

they curse us. Many Republicans here yesterday (17th) signed our peti-
tion for the Crittenden Compromise.” Ibid., p. 714, W. S. McCormick to
J. Churchman, Feb. 6, 1861: “Just now we feel encouraged at the appar-
ent prospect of returning reason on the part of our Politicians. . . . Our
ranting Republicans here are being sorely exercised at the present position
of Seward, Cameron, Kellogg (of Ills.) and others of their leaders. . . .
We rejoice that conservative Republicans are fast coming to our position
against coercion & for compromise.” Ibid., No. 39, p- 500, J. T. Griffin to
J. T. Higgins, Mch. 11, 1861: “We trust that our political troubles are
drawing to an end.” Ibid., No. 40, p. 317, Wm. S. to J. B. McCormick,
Mch. 28, 1861: “The pulse of the ‘Blood and Thunder’ Republicans of this
latitude is coming dowm.” Ibid., No. 40, p. 731, J. T. Grifin to J. B. McCor-
mick, Apr. 11, 1861: “News from the South looks warlike, and we now
look daily for the conflict.”

8¢ “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Feb. 12, 1861. L.P.C.B. No. 39, p. 161,
W. S. McCormick to A. B. Tanqueray, Lexington, Va., Feb. 23, 1861.
W. S. McCormick sent him a copy of the “Tribune” to show “a sample
of the Devils we have to oppose here.” Ibid., No. 39, p. 205, J. T. Griffin
to E. Healy, Feb. 25, 186I.
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in mid-February, 1861, he considered the advisability of suing
this newspaper for libel, but his own editors reminded him
that the “Times” was equally unsparing in its attacks upon
abolitionists.?® Since McCormick was at this time in Washing-
ton on patent business, his brothers rushed to his defense in
a public letter, comparing the value of the services rendered by
the “Tribune” with those of the reaper factory to the city and
the entire Northwest, and pointing out that because of the
national scope of his business, among other reasons, the in-
ventor was the most ardent of unionists. “Cyrus H. Mec-
Cormick is interested in saving a Union,” they wrote, “not in
saving a party. Is it not possible that the ‘Chicago Tribune’
might lose more by the breaking of its party than the break-
ing of the government?” With this shrewd question, the letter
closed.3®

But Washington’s Birthday parades by Conservatives in
Chicago,®” peace-convention deliberations and the maneuvers
of Seward at Washington served rather to increase the tension
than to furnish the solution which McCormick so eagerly
sought. The enthusiastic outburst in the North which greeted
the news of the Fort Sumter bombardment made it imperative
for him publicly to declare his position in the conflict. Those
who work for peace on the eve of war become suspect as soon
as the first gun is fired. Rumors were abroad that McCormick
was disloyal, and there was danger that the office of the

85 Mary Ann McCormick to Nettie F. McCormick, Feb. 17(?), 1861.

361, P.C.B. No. 39, pp. 84-93, Joint letter of W. S. and L. J. McCormick,
Feb. 19(?), 1861: “A more Demon like production [than the “Tribune”
article of Feb. 12] could not be hatched this side the infernal regions.”
Ibid., No. 39, p. 343, W. S. McCormick to Jas. Henry, Mch. 2, 1861:
“We have helped to build this city by hundreds of thousands & these
Editors though strong politically are without body or soul substantially.
. . . We are not secessionists by a good deal but we are for the South hav-
ing her rights.”

37 Ibid., No. 39, p. 165, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, Feb. 23, 1861:
“I regretted much I did not think of having a fine reaper in the procession
behind four elegant horses & followed by our 300 men from the office &
Factory.”
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“Chicago Times” would be demolished by a “patriotic” mob.38
Under these circumstances, in late April, 1861, an editorial
over his signature appeared in that journal. It read in part:

I have deemed it a duty which I owe alike to myself and to the
public, to make known as the proprietor of the paper, my views
on the present war, in such explicit terms as to put all doubts
forever at rest.

It is not necessary for me to enter into any explanation of my
past course. It is known to all, that to the extent of my humble
ability, my utmost efforts were directed to the maintenance of
peace, believing, as I did, that the best interests of the country
would be thereby promoted. For having occupied that position in
the past, I have no regrets to express or apologies to offer. . . .

Born and reared in the South, I would disgrace my manhood
did I not say that my heart sickens at the prospect of the conflict
which must ensue. Yet while I regard the war as a great calamity,
I am fully aware that there are greater calamities even than war,
and the loss of National honor is one of them. Though a native
of the South, I am a citizen of Illinois, and of the United States,
and as such shall bear true allegiance to the Government. That
allegiance I shall never violate or disregard. I am and ever shall be
on the side of my country in war—without considering whether
my country is right or wrong.

Although this article left those who read it in no doubt of
the side McCormick would support, it did not commit him
to cease striving for peace. Probably, however, its references
to “loss of national honor” and “my country . . . right or
wrong”’ reflect the emotion aroused by the guns of Sumter and
not its author’s considered opinion.®® At this time Dr. Lord sub-

381 P.C.B. No. 38, p. 714, W. S. McCormick to J. Churchman, Feb.
6, 1861. W. S. to J. B. McCormick, May 7, 1861. L.P.C.B. No. 41, p. 804,
W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, May 21, 1861: “Most deeply have we been
interested in maintaining the Union in peace and to that end did we struggle
as long as we dare do so & almost beyond the point of safety.”

39 Ibid., No. 40, p. 862, J. T. Griffin to P. H. Watson, Apr. 16, 1861:
“War War War! is now the only topic of conversation. Qur people are all
for the Stars and Stripes and for the Union and the ‘Administration.’
There is as you say no party now . . . the people of the North West are as
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mitted an editorial entitled “The Crisis” to the “Presbyterian
Expositor,” in which he called the southerners “traitors” and
the rebellion ‘‘an outrageous conspiracy.” The closing sentence
ran as follows: “At whatever cost, it must be crushed. This
is demanded by truth and righteousness,—by Liberty and Re-
ligion.” 4% This represented a length to which McCormick
would not go, and Dr. Lord’s fulmination was never pub-
lished.

The commencement of hostilities signified that the “Daily
Chicago Times” had failed in its purpose. There was little
prospect that the embattled nation would be in a mood to
listen to counsels of peace in the near future. So far as Mc-
Cormick was concerned, the paper’s reason for being no longer
existed, and he was eager to get clear of an enterprise that
had returned him little except expense and criticism.** As early
as April 2, 1861, a notice appeared to the effect that he had
transferred to his brother-in-law, Elbridge M. Fowler, “all my
right and interest in, and all accounts due the ‘Chicago Times’
to the present date.” ** This was misleading, since the inventor

one in defense of the national government.” Ibid.,, No. 41, p. 50, W. S.
McCormick to W. T. Rush, Steele’s Tavern, Va., Apr. 18, 1861. He rejoiced
that Va’'s. ordinance of secession had failed of adoption. “I am as much
opposed to ‘Abolitionism’ as anybody but let us not have the Union broken
up yet. If secession be persisted in I believe we shall gll be disgraced in
the eyes of the world and all ruined.” Ibid.,, No. 41, p. 54. On Apr. 18, he
also wrote James Henry of Steele’s Tavern: “I hope even yet that ‘nobody
may be hurt.””

40 MS, article by Dr. Lord, nd., but probably written in late April,
1861, and certainly after the Baltimore Riot of the 19th.

41 ¢#C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 27, 1866. McCormick’s
loss from the “Herald” and “Times” is here shown as $28,357.35.

«2fE. M. Fowler to C. H. McCormick, May 20, 1861: “I have reduced
the liabilities [of the “Times”] from $1500 to $18.00 since the first of the
month,—in most part by using second class currency from the Factory. The
amount due to this [the “Times”] office is fully as much as when you left,
—for the past week I have not dared to collect anything, as our currency
is in such bad shape that it was not safe to take it, and a large share is
today worth only 50 or 60 cents on the dollar.” #C. C. Copeland to C. H.
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continued to be the proprietor of the journal for two months
thereafter.*?

By mid-May, however, he was negotiating with Wilbur F.
Storey of the “Detroit Free Press” for the purchase of the
“Times.” #* On June 1, the bill of sale was drawn and signed.
Storey sold his Detroit paper to Alosh H. Walker of Ann
Arbor, Michigan, but retained a mortgage on the plant until
the new owner could pay the full sum due. Storey assigned
this lien to McCormick as security that he would carry out
his agreement in regard to the “Chicago Times.”” The sum that
McCormick eventually received from Storey for this journal
is not known, but it seems to have been about $13,000.4> On
June 8, 1861, the paper began its hectic but prosperous career
under Storey’s able editorship. Within less than a year its
opposition to the war made it notorious, and in early June,
1863, it was suppressed for a few days by General Burnside’s
order.*® Many people still associatéd it with the inventor and

McCormick, Apr. 8, 1864: “I've long ago realized all that can be had
from the old Times claims except $150 due from the Democratic German
Paper here. It is prosperous and will soon pay up.”

48 Mary Ann McCormick to Nettie F. McCormick, Feb. 17th (?), 1861.

#4fTelegram of W. F. Storey to C. H. McCormick, May 20, 1861.
#E. M. Fowler to C. H. McCormick, May 20, 1861. C. H. McCormick was
in Washington during most of May, 1861, after the 6th. L.P.C.B. No. 41,
pp- 429, 609, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, May 7, 14, 1861.

45 Indenture of June 1, 1861, between A. H. Walker and W. F. Storey.
Agreement of June 1, 1861, between C. H. McCormick and W. F. Storey.
S. T. Douglass to C. H. McCormick, June 5, 1861, and May 27, 1862.
S. T. Douglass to E. M. Fowler, July 15, 1861. In a letter dated July 17,
1872, to D. Cameron, C. H. McCormick wrote: “You know I lost fully
$20,000 by my experiment in political papers!” Judge Murray F. Tuley in
a MS. giving his impression of his friend C. H. McCormick, stated that
after the inventor sold the “Times,” he “sunk” twelve or fifteen thousand
dollars in the “Post,” the paper of the Chicago War Democrats edited
by J. .W. Sheahan. I have found no contemporary evidence supporting this
reminiscence.

48 D. B. Sanger, “The Chicago Times and the Civil War,” in the “Mis-
sissippi Valley Historical Review,” Vol. XVII, No. 4 (Mch. 1031), ppD.
557-580. “Chicago Daily Tribune,” June 3, 4, 1863. Mary Ann McCor-
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almost to the close of the war the “Chicago Tribune,” for
political purposes of its own, called it “Mr. McCormick’s
paper.” *7 Thus the erroneous belief was fostered that Mec-
Cormick was still its owner and sponsored the views advanced
by Storey in his editorials.

Whether Cyrus McCormick was, or was not, a Copperhead
during the Civil War depends entirely upon the inclusiveness
given to that opprobrious term. Those persons who advocated
war without stint and no peace until the South was completely
subjugated, were prone to label as Copperheads all who were
not equally belligerent. By 1863-too vigorous opposition to
Lincoln’s Emancipation Proclamation might lead an annoyed
Abolitionist to place the recalcitrant in the same category. All
would agree that advocates of immediate peace on the basis
of an independent Confederacy deserved the title, but what
of those who believed that the war should stop because it
blocked, rather than promoted, a restoration of the Union?
Let an armistice be arranged, or, if needs be, negotiations at-
tempted without a cessation of hostilities in order to ascertain
whether the South would come back with a guarantee that
slavery should not be disturbed. If the Confederacy rejected
this proposal, then let the conflict continue to the bitter end,
not however to compel emancipation, but to achieve the highest
of all ends, the preservation of an united nation. If advocates
of this view were Copperheads, then McCormick was one of
them. In his opinion, Stephen Douglas, if he had lived, would
mick to Nettie F. McCormick, Jan. 1, 1863: “Yesterday there was a move
on the Board of Trade to expel from it the commercial reporter of the
Times, & the Journal in the afternoon wrote a dirty article about it & the
Times replies this morning. . . . The Times is very bold I tell you. ...
It is said the Tribune will be torn down if the Times reporter is not again
admitted etc. I somehow dread the morrow lest something evil crosses
our path.”

47 “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Nov. 7, 1864. According to an editorial in

this paper on Oct. 30, 1862, the “lodge room” of the “treasonable” Knights
of the Golden Circle was in the McCormick Block.



56 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

have been found in the same camp because his sanction of
coercion was to prevent secession and not to deprive men of
their property by force and without compensation. The in-
ventor was a pall-bearer at his funeral.

As early as the summer of 1861, William S. McCormick,
who was usually more pessimistic and always less vocal than
his elder brother on political questions arising from the war,
thought that it was time to inquire whether the conflict was
being waged for motives of patriotism or to advance the for-
tunes of Republicans and Abolitionists. “I love the Union of
these States as much as any man that lives,”” he added, “but.
. . . can we save this Union by blood?” *® Cyrus McCormick
was soon asking himself the same question, and in a letter
written to the “Daily Chicago Times” in the spring of 1864,
he suggested that his departure for England almost two years
before was prompted in a measure by his realization that “the
Negro policy of the wltra half of the Cabinet at Washington
[seemed] likely to prevail.” #? The chief purpose of his two
years’ residence abroad was to promote the sale of his reapers,
but when he left the United States he carried with him a
letter of introduction from Horace Greeley to William L.
Dayton, the United States Ambassador to France. The word-
ing of this brief note suggests that McCormick hoped that
Napoleon III could be induced to intervene in behalf of peace.?®

«L.P.C.B. No. 44, p. 760, W. S. McCormick to M. Forney, Balto.,
Md., Aug. o, 1861.

4 W. A. Richardson, M. C, to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 11, 1862: “I
fear the Abolitionists have us hook line bob and sinker in this Congress. We
shall give them a hard fight however.”

50H. Greeley to W. L. Dayton, July 14, 1862: “Reared in Virginia, a
resident of Illinois, he aims to be a ‘Peace’ man in our civil contest, and
may give you some ideas of this slave evil from his peculiar stand-point.
His visit to Europe is mainly one of business, but he will proceed to Paris
with other views; and I commend him to your kind consideration as a citi-
zen of lofty character and eminent usefulness.”” In L.P.C.B. No. 47, Opp. p.
355, is the notation: “The leaves torn out here contained a letter written
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He was surprised to remark during his stay in Europe that
there was a general opinion, in sharp contrast to what he had
heard there in 1851 and 1855, that democratic governments
were everywhere doomed to failure.®?

McCormick remained overseas until the early summer of
1864, “plodding along in the pursuit of business . . . but
watching with the deepest concern the progress of events at
home.” 52 William S. McCormick and Charles C. Copeland
kept him in touch with events in Chicago. The temper of that
city, as well as the skilful handling of his business interests
by his brother, left him small inducement to hasten his re-
turn.’® He believed that the Emancipation Proclamation was
issued by Lincoln in order to permit the enlistment of negroes,
and that by thus making the confiscation of private property
one of the chief objectives of the war, the preservation of the
Union by force of arms became an even more chimerical hope
than before. In his view, the Proclamation would drive the
Confederacy to fight with desperation, and the North might
well be assured that its foe was confident of success as long
as it found it unnecessary to free and arm the slaves. If that
day should come, England and France, in exchange for the
emancipation of the negroes, would intervene in the war and
recognize the independence of the Confederacy. Logically, ac-
cording to McCormick, Lincoln should have recognized the
sovereignty of the Richmond government on the day that his

by Mr. C. H. McC. to J. E. Thompson, & torn out by C. H.s order
April 15th, 1862.” Thompson, an ex-member of Buchanan’s cabinet, was
associated with the Canadian activities of the Confederacy. This is the only
evidence which indicates that McCormick destroyed any of his Civil War
correspondence. The scarcity of manuscript material dealing with his polit-
ical course during the conflict is noticeable, but may be accounted for by
the fact of his two years’ residence in England.

51 #C. H. McCormick to the Ed., “Chicago Times,” Apr. 11, 1864.

52 C, H. McCormick to the Ed., “New York World,” June 20, 1864.

53 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 27, 1862; #C. C. Copeland to C.
H. McCormick, Apr. 8, 1864.
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Emancipation Proclamation was issued, for by that stroke he
made northern victory impossible.

Nevertheless, McCormick was confident that the South
would prefer reunion with slavery to independence without it,
and on this basis he believed that the Confederacy would be
willing to make peace. So why should the war continue until
both sides were ruined and utterly exhausted, and more white
men sacrificed than the number of negroes then held in bond-
age? Many northern Democrats agreed with McCormick’s
ideas or had others quite similar to them. He would not admit
that the South was weakening; he failed to realize the signifi-
cance of the northern victories during the last five months of
1864, and with a strange persistence he held to his opinion
until the eve of Appomattox.

In April, 1864, while still in London, he was unable longer
to remain silent, and expressed his views at length in a letter
to W. F. Storey. He felt “that it becomes every one who has
interests to be protected, or a patriotic pulse beating for the
welfare of his country, to apply his shoulder to the wheel . . .
to say what he thinks, and do what he can.” He was now
determined to come home for the purpose of winning the
Democratic Party in the approaching presidential election to a
support of his policy. “Stop the war,” he urged, “declare an
armistice—call a convention, and consider terms of peace. . . .
May the Democratic party then not falter at this stupendous
crisis! . . . Another Republican President elected and the
country—the Uwion is lost. The Democratic Party only can—
and it can if it will—save it. Will it not to the rescue? The
ballot box is the only remedy.” 5* By thus charging that the
war was a failure and urging the call of a convention, he

5¢4C. H. McCormick to the Ed., “Chicago Times,” from London, Apr.
11, 1864. Apparently this letter was never published in the “Times,” but
it appeared in substantially the same form in the “New York World,”
July 10, 1864.
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anticipated by four months the platform to be adopted by the
Democratic Party at its national convention.5%

In September, 1864, he consented to be the Democratic can-
didate for Congress from the 1st district of Illinois.’® “Long
John” Wentworth was his opponent, and McCormick realized
that he had very small chance of success.’” The bitterness of
the campaign is well illustrated by the following paragraph
from the “Chicago Daily Tribune:” 58

The Democracy of Cook County could not have nominated an-
other man so well calculated to cement the loyalty of the people,
and excite every lover of the Union to unwonted exertions for his
defeat, as C. H. McCormick. Mr. McCormick has not an instinct
that is not in sympathy with the rebellion. Like all poor white trash
of Virginia, he left the State a better friend of slavery than the
slaveholders themselves, and the prejudices of his youth have built
upon a defective education, a perfect monomania in behalf of
man-stealing. His intrigues against Douglas and in favor of Breck-
inridge in 1860, will doubtless commend him to the mass of the
party hereabouts. He has been nominated avowedly for his money
. .. and we trust that he may be made to bleed as freely as his

55C. H. McCormick to Rev. L. Cumming, London, Mch. 23, 1864:
“What is yet to result from the war is only known to the Great Ruler
above but my opinion still is that the South will never be subjugated by
the North.” #C. H. McCormick to F. Ewing, from London, Apr. 1, 1864:
“The war has been conducted in a manner neither calculated to restore
the Union nor to protect the property interests of the country, but to lead
in the end to bankruptcy & ruin,—individual and national.”

56 “Daily Chicago Times,” Sept. 17, 1864.

57 “Prairie Farmer” (Chicago), Sept. 24, 1864. L.P.C.B. No. 75, p. 207,
W. S. McCormick to D. Zimmerman, Oct. 6, 1864. [bid., No. 76, p. 51,
C. A. Spring to J. T. Grifin, Nov. 9, 1864.

58 “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Sept. 18, 19, 21, 22, 23, Oct. 27, 28, 29, and
Nov. 7, 1864. On Oct. 25, 1864, in an article over two columns in length,
this paper told of the “General Explosion of McCormick’s Pretended Inven-
tions. His Piracies and his Fictitious Claims.” O. Hussey was the chief
hero of this article as he was also of the ones of Sept. 21 and 23. On
Oct. 25 the “Tribune” insinuated that McCormick had purchased Confed-
erate bonds while in Europe, although contributing not a penny to the
Union cause. On Oct. 27 and 28 it charged him with oppressing his factory
employees. .
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most greedy supporter can desire. But all the wealth which he has
extorted from the loyal farmers of the West will not elect him.
. . . Mr. McCormick will be beaten by a majority which will
stifle his political ambition for the rest of his natural life.

Libels of this kind doubtless helped to defeat McCormick,
but “Long John” was a very popular political veteran and the
outcome of the elections throughout the land was mainly de-
termined by the victories of Sherman in Georgia and Sheridan
in the Shenandoah Valley.?® McCormick conceded on Novem-
ber 12 that it was a “Waterloo defeat,” but he believed the
result had been due to “power and patronage” and the skill of
the Republicans in misleading the people to associate the
Democrats with disunion.®® He refused to admit that the elec-
tion returns signified a repudiation by the people of true Demo-
cratic principles. Although many of his colleagues were apa-
thetic and some talked of disbanding the party altogether, he
was never more active politically than between November,
1864, and March, 1865.5* “We (the Democrats) must pick

59 McCormick received nne vote to Wentworth’s three. The inventor
loaned $20,000 to the Illinois Democratic State Central Committee in this
election. James C. Robinson, the candidate of the Democratic Party for
Governor of Illinois, was sufficiently acceptable to Jacob Thompson, the
Confederate Agent in Canada, to secure from him a subsidy of $40,000. One
half of this was used to reimburse McCormick. The inventor was appar-
ently unaware of the source of this windfall. See, J. B. Castleman, “On
Active Service” (Louisville, Ky., 1917), pp. 144-148. F. G. Smyth, Madison,
Wis,, to Co., Nov. 7, 1868. In a suit brought by the McCormick Co. to
collect a debt from a farmer, the defendant’s lawyer told the jury that
C. H. McCormick had given Jefferson Davis $17,500 to carry on the war.
Perhaps the incident mentioned in Castleman’s book accounts for this story.
If the “Chicago Tribune” of Oct. 25, 1864, can be believed, C. H. McCor-
mick contributed at least $15,000 to the Democratic campaign fund in 1864.

60 Letter of C. H. McCormick, dated Nov. 12, 1864, in “New York
World,” Nov. 22, 1864, and in “Daily Chicago Times,” Nov. 16, 1864.
MS. article by C. H. McCormick, entitled “The Tribune is the War,” n.d.,
but written after the election in the autumn of 1864.

61 Letter of C. H. McCormick called “A New Way to Peace,” Nov. 12,
1864, addressed to the Editor of the “New York World,” and published in
that paper on Nov. 22,



CYRUS McCORMICK AND THE CIVIL WAR 61

3

our flints and try again,” counseled the inventor, ‘. . . while
the object for which we have labored is the restoration of the
Union . . . we must not become weary in well doing; but, on
the contrary, with our views of the situation, while sunk in
humility, we should rise in devotion and patriotic effort with
the greatness of the emergency.”

As has been noted earlier in this chapter, McCormick did
not realize that the Confederacy was on the verge of collapse,
and he believed that if the common people of both North
and South could be reached, they were as ready now as they
always had been to speak for an immediate peace with union
and slavery. The reé€lection of Lincoln had made the South
more determined than ever not to yield, and doubtless when
necessity arose, Jefferson Davis would free the three or four
million slaves and put them in the field. If so, the northern
cause would be hopeless. Therefore, argued McCormick, the
Democratic National Convention should reassemble, and with
Lincoln’s sanction, open negotiations with the South. Lincoln
had often said that he stood above party and was concerned
first of all about the welfare of the nation. Since the Con-
federacy refused to negotiate with him, let him demonstrate
his sincerity and patriotism by sanctioning an effort by the
Democratic Party representing the North, to draw the south-
erners into a peace conference. This is the “last chance” to
save the Union, warned McCormick, and the North must
realize that they have only the choice of an united country
with slavery or an independent Confederacy without slavery.

These suggestions were received with little favor even by
the Democrats.®? Storey felt that it would be ‘“an extraor-
dinary step” and “end in humiliating failure’” for a vanquished

62 C. H. McCormick to the Editors of the “New York World,” Dec. 7,
1864. “Chicago Tribune,” Nov. 17, 1864. This paper professed to believe
that McCormick was more concerned ahout preserving slavery than the
Union.
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. party to ask the victors to adopt its policy.® But that some-
thing must be done at once, McCormick strongly believed. He
now considered the possibility of purchasing the “National
Intelligencer” in order to use it to advance his views and
the cause of Democracy at Washington.®* He wrote President
Lincoln asking that he “with or without an accompanying
friend as your Excellency may determine, be permitted to go
to Richmond for the purpose of such conferences with Con-
federates as might be obtained, that might be useful.” ¢ He
drafted resolutions incorporating his ideas of the way to make
peace and hoped that they might be adopted by the Democrats
in Congress.®® All of these efforts were fruitless, but as late
as March, 1865, McCormick was still writing of his desire
to visit the Confederate Capital, and was taking counsel with
Horace Greeley upon the best plan to bring peace.®7

The news of the surrender of Lee must have come to Mc-
Cormick as a distinct surprise.®® It demonstrated that he had
overestimated the strength of the Confederacy. The Union had
been preserved and slavery was no more, although he had
repeatedly asserted that these objectives could not together
be achieved. He was glad that slavery was gone, but he ab-

68 W. F. Storey, Chicago, to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 17, 1864: “For the
present, in my judgment we have no alternative to watching and waiting.”

6¢#J. T. Coyle, Washington, to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 15, 1864.

65#C. H. McCormick to A. Lincoln, from Washington, Dec. 19, 1864:
“My former residence in the South, and acquaintance with the people there
might be rather favorable to the object than otherwise.”

86 M S. draft, in McCormick’s hand, of resolutions for introduction in the
38th. Congress.

87 H. Greeley to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 27, Feb. 14, and Apr. 26, 1865,
and to ¥Gen’l N. P. Banks, Mch. 24, 1865. W. S. to C. H. McCormick,
Mch. 9, 1865. In the Nettie Fowler McCormick Biog. Asso. Files is the
following receipt written by C. H. McCormick: “Rec’d Feb. 18th ’65 of
C. H. McCormick Fifty Dollars bal. in full for services in connection with
trip to Canada & expenses.” (Signed) Henry S. Nettleton. No other refer-
ence has been found to this mission.

68 Few letters of McCormick on any topic, and none bearing upon
politics, survive from the period March-July, 186s.
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horred the arbitrary method employed to abolish it. Concilia-
tion must now be the key-note of the policies adopted at
Washington and by his church toward the South, and he hoped
that “the noble administration” of President Johnson would
attain the success that its magnanimity merited.%®

Now that, in the Providence of God, we have passed the ter-
rible ordeal of a protracted civil war, unparallelled in destructive-
ness and all that makes war horrible, and are again without con-
troversy the United States, with yet a glorious future in prospect,
religiously as well as politically should wise counsels prevail, it
would afford me the greatest satisfaction if, by any humble means
in my power, I could contribute anything toward the consumma-
tion of that universal harmony between all parts of our country,
which is only necessary now soon to make it the most powerful and
influential of all countries of the World.™

With this spirit of optimism and desire for service, Mc-
Cormick turned to face the new problems of the Reconstruc-
tion Era.

69 C. H. McCormick to C. C. Baldwin, Aug. 14, 1866, R. H. Glass,
Lynchburg, Va.,, Aug. 9, 1866, and ¥Wm. Brown, Richmond, Va., Oct. 6,
1865. In the last of these he writes: “Reunion & Restoration seem now to
be the great conmservative [Democratic] principles of the day—led in good
faith I trust by President Johnson, and which I trust will be met by as
full a response as possible from the South in its broadest application, religi-
ously as well as politically & commercially. This I think right, and espe-
cially the interest of the South.”

70 C. H. McCormick to B. M. Smith, July 14, 1865.



CHAPTER III

THE REAPER IN YEARS OF DEPRESSION AND
CIVIL WAR

Y 1855 the manufacture of harvesting machinery, al-
though still on a small scale, had gained a firm foothold
among the industries of the nation. The focus of grain pro-
duction in the United States had crossed the Alleghenies and
was moving quite rapidly westward into the prairie belt. In
this area the central location of Chicago, with its unrivaled
transportation facilities both by land and lake, made it the
outlet for much of the crop of the Middle West and a natural
distributing point for reapers and mowers. Here, in the heart
of the city, on North Water Street, hard by the mouth of the
Chicago River, was the factory of Cyrus McCormick, em-
ploying about two hundred men and boys, and manufacturing
some twenty-five hundred machines a year.

He no longer enjoyed a virtual monopoly of sales in the
grain-fields of the West. His success during the preceding
decade, and the lapse of his original patent, had drawn rival
firms into the field, both in his own neighborhood and in the
states east of the Appalachians. Machine production was al-
ready showing a tendency to concentrate in the Genesee Valley,
central Ohio, and northern Illinois.

The new industry depended for its prosperity in large de-
gree upon conditions fostered by its own output. Its advance-
ment was obviously a result of the well-being of the farmer
and the increase of small-grain culture in the United States.
That these arose in some measure from the use of reapers and

64
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mowers had ever been a chief talking-point of Cyrus Mc-
Cormick, and the testimony of many witnesses could be cited
in his support.

After 1845, large numbers of immigrants from northern
Europe, together with settlers who were native born, pushed
the frontier west and north into lowa, Kansas, Wisconsin
and Minnesota. Wherever they went, soil and climate invited
the cultivation of wheat. Railroads, reapers, and an enlarging
domestic market kept pace with their advance. Currency in-
flation attending the influx of gold from California, and a
heightened demand for American grain in Europe during the
Crimean War, gradually raised the price of wheat to $1.75 a
bushel in Chicago by May, 1855. Not a few landowners, espe-
cially in Illinois, used their credit to extend their holdings in
order to raise more grain. It was too early, however, for farm-
ers and manufacturers of harvesting machinery to talk of a
permanent prosperity.

Beginning in that year and continuing for the next decade,
the number of foreigners seeking homes in the United States
sharply declined. The war in Europe was soon over and the
export market collapsed. Wheat was selling for eighty cents a
bushel by the late autumn of 1856, and one year later fell off
another twenty cents. On the few occasions between 1856
and 1862 when it commanded above $1.25 a bushel in Chicago,
a corner on grain was largely responsible and the farmer de-
rived but little benefit.* At all times he received a much smaller
sum for his crop at the wharf or railhead than the price per
bushel quoted in the newspapers of the city.?

1 James E. Boyle, “Chicago Wheat Prices for Eighty-One Years, 1841-
1921” (Ithaca, N. Y., 1022).

2 Q. Klug, Davenport, Ia., to Co., Dec. 10, 1857: Barley is 25-40¢ a bu.
here and 45 to 50¢ in Chicago. C. B. Griffin, Newark, O., to Co., June 13,
1858: Wheat is bought for 45¢ a bushel. M. M. McNair, Brodhead, Wis.,
to Co., Feb. 19, and Apr. 29, 1858: Farmers purchased machines when
wheat was at $1.50 a bu. and now it is 45¢. The big farmers are the most
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If, due to a drop in the market-price or other causes, the
real value of the cash received by a farmer from the sale
of his wheat was too small to yield him a reasonable margin
of profit, he could apply one or more of several remedies. He
might endeavor to increase his yield per acre by the use of
fertilizers or a crop-rotation system. Most probably, however,
in the Middle West he would seed more wheat on more land
so that the net profit from a large crop would equal the income
gained from his smaller output in the day of better prices.?
To garner his increased harvest and to reduce his labor costs
demanded the use of a reaper. Perhaps he preferred to turn
from the small grains to hay and stock. In the diversified
farming belt of the Middle West this was quite possible, and
was often advisable both to relieve exhausted land of its one
crop burden and to take advantage of a more favorable market
for those commodities when compared with wheat and rye. In
this case, he would need a mower, and the manufacturer of
harvesting machinery again benefited as well as the farmer.
Low prices for grain, therefore, did not necessarily mean that
reaper and mower companies would suffer, unless the general
level of prices for all the staple agricultural products was so
depressed that the ordinary farmer could not make ends meet
even by using machinery. Otherwise, in hard times, a manu-
facturer’s insistence that reapers and mowers were a farmer’s
only salvation, carried a wide appeal. The implements were of
peculiar efficacy both in fair weather and foul.

This being true, it is not surprising that McCormick’s sales

in debt for they have been adding farm to farm or building largely. I never
saw such blue times in Wisconsin. J. Brumaugh, Mt. Pleasant, Ia., to Co.,
May 31, 1858: Wheat sells here @ 35¢; corn @ 15-20¢; and potatoes
@ 20¢ per bushel.

3L.P.C.B. No. 10, p. 532, Co. to T. Carter, Bloomington, Ind,, Feb. 2,
1858. Following a general failure of winter wheat in the prairie belt between
1847 and 1853, many farmers in Ia., Wis., and northern Ill. turned to the
cultivation of spring wheat. Ranked in order, Ill, Ind, Wis.,, and Ohio
were the leading wheat states in the Union in 1860.
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jumped from twenty-five hundred in 1855 to over four thou-
sand in the next season, and did not drop below that figure
during the depression on the eve of the Civil War. He was
unable to supply the demand. Other builders showed as large
or a greater increase, and most of the 125,000 or more reapers
and mowers in use by 1861 had been purchased during the
preceding five years. Evidently low prices and the short har-
vests of 1858 and 1859 do not explain why some builders of
harvesting machinery were driven into bankruptcy, or why
others, more fortunate, believed they were weathering the
“hardest years” they had even known.*

Currency troubles were chronic in the Middle West. Ohio
Valley farmers had regarded the second National Bank of the
United States as a ‘“monster,” but since its downfall in the
day of President Jackson, “fly-by-night”* bankers, “free” and
state banks had brought troubles of another kind. State bank-
ing laws were lax and the worth of the note issues of many
of these institutions was most uncertain. Manufacturers of
harvesting machinery first began to complain of the handicap
of poor currency about 1854. Agents were furnished with
bank-note detectors and were ordered to receive no money
from purchasers of reapers which could not be exchanged for
a sight draft on New York or Philadelphia for less than a
five per cent discount.® This was often impossible to procure.
The small amounts of specie and sound bank-notes in the rural
districts were hoarded or quickly returned to the cities to
meet the adverse balance of trade. Money scarcity was a com-
mon complaint throughout the Middle West by 1856.¢

4 Ibid., No. 17, p. 679, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 21, 1859. Ibid.,
No. 21, p. 73, Co. to G. Hagerman & Co., May 4, 1859. Ibid., No. 29, p.
765, Co. to A. G. Foster, Ottawa Creek, K. Terr., Feb. 3, 1860.

5 Ibid., No. 9, p. 57, Co. to J. B. Erb, Durlach, Pa., Oct. 3, 1857. No.
10, p. 547, to G. M. Gault, Annapolis, O., Apr. 3, 1858. No. 38, p. 387,
to W. H. Page, Reed’s Mills, O., Jan. 18, 186I.

8 Short crops in the East in 1854 and 1855 caused money scarcity there.
Farming areas in the Middle West often had no specie except the little
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The severe cold of the open winter of 1856-1857 killed
much wheat. Spring and harvest came about a month late.
Although the crop in central Illinois and in the eastern states
was very short, the general yield throughout the land was of
average size and Cyrus McCormick sold his entire stock of
machines without difficulty. Following the harvest, the price
of wheat fell over fifty per cent in five months and the farmers
withheld their grain from market. Because corn and pork were
also selling at a low figure, reaper agents reported that their
clients could not pay their notes when they fell due on Decem-
ber 1. The financial panic which swept through the North
and West that autumn added to the distress. Produce men and
country merchants had no money to offer for grain and were
refused credit by the city correspondents from whom they
had customarily purchased their stock in trade.” Banks
throughout the country suspended specie payments or went to
the wall. Municipalities and individual business men in the
Mississippi Valley added to the welter of depreciated or worth-
less currency by issuing scrip of doubtful value. Iowa and
Minnesota were particularly hard hit. Gold was at a twelve per
cent premium in Davenport by December, 1857, and St. Paul
business men were obliged to send food and clothing to desti-
tute farmers in their neighborhood.8

brought in by immigrants. See, L.P.C.B. No. 43, p. 276, W. S. to C. H.
McCormick, June 26, 1861: “We occasionally now get from a dutchman
$130 in gold for a reaper.” Bankruptcies in the Middle West made it impos-
sible to borrow on western paper in the eastern money markets. “The West
at present has a bad name,” wrote J. Campbell, Westons, N. J, to W. S.
McCormick, on Sept. 6, 1858. See also his letters to W. S. McCormick of
Oct. 7, 11, and Nov. g, 1858.

7 Letters to the Co. of D. Zimmerman, Oquawka, Ill., Jan. 3, 1858, J.
Campbell, Balto., Nov. 15, 1857, and J. B. Erb, Durlach, Pa., Jan. 16, 1858.

8 Letters to the Co. of O. Klug, Davenport, Ia., Dec. 9, 1857; D. Zimmer-
man, Rock Island, Ill, Jan. 29, 18z8; L. Westergaard, Winona, Minn,
Terr.,, May 24, 1858; Constans & Stevenson, St. Paul, Minn, Mch. 16,
1858; and T. Chapman, Spring Valley, Minn. Terr., May 26, and Dec. 24,
1857: My father-in-law has about rooo bushels of oats and wheat, and 30
acres of corn, and can't sell enough to pay his taxes.
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The following winter was mild, but an exceptionally wet
spring made the roads so muddy that farmers could not get
their grain to miller or commission merchant, and agents were
delayed in their canvass for money and orders.® As late as
mid-June some sections reported that not one half of their
corn had been planted.'® The hot, soggy summer brought rust
in the wheat. Central and northern Illinois was once again a
principal sufferer. Discouraged, debt-laden farmers listened to
Lincoln debate with Douglas in August and September, after
harvesting their meager crops. Probably the hope of relief
from “the curse of the Almighty” sent many into the ranks of
the Republican Party between 1856 and 1860.* Conditions
were not much better anywhere in the Northwest, except in
southern Illinois where McCormick’s representatives noted that
men were more conservative, refused to buy unless they could
pay cash, and had not rashly extended their holdings earlier in
the decade.*®

Although bad weather and pests caused crop failures in some
localities in the Northwest during these years, the prairie

9 Ward & Waller, Portsmouth, O., to the Co., Feb. 6, 1858. L.P.C.B. No.
12, p. 237, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, June 7, 1858: “Some one who
kept count says it rained 35 days last month.”

10 W. B. Silver, Sugar Valley, O., and C. Wright, Vallonia, Ind, to the
Co., June 5, 1858. L.P.C.B,, No. 12, p. 327, W. S. McCormick to A. D.
Hager, June 11, 1858.

11 ] etters to the Co. of H. S. Champlin, Courtland, Ill., July 12, 1858;
I. Kirkpatrick, Freeland, Ill., Oct. 19, 1858; and W. C. Leyburn, Gales-
burg, Ill, Apr. 6, May 15, 27, June 7, 17 and July 3, 1858. Frost injured
southern grain in 1860, and the spring of that year in the Middle West
was very dry. But the McCormicks, although they sold over 4000 ma-
chines, needed 500 or a 1000 more to fill the demand. See L.P.C.B. No. 31,
p. 786, W. S. McCormick to J. Henry, May 9, 1860, and No. 34, passim.

12 Jbid., No. 22, p. 439, the Co. to F. W. Smith, Woodstock, IlL, June
8, 1850: “In these northern counties [of Illinois] the risk is fifty per cent
greater in selling any machinery to the general run of customers than it is
in the South half of the State” T. J. Walker & Co., Belleville, Ill., to the
Co., Feb. 8, 1858. Southern Illinois farmers were more hesitant than others
in putting aside hand-rake reapers for self-rakes. See L.P.C.B. No. 78,
p. 616, the Co. to N. W. Jones, Griggsville, Ill, May 9, 1865.
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farmer’s inability to shake off his load of debt because of low
prices and worthless currency was the chief reason why he
complained that times had never been so hard since 1837.*® He
was obliged to crave the indulgence of his creditors and take
refuge behind the stay laws of his state. Taxes went unpaid.
Many acres seized for their nonpayment in Tama County,
Iowa, in the summer of 1858 were offered for sale, but not a
one-hundredth part of them was bid in because money was so
scarce.’* Except for its unusually faulty spelling, the follow-
ing letter to the company is characteristic of many others:

Sir I ’hant got your mony for your Reeper and it is out of my
power to git it on a Count of the storm of hale that wee had a
bout a month agoe it destroyed every bit of my Corn and the biger
part of my wheat I hev a nof wheat to bread and seed mee and for
Corn I heav too by to keep my stock over tel spring I have $150
dollars doo mee which i ’alowed for to paid you out of but the
man is in the same fix that i em my self and Cant gitit. Mr. C. h.
McCormick ser if you plees i want you to let this fifty dollars run
over tel nex september i shud not hev asked you to a waited if
the storm hedent destroyed every thing that ihed.»s

These same graingrowers wished to buy reapers and mow-
ers in order to save their crops. Very few resembled those
described by an agent in Virginia who found that penniless
farmers refused to take his handbills for fear lest they might
be tempted to buy.'® To sell was the easiest duty required
of the agent. To avoid selling to an insolvent farmer required
more care, and to collect after a sale was the most difficult
task of all. McCormick was better prepared to extend credit

13 D. R. Burt, Dunleith, IIl, to the Co., Oct. 13, 1857.

14 J. Ramsdell, Eureka, Ia., to the Co., July 10, 1858: I can’t raise
$50 to pay you although I have broken 100 acres of my fine farm and
have good stock. I have my last year’s wheat but can’t sell it. I only owe
$14 besides what is due you. L. Westergaard, Decatur, Wis., to the Co.,
Jan. 18, 1858.

15 G. Preston, Mazon, Ill, to the Co., Sept. 1, 1838.
16 T. Berry, Cline’s Mills, Va.,, to W. S. McCormick, Mch. 23, 1858.
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than were most of his competitors. For several years during
this period his income from sales was scarcely equal to the
cost of the materials needed for his next season’s supply of
machines. His agents often had so little cash in their possession
that he was obliged to advance them money to pay the freight
on their consignments until they could collect from the pur-
chasers.!” By the close of 1860 the farmers of the Northwest,
and particularly those of Illinois, owed the firm over a million
dollars.!® Other manufacturers were in a similar plight, and
those who could not ride out the depression on borrowed
capital were forced to suspend business. The elimination of
some of his rivals by bankruptcy was one consoling aspect of
the hard times.!® The solid credit of Cyrus McCormick was
his chief business asset between 1857 and 1861.

Faith in the farmers of the Northwest led McCormick to
continue selling them machines even when they were unable
to pay.?® Being a business man, however, he buttressed his
faith with certain safe-guards. He agreed with his brother that
the note of a good farmer was worth more than an unsold
reaper or depreciated currency, but he insisted that his agents
should not sell to any one to whom they would refuse to loan

17 L P.C.B. No. 29, p. 719, W. S. McCormick to N. W. Jones, Griggsville,
II1., Feb. 4, 1860: It is “the fact that we have not collected on last year’s
sales money enough to pay the manufacturer’s cost on ome fourth of the
sales of the year.” Ibid., No. 31, p. 316, the Co. to W. A. Polk, Oak Sta-
tion, Ind., Apr. 24, 1860: “Collections for the past winter & thus far this
Spring have been very poor, more especially North & West of Chicago.”

18 Business Statement, dated Nov. 23, 1860, in Ibid., No. 36, p. 857.
Between Aug. I, 1856 and this date, $1,470,041.38 had been collected and
$1,162,610.00 were still outstanding in farmers’ notes. Kansas farmers suf-
fered severely from drought in 1860 and C. H. McCormick joined with
other Chicago citizens to send aid. “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Dec. 18,
1860.

12 L P.C.B. No. 10, p. 50, the Co. to D. W. Stier, Steubenville, O., Dec.
24, 1857. Ibid., No. 18, pp. 92-03, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 1,
1850.

2'? Ibid., No. 10, p. 360, W. McCormick to D. Williams, Jan. 20, 1858.
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their own money.?* To drive this lesson home, they were
obliged to wait for the greater part of their commission on
each sale until the purchaser had paid for his machine. They
should beware of a homesteader who had not yet acquired a
title to his holding, and of a renter unless he could secure the
endorsement of a substantial landowner on his reaper note.
These rules were sometimes relaxed for the benefit of German
and Norwegian settlers. They had a higher reputation for
honesty and thrift than the native born, who sometimes for-
got to pay their debts before they moved to a new steading
or joined in the gold rush to Colorado.2?

The clerks in the factory office believed that farmers relied
upon Cyrus McCormick’s indulgence not to sue.2? Because of
his distance from the delinquent debtor and the necessity of
depending for collections upon an agent who might well be the
friend of the purchaser, he doubtless did not press for his
due as vigorously or successfully as did the country storekeep-
ers. He disliked to sue for debts during the spring selling sea-

2 Ibid., No. 10, p. 215, the Co. to Wm. Marshall & Son, Cordova, Ill.,
Jan. 11, 1858. Ibid., No. 37, pp. 129, 134, 137, the Co. to W. T. Scott,
Bainbridge, Ind.; to J. B. Fairbank & Sons, Lincoln, Ill.; and to G. C.
Hoyt, Franklin, O., Nov. 30, 1860.

22 M. M. McNair, Dunleith, Ill, to the Co., Jan. 27, 1858. L.P.C.B. No. 5,
D. 730, the Co. to O. Ashley, Fox Lake, Wis., Mch. 23, 1857; and No. 18,
p. 33, to T. J. Walker & Co., Belleville, Ill., Jan. 29, 1850: “I trust the
Pikes Peak fun will take away many persons that may as well be spared
from any community.” For a later manifestation of the same feeling see,
W. F. Carr, Freeport, Ill, to Co, Oct. 31, 1873: “Towa will soon be
blessed with all our scallawags—God forbid that I should ever have to live
in that State.” It is interesting to recall that Timothy Dwight sixty years
earlier was of the same opinion about those who were leaving Conn. for the
Old Northwest. See quotation from Dwight's “Travels,” in F. J. Turner,
“Rise of the New West” (N. Y. 1906), pp. 20-21, L.P.C.B. No. 17, p. 94,
W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 1, 1850.

28 M. Cummings, Winfield Scott Co., Ia, to W. Marshall & Sons, Cor-
dova, Ill, Jan. 3, 1858. J. B. Fairbank, Concord, Ill, to the Co., Jan. 22,
1858.8L8.P.C.B. No. 10, p. 439, the Co. to Patrick & Co., Urbana, O., Jan.
25, 1858.
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son; his agents were too busy during the summer, and in the
autumn farmers could not be expected to have money until
their grain was threshed and their pork sold. Even where a
judge in these hard times was willing to entertain a suit for
recovery of debt, a favorable verdict would bring McCormick
only unpopularity in the debtor’s neighborhood and an award
of real or personal property which could not be turned readily
into cash.?*

He sued more frequently, however, during the period 1857-
1861 than ever before. “I shall proceed to make you both
trouble and expense if you don’t pay the note at once,” is
the warning so often found in the letters of these years. Those
farmers who would not sell their grain or stock because of
low prices, notwithstanding his advice to them that the market
was bound to decline still further, were sometimes brought
before the court to serve as a salutary example to their fellow-
debtors.2® Several states, of which Texas was a good example,
enacted legislation so favorable to those who could not meet
their obligations that it was perilous to sell there except for
cash.2® Homesteads were everywhere beyond the grasp of the

24T, J. Walker & Co., Belleville, Ill.,, to the Co., Apr. 10, 1858. L. T.
Ball, Keithsburg, Ill., to the Co., Nov. 3, 1858.

25 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Nov. 13, Dec. 16, and 21, 1857: “Collec-
tions, Collections! Rogues, roughs. Are the agents going to just absorb

everything? . . . Must you not sue a good deal. . . . If we can get on with-
out taking produce of any kind, of course better. . .. If men won’t give
notes & security, then it would seem they should be sued. ... This as I

said is now the great point in the business. It is useless to sell machines &
get nothing for them!”

26 I.P.C.B. No. 12, p. 538, the Co. to I. G. Porter & Co., Decatur, Wis,,
June 18, 1858: “We have yet to see what depth of infamy is yet to be
exhibited by your Law Makers. The laws of a State clearly exhibit the
character & moral tone of its people. . . . We believe your legislature are
composed of a set of swindling naves & demagogs & the sooner you allow
them to retire into private life the better it will be for the reputation of
the people—There is one redeeming feature however,—they can not pass
ex post facto Laws—or Laws affecting existing contracts.”” 1933 was still in
the future! A. Z. Rumsey, Houston, Texas, to the Co., Dec. 29, 1857.
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creditor, as well as an amount of personal property varying
in value from state to state.

The manufacturer was obliged to choose his customers with
a good deal of care. An attractive discount was offered for
cash, but even in the best of times very few reapers could be
sold unless credit were extended to the purchaser. Those who
were unquestionably honest and able to buy, were sometimes
allowed two years in which to pay for their reaper.>” Where
competition was keen and there was likelihood that the season
would close before all machines had been sold, agents were
authorized to disregard the printed price list, if necessary,
in order to dispose of their stock.?®# McCormick usually de-
manded cash on delivery equal to about one-third of the price
of the implement. On the balance due after the first pay-
ment, he required that six per cent interest should be paid,
and if the notes were not met on time and the usury laws of a
state allowed it, they were renewed at ten per cent secured by
a mortgage on the farm or personal property. Since his finan-
cial standing generally enabled him to borrow at six per cent
or seven per cent in New York,?® the money owed to him by
farmers represented a fair investment, although it might have

27L.P.C.B. No. 6, p. 102, the Co. to John Ott, Rockville, Ind, Apr. 7,
1857; and No. 30, p. 78, the Co. to Fiske & Eliot, Iowa City, Ia., Feb. 11,
1860: “As times are, it will hardly answer to take a report for the solvency
of any man, and we trust that . . . [you] in all cases probe to the bottom.”

28 Jbid., No. 22, p. 43, the Co. to W. H. B. Warren, Wabash, Ind,, May
27, 1850; and No. 19, pp. 469, 595, the Co. to M. M. McNair, Madison,
Wis., Apr. 18, 1859, and to S. Brandt, New Guilford, Pa., Apr. 22, 1859.
Variations from the list prices were particularly numerous in 1839 because
of the “unusual and discouraging times.”

29 As a rule, farmers were obliged to pay more than 10% for a loan.
Sixty per cent a year (one report says 200%) was not uncommon in
Minnesota. McCormick was sometimes willing to agree that if a farmer
bought a reaper and his crop failed, he need not pay interest on his note for
the first year. Ibid.,, No. 31, p. 829, W. S. McCormick to T. J. Massie,
Lovingston, Va., May 10, 1860.
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been used much more profitably for speculations in Chicago
real estate.3°

When a machine was sold by mistake to “a hard case” and
McCormick had the alternative of losing the entire amount
of the sale or of taking depreciated bank-notes which would
not pass current in Chicago, he of course received the “wild
cat” or ‘“stump tail,” as they were known, and authorized his
agent either to loan them out at two per cent a month to a
farmer or to use them for the purchase of grain or stock.
The horses and buggies that were often supplied to the general
agents to aid them in canvassing were sometimes secured in
this way.?! By 1858 the McCormicks organized and financed
the commission house of C. H. McCormick & Co. of Chicago
for their brother-in-law, Hugh Adams, and this company
handled these commodities as well as other payments in kind
that were made for machines.3? But between 1856 and 1861,
prices of agricultural products were usually declining and the
factory office refused to accept wheat or cattle except as a last
resort.33

Because country banks were unsafe, McCormick’s agents
often held large sums of his money in their possession until
exchange rates were favorable or until they could come to

80 Jbid.,, No. 5, p. 824; No. 6, p. 304, W. S. to. C. H. McCormick, Mch.
27, and Apr. 16, 1857.

81 Ibid., No. 5, p. 561; No. 6, p. 112, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch.
14, and Apr. 7, 1857. Short-term loans in Chicago at this time were often
made at 2% a month interest. Jbid., No. 32, p. 385, the Co. to H. E. Griffin,
Zanesville, O., May 28, 1860; No. 31, pp. 334, 409, the Co. to L. Perkins,
Tiskilwa, Ill.,, Apr. 24, 1860.

82 Ibid., No. 6, p. 304, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 16, 1857; No. §,
PD. 534, 654, W. S. McCormick to Hugh Adams, Aug. 21, 1857; to J. B.
McCormick, Sept. 5, 1857; C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 12, 1857.

83 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 7, 1857; Oct. 30, and Nov. 30, 1858.
L.P.C.B. No. 30, p. 787, the Co. to W. C. Leyburn, Galesburg, Ill., Mch. 9,

1860: You may take shelled corn on reaper notes at an exchange rate that
will permit it to be delivered in Chicago at not over 45¢ a bus.
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Chicago to settle their accounts. Most of them were engaged in
other businesses and they were watched carefully by his
traveling representatives to see that they resisted the tempta-
tion to use his funds for their own purposes.®* There were
few defalcations, but to such districts as the one centering
at Cordova, Illinois, where the agent held nearly $200,000
in unpaid notes, it was necessary to despatch a man from the
factory to guard its interests.3®

Competition increased from year to year, and honest agents
with mechanical skill and persuasive tongues were at a pre-
mium among reaper manufacturers. High-pressure methods of
salesmanship, aided by brightly colored posters from the home
office, probably led many farmers to buy who could not use
a machine with profit.3¢ It may be doubted whether a land-
owner with two or three in his family to help him, and with
less than thirty-five acres of grain, could cut his crop as
inexpensively with a reaper as with cradle-scythes. Horse-
drawn harvesting implements worked to the advantage of the
man with a large farm, and small holders were the more ready
to increase their acreage because they were available for their
use.

The troublous times in the Northwest in the late 1850’s led
Cyrus McCormick to give more attention than ever before
to the East and South as a selling field.3” For a dozen years his

3¢ C. H. to W. S. McCormick, May 21, and Sept. 1, 1857. In view of the
weakened condition of many banks, he believed it would probably be safer to
leave in the hands of farmers all monies due, rather than to let the agents
collect.

35L.P.C.B. No. 11, p. 3, W. S. McCormick to T. J. Paterson, Rochester,
N. Y, Mch. 4, 1858, and in No. 15, p. 69, to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 29,
1838.

3¢ The first advertising pamphlet of C. H. McCormick was issued in the
harvest of 1859. He had earlier prepared several of them for distribution at
fairs abroad.

37 Ibid., No. 22, p. 618, the Co. to W. S. McCormick, June 13, 1850.
Compared with the other states of the Middle West, except Michigan, Ohio
was always a poor sales territory for McCormick machines. This was
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cousin, J. B. McCormick, had canvassed Missouri, Kentucky,
and Tennessee in the interest of the reaper, but now for the
sake of efficiency he was obliged, over his protest, to be satis-
fied with a smaller territory. He established a commission
business in St. Louis, and was allowed to sell his kinsman’s
machines in a small district around that city. He asked too
large a fee for forwarding the implements to purchasers
further down the Mississippi, and Cyrus McCormick soon put
that business in the charge of agents at Cairo, Louisville,
Nashville, and New Orleans.?® Reports from the South in-
dicated that planters were placing greater emphasis upon the
culture of wheat and oats, but farms in the areas best fitted
for the growth of these cereals were too often dotted with
stumps. Nor could reapers operate in a grain-field where a
planter had neglected to pull up the tough stalks of his last
season’s cotton plants.3?

Agents whose homes were in the Old Northwest felt that
they were in a foreign land as soon as they crossed the south-
ern border of Kentucky or Mason and Dixon’s line. A new
selling technique was necessary there. Suspicion of all “Yankee
wares”’ was met everywhere. “The very name of Chicago in
some parts of the South is like presenting cold water in a
case of Hydrophobia. It is considered as a den of negroe [sic]
largely due to the many large reaper factories there by 1858. Ibid., No. 29,
PP. 10, 41, 46, the Co. to W. W. Campbell, Hopkinsville, Ky., Jan. 6, 1860;

R. H. Powell, Lewisburg, Tenn., and to Cable & Co., Shelbyville, Tenn.,
Jan. 4, 1860.

38 Jbid., No. 15, p. 750; No. 17, pp. 86 and 689, W. S. to C. H. Mec-
Cormick, Dec. 21, 1858, Jan. 4 and 21, 1850. Ibid., No. 20, p. 58, the Co. to
Northup & Howland, St. Louis, Mch. 5, 1859; No. 20, pp. 60, 142, W. S. to
J. B. McCormick, Mch. 5 and 8, 1859. By 1863, J. B. McCormick’s selling
territory was confined to St. Louis and St. Charles Cy., Mo. See Ibid., No.
56, p. 424, the Co. to F. R. Baker, St. Louis, Jan. 24, 1863.

39 J. Stuart, Summerville, Ga., to the Co., Sept. 9, 1856; Feb. 16, and
May 15, 1857. F. R. Marshall, Natchez, Miss., to C. H. McCormick, May
5 and July 27, 1857. J. B. McCormick, St. Louis, to W. S. McCormick,
Apr. 8, 1858.
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thieves.” ¢© Enticing posters and glib sales talk repelled the
planter because they reminded him of his northern creditor,
or at least of hard business efficiency out of tune with his way
of life. Leisurely conversation over a glass of apple-jack some-
times effected a sale, if the agent did not insult his prospect
by presenting him with a “judgment note” to sign, or ask
him to vary his usual practice of settling his accounts once a
year.*! For these reasons Miller, Wingate & Co., a firm
manufacturing reapers and mowers at Louisville, which was
deemed to be a southern city, had a large advantage in the
planter trade. The agents of McCormick, however, stressed
the southern birth of the inventor of the “Virginia Reaper”
to their patroms, and the factory office sent copies of the
“Chicago Times” and Dr. Rice’s “Presbyterian Expositor” to
remind the planters that their employer was “right” on the
slavery question.*2

Prejudice was not so sharp in Texas, and McCormick en-
joyed a brisk trade there by the opening of the Civil War.
Agents ordering machines from the forwarding house of
Graham & Boyle of New Orleans supplied customers in the
Red River Valley and the country about Houston, Dallas, and

40 J. B. to W. S. McCormick from Versailles, Ky., May 24, 1858. Cor-
nelius Aultman vs Henry C. Holley and Edwin H. Fittz, in Equity, United
States Circuit Court, in and for the Southern District of New York (N. Y.
1870), p. 417. Hereafter cited as Aultman vs Holley and Fittz.

41 A “judgment note” was appended to the reaper order blank and ex-
pressed the willingness of the purchaser to be sued by the company in case
he did not pay his note when due. J. T. Griffin from Nashville and Knox-
ville, Tenn., to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 13, and 17, 1858. Townes, Orgill &
Co., Memphis, to the Co., May 26, 1858. J. B. McCormick, Versailles, Ky.,
to W. S. McCormick, Apr. 5, 1858.

«21.P.C.B. No. 30, pp. 108, 677, 786, the Co. to T. Berry, Staunton, Va.,,
Feb. 13, 1860; and to W. A. Braxton and J. Henry, both of Va, Mch, 3,
1860: “Our latitude may be a drawback & I send you some numbers of
Dr. Rice’s paper which you can refer to. We don’t hesitate to make war
here upon Abolitionism.” Ibid., No. 37, p. 672, the Co. to E. A. McNair,
Clarksville, Tenn., Dec. 21, 1860.



DEPRESSION, CIVIL WAR, AND THE REAPER 79

Fort Worth.*® State laws for the protection of debtors com-
pelled McCormick to demand upon delivery a large down pay-
ment. Inadequate transportation facilities away from the
navigable streams was another principal drawback to trade
in Texas. Machines were sometimes freighted as much as
two hundred miles by ox-team.** The amount of business done
by McCormick in the South did not come up to his expecta-~
tions. The border states suffered from the depression and
wheat there was severely damaged by late frosts in 1860.45 ~

Ever since McCormick moved to Chicago in 1847, he had
endeavored with slight success to build up a market in the
middle states of the eastern seaboard. High freight charges,
late deliveries, inability in some seasons to supply the demand
of the Middle West, and the development of a machine that
was better adapted to the level prairies than to hillside farms,
are some of the reasons why he had not realized his hopes.*®
Between 1856 and 1861, he advertised to sell for Chicago
prices at Philadelphia and Baltimore. Since the rough finish
and the weight of his reapers displeased both agents and farm-
ers, he improved their appearance with blue or brown paint,

43 Reapers were carried by steamboat from Cairo to New Orleans for
$5.00. This included the Cairo transfer charge of $1.00. Ibid., No. 20, pp.
178, 251, 385, the Co. to N. W. Graham & Co., Cairo, Mch. 9, 1859, and to
I. McKay, Ferguson, Texas, Mch. 11, and 17, 1859; No. 26, p. 506, to
B. W. Musgrove, Bright Star, Texas, Dec. 21, 1859: “I now regard Texas
as one of the most inviting fields which I can occupy and am naturally
anxious for a more extended introduction.”

44 A K. Ellet, Clarksville, Texas, to the Co., July 24, 1856. A. Z. Rumsey,
Westfield, Texas to the Co., Oct. 22, 1857.

45 L. P.C.B. No. 26, p. 441 and passim, letters of the spring of 1860; No.
30, pp. 736, 743, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Mch. 7, 1860; No. 30, p. 147,
the Co. to Robins & Brogham, White Oak, Tenn., Feb. 14, 1860.

46 Ibid., No. 20, pp. 52, 155, the Co. to Gen'l. Fght. Agts. of the Fort
Wayne RR., Mch. 4, 1859, and of the Pa. Central RR.,, Mch. 8, 1850. By
1860, thanks to the increase of rwy. competition, McCormick could ship a
reaper to Balto. for about $6.00 freight. The cost had been nearly $17.00 in

1854. Ibid., No. 41, p. 692, the Co. to G. Walker, Shoreham, Vt., May 16,
1861,
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and built a light two-horse machine for small landowners who
were not prepared to use his standard four-horse type.*” Most
important of all, his two brothers, aided by his suggestions,
developed an excellent mower by 1860.48 A succession of poor
crop years in the Middle States, and the preference of grain-
growers for implements manufactured near their own homes,
were barriers to eastern sales which McCormick could not
surmount. At all times the factory office viewed the Atlantic
seaboard principally as an outlet for surplus machines.*®

By good fortune, a considerable trade with California and
Oregon was opened up during these years, and reapers and
mowers unsold in the East were collected at New York or
Boston for transfer in clipper-ships around Cape Horn to San
Francisco. The “Golden Fleece” and the “Westward Ho”
sometimes returned with letters from far-western consignees
protesting that they had been sent damaged second-hand ma-
chines “dating as far back as 1850.”” This was not news to
McCormick, for he had designed the Pacific Coast trade to
serve as a market for outmoded reapers. For three years fol-
lowing 1860, California was said to be overstocked with agri-
cultural machinery and shipments thither virtually ceased. Be-
ginning in 1865, Oregon supplanted California for a few years
as the best sales territory in the Far West.??

47 Jbid., No. 19, pp. 5, 11, W. S. McCormick to J. T. Griffin, and to G. A.
Walker, Portsmouth, O., Apr. 5, 1859. The two-horse machine cut a 3%-foot
swath and was priced @ $140, and the four-house @ $155.

4 1. P.C.B. No. 16, p. 83, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 8, 1858; and

in No. 19, pp. 263, 550, to J. B. McCormick, Apr 13 and 21, 1859. W. S. to
C. H. McCormick, June 27, and July 6, 1859.

49 Treadwell & Co. of Boston purchased reapers @ $153 each for sale in
California. This firm bought about 125 McCormick machines a year between
1859 and 1861. L.P.C.B. No. 24, pp. 46, 47; No. 33, p. 64; the Co. to
Treadwell & Co., Oct. 12, 1859 and July 24, 1860.

50 R. T. Elkinton, Phila., Pa., to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 26, and Dec. 1,
1856; L.P.C.B. No. 64, p. 227, the Co. to O. Ames & Son, Boston, Sept. 10,
1863; No. 65, p. 545, to Wakeman, Dimon & Co., N. Y., Nov. 10, 1863;
No. 85, pp. 52-54, to Knapp, Burrall & Co., Portland, Ore., Oct. 18, 1865.
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Skies brightened somewhat for the grain-grower during
1860. For the first time in several years there was a brisk
foreign demand for wheat, and about one-third of the total
crop was sent abroad.’* McCormick’s supply of reapers and
mowers was again too small, but western currency was still
unsound, and the prairie farmer did not give expression to
his reviving optimism by paying his reaper notes. “Times very
hard in the western cities & country,” commented William S.
McCormick in May of that year, “everything flat. We have to
sell on long time to a great extent & it will take good crops
to bring us out. Rents here [Chicago] are down but our cities
are butlt & our railroads are made & though the majority of
those who built them may have to give up to others, the whole
country must ultimately derive great benefit therefrom & this
must be a great country.” 3 This is a good example of the
spirit to which Chicagoans credit the surprising growth of
their city.

Doubt replaced hope as the year grew older. Ten thousand
printed dunning letters, each accompanied by a stamped return-
envelop as a new departure in business practice, failed to in-
duce many farmers to pay their debts.’® The election of
Lincoln, the secession of South Carolina, and a short-lived
money panic in the North, made “the times . . . look rather
gloomy” to the McCormicks. The factory, however, was going
full blast in an effort to build five thousand machines for

51 The wheat crop of the United States in 1860 was 173,104,024 bus.
Estimating a barrel of flour as equivalent to six bushels of grain, the export
of wheat between June 30, 1860, and June 30, 1861, was equal to about 1/3
of the crop. In how far this export total included wheat held over from
previous harvests is not clear. 1/5, 1/4, 1/5, 1/10th of the crops of 1855 to
1858, respectively, had been exported during the fiscal year following each
of these harvests.

52 Thid., No. 31, p. 786, W. S. McCormick to J. Henry. May 9, 1860.

58 Jbid., No. 45, p. 14, the Co. to W. H. Warren, Marshallville, O., Aug.
17, 1861. By the close of the harvest of 1861, over 20,000 farmers owed
money to McCormick.
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the harvest of 1861.5% William S. McCormick hesitated to
believe that the Union would be broken or that war would
follow a failure to reach a compromise.®?

No matter how earnestly the company sought to keep politics
and business distinct, Cyrus McCormick’s active réle in the
campaign of 1860 and the crisis which followed, obliged the
men in his factory office for a time to ride two horses going
full speed in opposite directions. Before the bombardment of
Fort Sumter, it was good business, as well as the truth, to
remind salesmen in Virginia that “our heart still yields al-
legiance to the ‘Old Dominion’ and we claim a place as the
representatives of your interests.” *® Agents in the North were
assured that the Confederate flag did not fly over the Chicago
factory, that its owner opposed secession, and would stand
by the “Stars and Stripes,” first, last, and all the time.??

54 Ibid., No. 36, p. 749, the Co. to G. H. Cook & Co., New Haven, Conn.,
Nov. 13, 1860; No. 38, p. 557, W. S. McCormick to T. H. Silvez, Newark,
N. J., Jan. 30, 1861. W. S. McCormick wished to send Silvez as an agent to
Va., but first of all demanded assurance that his political views would be
acceptable to his clientele.

55 Ibid., No. 40, pp. 83, 117, 313, the Co. to S. M. Swenson, Austin, Texas,
Mch. 21, 1861; to Magraw & Koons, Balto., Mch. 22, and to W. Ward,
Varis Valley, Ga., Mch. 29, 1861; No. 41, p. 25, the Co. to R. B. Norwall,
Huntsville, Ga., Apr. 17, 1861, and p. 146, to A. Chapman, New York City,
Apr. 23, 1861. In mid-March, sixteen reapers were shipped to Texas, and a
car-load to Balto. for sale in Virginia. At this time the Co. was still ready
to grant credit to southern buyers, but cash was required after the fall of
Fort Sumter.

56 Ibid., No. 37 (Nov. 1860-Jan. 1861) passim; No. 38, pp. 22, 164, the
Co. to Tipton & Alvord, Lexington, Ky., Jan. 3, 1861, and to P. W. Mar-
garen, New Providence, Tenn.,, Jan. 9, 1861; No. 40, p. 497, the Co. to J.
McCormick, Augusta, Ga., Apr. 3, 1861.

57 [bid., No. 39, p. 205, the Co. to E. Healy, Earlville, Ia., Feb. 25, 1861:
“All our interests are with the Union,—not a part—but the whole.” Ibid.,
No. 41, p. 771, the Co. to J. Rodermel, Freeport, Ill., May 18, 1861: “We
wish you to bear in mind that the ‘Times’ office & the Reaper office are
separate and distinct.” Ibid., No. 42, p. 615, the Co. to J. Hoffman, Crown
Point, Ind, June 10, 1861. Rival agents were telling farmers that the
McCormicks were disloyal.
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Because of plans carefully laid and the fine outlook of crops
everywhere in 1861, the firm was loath to abandon its southern
market.5® By April, unpaid reaper-notes and unsold machines
stored in the South represented a property value of at least
$75,000, and steps were taken to realize upon these before it
was too late.?® In fact, for six weeks after Sumter the Mc-
Cormicks were ready to sell to planters for cash even as far
south as Georgia. They sought in vain to evade the Virginia
blockade by freighting reapers in wagons through Harpers
Ferry into the Valley. Machines were concentrated at Cairo
and Cincinnati to ship to Arkansas and Tennessee if oppor-
tunity should offer.®® Fully aware of the immediate seriousness
of the situation, as southern agents resigned one by one, they
refused for long to believe that a northern army would invade
the South, or that business could not go on as usual by 1862,
either with a restored Union or with the new Confederacy.®*
When it was clear that no shipments could be made south
of the line in 1861, special agents were sent into Virginia
and Tennessee, not to collect or to sell, since notes of Con-
federate banks were virtually worthless in the North, but to
secure the promissory notes of old purchasers, pledging pay-

58 Ibid., No. 40, p. 31, the Co. to N. P. Thomas, Bowling Green, Tenn.,
Mch. 19, 1861: “Providence seems to be lavishing blessings on all sections of
the country alike to teach us our common brotherhood, and we hope we may
not be slow to learn this great truth.”

59 This comprised about $35,000 in Va., $35,000 in Texas, and $5,000 else-
where in the South. There were about 200 machines unaccounted for. Ibid.,
No. 40, pp. 784, 811, the Co. to J. J. McBride, New Orleans, Apr. 15, 1861,
and to J. McKay, Farmington, Texas, Apr. 15, 1861; No. 41, p. 465, to
S. S. Sykes, Jackson, Tenn., May 9, 1861; No. 42, p. 10, W. S. McCormick
to W. T. Rush, Staunton, Va., May 22, 1861.

60 [bid., No. 41, pp. 251, 793, the Co. to W. Cartmell, Nashville, Tenn.,,
Apr. 25, 1861, and to Magraw & Koons, Balto., May 20, 1861; No. 42, pp.
262, 483, to M. W. Forney, Balto., May 29, and June 5, 1861.

81 I'bid., No. 41, p. 370, the Co. to Pennywit, Scott & Co., Van Buren,
Ark.,, May 3, 1861; No. 46, p. 88, to P. Mohan, Louisville, Ky., Oct. 3,
1861.
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ment when the crisis was past.®? Long after the organization
of the Confederacy was completed, mail was received by the
company from many parts of the South, forwarded by special
arrangement from commission house to commission house, and
finally across the Ohio River at Louisville.%?

The year 1861 was near its close before the McCormicks
were convinced that watchful waiting could be their only
policy. Southern patriots paid their northern debts into the
Confederate treasury and unsold reapers were confiscated as
contraband of war.®* Throughout the conflict McCormicks’
agents, in company with canvassers for other northern fac-
tories, were camp-followers of every Union Army which
tapped the grain lands of the Confederacy.®® The company
quickly made up for the loss of its southern market by keeping
step with the railroads and steamboat lines as they pushed
farther and farther into the North and West. MacGregor,

82 Jbid., No. 41, pp. 440, 769, the Co. to E. A. McNair, Haydensville, Ky.,
May 8, and to W. Cartmell, Lebanon, Tenn., May 18, 1861; No. 42, p. 721,
Co. to M. W. Forney, Balto., June 13, 1861: We wish to send an envoy to
Va. to collect all reaper notes held by our agents. We don’t fear that the
planters will not eventually pay us, but we worry lest our agents defraud us
in the South.

63 The U. S. postal service in the South was officially suspended on May
31, 1861. After that time, some of the business houses which relayed letters
were Graham & Boyle, New Orleans, Fisher, Wheeless & Co., Nashville,
and Moore, Wheeler & Robinson of Louisville. Ibid., No. 55, p. 632, the Co.
to P. Mohan, Louisville, Ky., Dec. 22, 1862; Mary Ann McCormick to
Nettie F. McCormick, Feb. 17, 1863; #P. Calhoun, Houma, Terre Bonne
Pas, La., to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 6, 1865.

6+L.P.C.B. No. 44, p. 815, the Co. to M. W. Forney, Balto., Aug. 13,
1861; No. 53, p. 688, to L. Farrell, Port Tobacco, Md., Nov. 13, 1862.

85 [bid., No. 47, pp. 260, 768, the Co. to Spear Bros., Balto., Md., Mch. 27,
1862, and to Magraw & Koons, Balto., Apr. 18, 1862; No. 57, p. 440, to
J. N. Keller, Elm Grove, Va,, Mch. 3, 1863; No. 65, p. 431, to P. Mohan,
Louisville, Ky., Nov. 4, 1¥863; No. 66, p. 383, to W. Cartmell, Gallatin,
Tenn., Jan. 25, 1864. Civil War in Mo. hindered sales there during much of
the war, but it was deemed safe to sell north of the Missouri River in that
State by 1863. Except for a brief period in 1861, Ky. was a good market for
machines during the entire conflict since money was unusually plentiful
there.
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Towa, St. Joseph, Missouri, and Fort Leavenworth, Kansas,
were important distributing points for this trade.®

Meanwhile, in the spring of 1861, the McCormicks looked
forward without confidence to the northern harvest. Over five
thousand machines were almost finished and the excellent
crop outlook signified a brisk demand. But the farmers, car-
ried away by the first war excitement, seemed to forget that
their grain was ripening for the reaper. Orders came in with
unprecedented slowness.®” By May, which was ordinarily the
height of the selling season, agents were resigning without
warning in order to enlist, western bank-notes reached a new
“low,” and farm produce showed no sign of advancing in
price.®® So desperate did the situation become, that the firm
ordered its representatives to dispose of machines on almost
any terms and devote their principal attention to collecting or
securing old debts. Hardly had these instructions gone out,
than with bewildering suddenness the spell cast by Sumter was
broken and orders poured in upon the company as never
before. By late June angry farmers were told that McCorm-
ick’s supply of reapers and mowers was exhausted, and agents
were ordered to sell only for cash. After the harvest was over

66 Sales in Kansas and Minnesota particularly increased, and a beginning
was made in Nebraska Terr. In 1863, 170 machines were sold in Kansas and
Nebraska, but they were too few to meet the demand. In 1864 a special
circular was printed in three languages for the Minnesota trade. Ibid.,
No. 37, p. 302, the Co. to E. S. Hawley, Nebraska City, Neb., Dec. 6, 1860;
No. 47, p. 43, to I. C. Hoagland, St. Joseph, Mo., Mch. 15, 1862; No. 60,
D. 202, to Grant & Prest, Leavenworth, Kan., May 22, 1863. J. O. Henning,
Fort Leavenworth, Kan., to the Co., Sept. 22, and Dec. 3, 1864. Kansas was
an excellent market for mowers since farmers there produced much hay for
sale to the government.

87 So little money was collected from farmers in the early summer of
1861, that the McCormicks for three weeks were unable to pay their factory
hands. See letters in Ibid., No. 41, pp. 145, 244; No. 42, pp. 322, 421; No.
43, pp- 610, 640, 8os.

68 4W. S. to C. H. McCormick, May 2, 1861. See Co. letters in L.P.C.B.
No. 41, pp. 171, 774; No. 42, pp. 40, 470, 605; No. 43, p. 792; No. 44, p.
704, covering the months May-Aug., 1861. Because of low prices, some
wheat-fields in Iowa were left to the hogs.
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the firm estimated that two thousand more machines could
have been disposed of for ready money if they had been
available.®® The currency situation in the Northwest improved
by late summer and record quantities of grain began to move
toward the seaboard as prices tended upward.”™

In the late autumn, fear that a blockade by and war with
England would result from the Trent Affair, momentarily de-
pressed the price of wheat. In general, however, farmers dur-
ing the Civil War had much reason to be happy. The Mc-
Cormicks oversold about five hundred machines in the harvest
of 1862. Shortage of flat cars and the inability of the factory
to keep pace with the call for reapers, obliged them to insist
that a farmer upon signing an order blank should waive his
right to sue for breach of contract in case the machine could
not be delivered in time for harvest.”* Extremely low water
in the Mississippi River and raids by Confederates in the
border states, combined to lose sales for the McCormicks in
the summer of 1863.7 Drought and poor crops in parts of the

69 The rush of orders began in late May. W. S. wrote to C. H. Mec-
Cormick on June 26: “The demand for machines beats all.”

70 L.P.C.B. No. 42, p. 521, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, June 6, 1861: “Our
prospects are good for large sales but whether we will ever collect or not
I can't tell. Stump tail is the order of the day & I suppose no tail at all
will come next.” But on Oct, 8, 1861, he could write (No. 46, p. 204) :
“Grain is coming into Chicago beyond all account, and wheat is bringing a
still better price. Most of my agents are beginning to send money quite
freely.” The change from doubt to optimism in regard to the currency is
first noticeable in the letters of late Aug., but the low price of pork and
grain was believed to be hindering collections as late as the new year.

71 On the expected effect of the Trent Affair on the reaper business, see
letters of W. S. McCormick during the last week of Dec., 1861, in ibid.,
No. 54, pp. 124, 293. L.P.C.B. No. 48, p. 205, the Co. to T. Thomson,
National, Ta.,, May 1, 1862; No. 50, pp. 188, 219, to J. L. Briggs, Geneseo,
IlL,, and to L. Perkins, Tiskilwa, I1l., June 17, 1862.

72 Jbid., No. 61, p. 346, the Co. to Grant & Prest, Leavenworth, Kan., June
18, 1863. The Co. had reduced its output by 20% in this harvest through
fear of depreciated currency and Confederate raids into the border states.
No. 64, p. 567, the Co. to C. Etheridge, Hastings, Minn., Sept. 26, 1863.
The weather during the winter of 1862-1863 was very mild.
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Middle West left them with a surplus of two thousand ma-
chines at the close of the next harvest.”® Due, also, to a widen-
ing market and the depreciation of the currency, wheat grad-
ually rose in price to $2.25 a bushel in Chicago by July, 1864,
although it sharply dropped to $1.18 by the following May.?*
The unwillingness of farmers to buy machines in 1865 was
caused by their uncertainty concerning the effect of the war’s
close upon prices, and the unusually wet summer which made
many grain-fields so muddy that reapers could not be em-
ployed.”™

At no previous time in its history did the firm select its
salesmen and the purchasers of its reapers with more care.
Canvassers were required to post a $3,000 bond, and William
S. McCormick often complained of the “moral slackness’” and
degeneracy of the times. Hundreds of orders were rejected
every season because, in the judgment of the general agent
or the factory office, they were given by farmers who could
not be relied upon to pay their debts. A landowner of known
probity and too old to go to war was the ideal client. Al-
though, by early 1865, “farmers [were] . . . generally out of
debt & there . . . [was] less danger of losing by them than
at most any former period,” 7 the great majority of machines
were still sold on credit. Collections were deemed to be excel-
lent during the war, but “excellent” was a highly relative
term, and meant that about sixty-five per cent of the reaper
notes were paid when they were due.”” In the spring of 1863
there was still a million dollars’ worth of paper outstanding,

73 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 13, 1865.

74 According to Boyle's study, op. cit., the $2.25 price was due in part to a
wheat corner. Catalog of C. H. McCormick & Bros., 1864, p. 2.

75 L.P.C.B. No. 81, p. 288, the Co. to J. B. McCormick, St. Louis, June
20, 1865: “We never saw such apathy among buyers and bewilderment as
to plans among agents.”

76 £C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 2, 1865.

77W. S. to C. H. McCormick, July 19, 1863; L.P.C.B. No. 67, pp. 491I-
492, the Co. to Bass & Elmendorf, McGregor, Ia., Mch. 11, 1864.
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and about $775,000 at the close of the next year. As for the
currency situation, the company office could write as late as
April, 1864: “The banks of this city reject all banknotes of
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Michigan. Also notes of
Ohio & Indiana except the issue of State Banks of those States.
It will be well to confine collections as much as possible to
Treasury Notes & National Bank Bills as all other currency
is being gradually superseded here by them.” "® Up to the
autumn of 1863, William S. McCormick was often of the
opinion that the “uncertainties of the times” made advisable
a suspension of manufacturing until the close of the war.”®
Lumber more than doubled and pig-iron and coal almost
tripled in price between 1861 and the summer of 1864.8°
Good mechanics and iron-finishers were hard to find, wages
mounted, and the company officials found it difficult to com-
pete with the free whiskey dispensed by the recruiting stations
and the lure of Canada when a draft was to be drawn.®! Firms
were obliged to bid against the government for the services
of mechanics. Apparently the country was being industrialized

78 I'bid., No. 68, p. 814, the Co. to L. G. Dudley, Apr. 20, 1864.

79 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 19, and Nov. 9, 1862. The Democratic
victories in the by-elections of this autumn appear to have been chiefly
responsible for his change from gloom to hope.

80 The Co. purchased 3 inc. ash plank for $12.50 per M. in Sept., 1860, $28
in Dec., 1863, $30 in Feb., 1864, and $26 in Aug. 1865. Pig-iron was $20 a
ton in Aug., 1861, $20 in May, 1862, $45 in Apr., 1863, $48 in Feb., 1864,
and $55 in Oct., 1865. Coal was purchased for $3.45 a ton in Aug., 1861,
$5.73 in Sept., 1862, $6.00 in June, 1863, $7.58 in Oct., 1863, $9 in July, 1864,
and at about the same price one year later. Ibid., No. 45-No. 75, passim.

81 Ibid., No. 49, p. 866, the Co. to W. S. McCormick, Aug. 21, 1862; No.
61, pp. 601, 715, to E. Brinckman, Cassville, Wis., June 26, 1863, and to W. C.
Stacey, Sigel, Ia., June 27, 1863; No. 73, pp. 477-479, to E. A. McNair,
Davenport, Ia., July 19, 1864. W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 28, 1862,
Apr. 8, and June 7, 1863; L. J. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 7, Nov. 22 and
Dec. 6, 1863. In Aug., 1862, the Co. paid unskilled factory hands $1.25 a
day, and stevedores 40¢ an hour. Fifteen months later, ordinary laborers
received $1.50 a day, carpenters $2.00, and moulders doing piecework were
making between $2.75 and $5 a day.
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too rapidly for skilled labor to keep up with the demand. For
the first time in the history of the McCormick Company,
unions and strikes find mention in its correspondence. “Green
and obstreperous” hands were blamed for mistakes in machine
construction and for the costly delay in finishing the supply
of reapers and mowers in 1863. “We may incidentally men-
tion,” wrote an office scribe in April, 1864, “our moulders
are going on their fourth Strike for an advance of wages
since last fall. They now want 25% more!!! Manufacturers
will have to shut up Shop if things go much farther in this
line.” 82 Even the clerks were restless and several scorned
to work for $1,000 or $1,500 a year while speculative ventures
invited a much larger return. If an experienced agent were
drafted, the company paid one-half or more of the hire of a
substitute. Income taxes and taxes on raw materials were
heavy, and by 1863 the national government also required five
per cent of the gross sales money, with no deduction allowed
when farmers failed to complete payments for their reapers.8?

High transportation charges on agricultural implements

82, P.C.B. No. 68, p. 568, the Co. to G. Monser, Wenona, Ill., Apr. 11,
1864. Wages probably did not advance as rapidly as prices, and this was due
in part to the introduction of cheap foreign labor by such concerns as the
United States Land and Immigration Co. of No. 7 Broadway, New York
City. Chicago manufacturers using iron, including W. S. McCormick, met
on Mch. 14, 1863, and resolved that they would not pay moulders over $z.00
a day. “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Mch. 15 and May 31, 1863. Mary Ann
McCormick wrote to Nettie F., on Oct. 21-22, 1863: “The prices of every-
thing is so high, & increasing all the time, that I don’t see how it can hold
out so. The poor must do without many of the necessaries of life.”

83 D, M. Osborne, from Phila., to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 12, 1862; W. S.
to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 22, 1863. L.P.C.B. No. 47, pp. 232, 259, 300,
376, 637, the Co. letters of Mch. and Apr. 1862; No. 71, p. 756, the Co.
to W. R. Selleck, Milwaukee, Jan. 2, 1864; No. 69, pp. 183, 351, 498, 523,
the Co. to T. R. Robinson, Wauseon, O., Apr. 28, 1864, and to C. Wellman,
Defiance, O., May 4, 1864; No. 75, p. 143, the Co. to N. M. Lester, Elm-
wood, Ill., Oct. 4, 1864. By 1865 the federal tax was 6% upon manufacturing
and 6% upon each sale. Ibid., No. 86, p. 435, the Co. to N. Hornaday, West
Elkton, O., Dec. 21, 1865.
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were a grievance of farmers and manufacturers alike from
the time that railroads and reapers first came to the Middle
West. With the closing of the Mississippi River by the Con-
federate Army, railroad freight rates greatly increased on
grain and reapers moving east. Steamboat companies on the
Great Lakes boosted their charges and irritated the Mec-
Cormicks by their indifference when asked to condescend
enough to carry reapers and mowers from Chicago to Cleve-
land and Buffalo.®* Canal-boats as well as freight cars were
commandeered for war use, and the government’s need for
them reached a maximum each year at the very time when
harvesting machinery was ready for distribution to the
agents.8® Railway officials turned deaf ears to the plea that
farm implements were essential to the winning of the war and
merited preferential treatment because they produced return
freights in the form of grain and hay.8¢ Although the Mec-
Cormicks, as long as the contest lasted, were never certain that
they could get their entire output to their consignees in time
for harvest, they somewhat remedied their embarrassment in
this regard after 1862 by working a full force of men at their
factory all the year around so that shipments could be made

84 Ibid., No. 57, p. 502, the Co. to W. H. Stewart, Mch. 4, 1863; No. 42,
p. 753, the Co. to U. C. Van Tyne, Cleveland, O., June 14, 1861.

85 Ibid., No. 60, p. 471, the Co. to G. Monser, Wenona, Ill, May 29,
1863: “We cannot get cars . . . oh for two weeks more in which to do our
shipping—Wish we could like Joshua make the sun stand still!” Ibid., No.
67, p. 432; No. 70, pp. 430, 733; No. 72, p. 436, the Co. to P. Mohan,
Louisville, Mch. 9, 1864, to E. A. McNair, Davenport, Ia., to G. Plahn &
Co., Beardstown, Ill,, July 2, 1864, and to J. B. Fairbank & Sons, Concord,
111, June 3, 1864, respectively. In 1864, the freight rates on eastern ship-
ments were in many cases 100% higher than in 1863. The Co., in order to
get cars, often had to guarantee that they would be unloaded within twelve
hours after reaching their destination.

86 Ibid., No. 57, pp. 500, 749, the Co. to J. I. Houston, Mch. 4, 1863, and
to H. E. Sargent, Mch. 14, 1863; No. 67, pp. 508, 631, the Co. to Rwy.
Freight Agents, Mch. 12, and 16, 1864.
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in late winter or early spring before the military campaigns
opened.®7

Midwestern farmers in early 1863 justified their insistent
demand that the Confederate Army should be speedily driven
from the Mississippi line upon the ground of “the impossibility
of bringing to the markets of the world a very large propor-
tion of their surplus agricultural production. No avenue of
transit now open to them has one-half the capacity to afford
the necessary transportation.” # They had come to rely more
and more upon freight cars to carry their crops to market,
but they wished the alternative water route to be available for
their use as a salutary check upon high railway tariffs. It
was at this time that General John A. McClernand, eager to
supplant Grant in command of the Army of the Mississippi,
warned Lincoln of the growing secession sentiment among the
farmers of the prairie belt because one of their principal outlets
of trade was still in the hands of the enemy.8® Politics and
personal ambition doubtless influenced McClernand’s attitude,
but it was grounded upon a real economic grievance, par-
ticularly among the farmers of northern Missouri and southern
Illinois. As early as 1862, a farmers’ association at Geneseo,
Illinois, foreshadowing the day of the Grangers, protested

87 I'bid., No. 64, p. 814, the Co. to Graff, Bennett & Co., Pittsburgh, Oct. 9,
1863.

88 “Transactions of the Illinois State Agricultural Society” (Springfield,
I11.), V (1861-1864), p. 82; H. K. Beale, ed., “The Diary of Edward Bates,
1850-1866,” in “Annual Report of the American Historical Association,
1930” (Wash., 1933), Vol. IV, pp. 20, 70, 169, 192.

82 J, A. McClernand to Secy. of War, E. Stanton, Nov. 10, 1862, in “The
War of the Rebellion. A Compilation of the Official Records of the Union
and Confederate Armies” (Wash. 1882), Ser. I, Vol. XVII, pt. 2, pp. 332-
334. The “Chicago Times” in late Dec. was sounding the same note.
L.P.C.B. No. 47, p. 265, the Co. to D. B. Young, Richland City, Wis,,
Mch. 27, 1862: “Should we be favored with a few more Federal victories,

and the Mississippi River be opened to the Gulf, farmers will feel more like
buying.”
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against the exorbitant transportation charges.®® Grain-growers
were often unable to take advantage of a favorable market
because of their inability to find cars to carry their wheat to the
cities. Manufacturers of harvesting machinery shifted most of
the transportation costs to their patrons, but they did their
best to make the burden as light as possible.

In view of the rising prices of grain and factory raw ma-
terials, it is surprising, and an indication of the bitterness of
the competition, that McCormick reapers were sold at their
pre-war figure up to 1864, and then at an increase of less
than fifteen per cent. This course would have been suicidal if
the profit on each sale before the war had not been so large
that the cost of production could greatly increase and still
leave a small margin of profit.®*

Following the harvest of 1862, reaper- and mower-makers
in the East agreed to advance prices ten per cent and transfer
manufacturers’ taxes to the farmers.®? Although the Mec-
Cormicks announced that they would abide by this resolution,
there was much undercutting, and by summer the new schedule
was abandoned.?® The Manny, “Buckeye,” and Oshorne firms
which made hand-rake reapers, could not be held in line, and
companies that were endeavoring to introduce the self-rake
type, found that their innovation carried little appeal if it were
accompanied by a large advance in price. In December, 1863,
the Esterlys of Wisconsin and the McCormicks took the initia-
tive. Meeting at Chicago with other harvesting-machinery
manufacturers, a verbal pact was made to yield to “impera-

90L.P.C.B. No. 47, p. 637, the Co. to L. Briggs, Geneseo, Ill, Apr. 16,
1862.

1W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 28 and Oct. 5, 1862. Here W. S.
McCormick believed no profit could be made on reapers sold at the old price,
if the premium on gold went above 20%. In view of the next two harvests,
this would appear to have been an error.

92 “Prairie Farmer,” Nov. 1, 1862, p. 280.

93 L..P.C.B. No. 55, pp. 784-785, the Co. to W. H. B. Warren, Wabash,
Ind,, Jan. 5, 1863; W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 8, 1863.
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tive necessity’” and sell for a ten per cent increase of price in
1864.%¢ Despite continued charges and counter-charges of vio-
lations by the agents, the Chicago partners stood by their
agreement and declared at the close of the harvest that they
would sell for a further advance of fifty per cent in 1865. “We
think it is high time that we all looked to our interests in this
question,” wrote William S. McCormick in September, 1864,
“. . . when a pound of iron costs as much as a pound of sugar
used to cost.” ®° He felt, however, that an inter-company com-
pact to reduce output and to sell for cash or near-cash terms
exclusively, was as important as an agreement to raise prices.
These three propositions dovetailed, and each depended for its
success upon the faithful carrying out of the other two. If
full payment upon delivery were made the rule, and the price
were raised, doubtless many farmers in the Middle West would
be unable to buy. This being so, common sense dictated that
the output should be curtailed, since otherwise a manufacturer
who was faced with the prospect of holding over a large
number of unsold machines, would slash his prices in order
to dispose of his stock.?® Nor were the McCormicks ready to
pledge themselves to sell in the harvest of 1865 at quotations
determined upon months ahead of time. The political outlook
and the premium on gold, “a good deal like mercury in the
thermometer—never at rest,” were too uncertain to determine
a price schedule so long in advance.®” They were more anxious
to advocate a reduction in the number of new machines to be

%4 Ibid., No. 71, pp. 437-39, 514, 552, 668, 678, the Co. to W. H. B.
Warren, Lafayette, Ind., Dec. 17 and 21, 1863; to D. S. Morgan, Dec. 22,
1863; to W. A. Wood, Dec. 29, 1863; No. 66, p. 113, the Co. to Whiteley,
Fassler & Kelly, Jan. 16, 1864.

95 Ibid., No. 74, p. 801, the Co. to Emerson & Co., Rockford, Ill., Sept. 22,
1864 ; p. 842, to W. H. B. Warren, Sept. 26, 1864; No. 73, pp. 135, 163, the
Co. to R. R. S. Marshall, Elmwood, Ill., Aug. 12, 1864.

6 Ibid., No. 76, pp. 821, 824, the Co. to Emerson & Co., Rockford, Ill,

and to Walter A. Wood, Hoosick Falls, N. Y., Dec. 21, 1864.
97 Ibid., No. 75, p. 532, the Co. to J. Ackerman, Oct. 19, 1864.
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manufactured for 1865, since they had two thousand left over
from the harvest of the preceding summer. These would not
be covered by a price-fixing agreement, and could be used for
“fighting” purposes in case any competitor was so incautious
as to run amuck.

Eastern manufacturers supported the McCormicks’ desire
to sell only for cash, but other midwestern firms would not
agree, urging with much truth that few prairie farmers could
buy unless credit were extended.®® A Cleveland meeting in
September, 1864, accomplished nothing, and when a new con-
ference was called three months later at Buffalo, the Chicago
partners declined to attend. This assembly, presuming to speak
for about fifty manufacturers, established a price list for ma-
chines of the 1865 model, passed an innocuous resolution to
sell for “‘as near cash as possible,” and refused to restrict the
annual output.®® The McCormicks for several months tried to
abide by the figures set by this convention. It was good busi-
ness for them to keep up the price of their new reapers and
mowers until they could dispose of their last year’s surplus at
the price level of 1864 to angry farmers who believed the new
schedule highly unreasonable. By April, events on the field of
battle and the condition of the money market, when combined
with the difficulty of effecting sales, determined the Mec-
Cormicks to steal a march on their competitors and reduce
prices. Farmers would give their favor to the company which
led the retreat, and “we expect it will prove a heavy blow on
rival machines who cannot afford the loss as well as we can.”
This was on May 1, and they pushed down their selling list
almost to its level in the 1864 harvest.1%® Nearly a month later

8 .; Z%id., No. 76, p. 155, the Co. to W. A. Knowlton, Rockford, Ill., Nov.
I4, 1 .

4;9 Ibgi., No. 79, pp. 302-3, the Co. to Agents, Mch. 24, 1865.
100 Jpid., No. 78, p. 452, the Co. to J. Rhodes, Hastings, Minn,, May 3,

1865; No. 78, pp. 246, 388, the Co. to W. C. Stacey, Washington, Ind., Apr.
24, and to Seymour, Morgan & Allen, Apr. 29, 1865. The McCormick two-
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representatives of other firms met at Cleveland and of neces-
sity followed the McCormicks’ lead. Thus the partners played
the game as it was played, and probably echoed the general
sentiment of harvesting machinery manufacturers when they
wrote, on the eve of the Cleveland session: “We . . . don’t
mean to be bound by any further conventions or meetings,
either to raise or lower. We found out there was tricking
about it. . . . We must watch these fellows closely that they
don’t cut under us in price and we are most determined not
to let them.” 101

Well might they assure the farmer that reapers were the
cheapest commodity on the market, and urge their purchase,
whether needed or not, as a good investment looking ahead to
the return of normalcy.?®2 Whenever an advance in price was
announced, the grain-growers knew their cue; boycotted the
machine in question, and talked of joining forces to cut the
grain of their neighborhood with one or two old machines.
Under these circumstances, agents warned the company that a
rival would gain the patronage of a district hitherto loyal to
the McCormicks unless the old price schedule were restored.
This plea was usually effective although the clerks in the
factory office seemed to derive some consolation from remind-
ing the salesmen that “Farmers as a class will grumble
whether prices are high or low; crops good or bad,” and that a
threat to stop buying reapers was merely “bluff.”

All these economical intentions about fitting up old broken down,
far gone and consumptive machines, or the clubbing of men to cut

horse self-rake reaper sold for $168 cash in 1862 and $190 cash in 1864 and
1865.

101 Tpid., No. 80, p. 8, the Co. to W. C. Stacey, Lancaster, O., May 17,
1865. The Cleveland meeting was on May 25.

102 Jhid., No. 66, p. 676; No. 67, pp. 551-2, the Co. to G. Smith, Burnett,
Wis., Feb. 8, 1864, and to P. Mohan, Louisville, Ky., Mch. 14, 1864, respec-
tively. In its advertising circular for 1865, the McC. Co. emphasized that in
spite of the rise in machine prices, fewer bushels of wheat were needed to
buy a reaper in 1865, than in 1862.
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each others grain in succession, is all just moonshine, and will van-
ish before the stern fact that John Doe’s crop won’t wait until
Richard Roe’s and his neighbors’ crops are cut, and John will lose
his patience and get a machine himself. When a woman gets ‘a
love of a bonnet,” you know all her acquaintances must get as good
a hat if they can worry their husbands out of the dimes, and men

act pretty much the same way.**?

The McCormicks were aware that their implements were
helping the Union cause and that every sale of a self-rake
reaper potentially released two or three farm hands for service
in each summer campaign.'®* Even during the dark months
between the election of Lincoln and the first Battle of Bull
Run, they derived some comfort from the knowledge that
grain would have to be grown and that the labor shortage
resulting from a prolonged war would work to their advan-
tage.'% Agricultural associations in the Middle West reminded
farmers that famine had usually accompanied domestic strife
and urged them to double their acreage of grain. Thus the
Executive Committee of the Illinois State Agricultural So-
ciety issued the following appeal in the spring of 1861 :

103 Ibid., No. 67, p. 500, the Co. to D. N. Barnhill, Salem, IIl., Mch. 2,
1864; No. 69, p. 650, to J. L. Briggs, Iowa City, Ia., May 14, 1864.

104 Ibid., No. 41, p. 699, W. S. McCormick to D. Zimmerman, Cordova,
I, May 16, 1861: “Let us see if we can sell out our stock of reapers &
enable the Farmers to act their part by furnishing plenty of bread for the
Army & everybody else.” The McCormicks had a few experimental self-rake
reapers in the harvest of 1861; 200 in 1862, 2000 in 1863, 4000 in 1864, and
4750 in 1865. Iowa furnished over 40,000 soldiers to the northern armies
and Illinois over 100,000.

105 Ibid., No. 37, p. 276, the Co. to I. Goon, Marshallville, O., Dec. 5,
1860: “Then you know that if we fight, bread will be in demand & Reapers
will sell.” No. 37, p. 686, W. S. McCormick to J. Henry, Dec. 18, 1860: “At
all events we must work & eat & the Farmers must buy reapers.” No. 38,
p. 180, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, Jan. 9, 1861; No. 41, p. 115, the Co.
to H. G. Grattan, Pittsburgh, Pa., Apr. 20, 1861. Harvest hands by 1864
commanded a daily wage of from $3 to $5. Ibid., No. 73, pp. 477-79, the Co.
to E. A. McNair, Davenport, Ia., July 19, 1864.
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Let us exhort you to till this year every productive acre of your
soil. Let no excitement, no interest in the stirring events of the
day interrupt the operations of the farm. .. . Your market is
certain, and all history is a lie if it shall not be remunerative.

We urge you then to strain every nerve; your interest financially
cannot fail to be promoted by it, while your country and the cause
of humanity alike demand it.*°®

As early as 1861 the letters, and soon the advertisements, of
the McCormicks equated machines and soldiers. The two hun-
dred and fifty thousand reapers and mowers sold during the
war, when added to those in use at the outset of the struggle,
were equivalent to many men in the harvest fields.1%” In 1863,
the secretary of the State Agricultural Society of Iowa deemed
it to be “a fact worthy of attention that, while all other crops
show a deficiency, the wheat crop has increased fifty per cent
the past three years.” 18 “Don’t be so blue over the prospects,”
a reaper agent at Concord, Illinois, was told by his employer
in May, 1864, “Remember 20,000 militia have to leave this

106 “Transactions of the Illinois State Agricultural Society” V (1861-
1864), pp. 10-11; Broadside (no place, but dated Apr. 29, 1861), beginning
“War, and Famine—Plant Double Your Usual Amount of Land,” cited on
pp. 8-9 of Catalog, No. 54, Argosy Book Stores, Inc., New York City.

107 The McCormick Co. sold 5550 in 1861; 5050 in 1862; 3933 in 1863;
5000 in 1864. #A printed leaflet, entitled “Harvester Builders, 1864,” lists
203 makers of reapers and mowers in the United States and estimates that
they produced over 87,000 machines. It is significant that very few of them
had largely increased their annual output since 1861, and even less were
making more each year than the McCormicks. Of the 203, 17 were in New
England, 50 in N. Y, 6 in N. J., 10 in Del. and Md,, 40 in Pa., 28 in Ohio,
18 in Ill, 17 in Wis,, 3 in Mich., and 1 each in Ky., Mo., and Iowa. In the
“Annual Report of the Massachusetts Board of Agriculture” (Boston), Vol.
XXI (1873-1874), pp. 32-37, it is stated that in 1864 there were 187 reaper
and mower factories, employing over 60,000 people, and annually producing
about 100,000 machines, worth over $15,000,000.

108 “Ninth Report of the Secretary of the State Agricultural Society to
the Governor of the State for the Year 1863” (Des Moines, Ia., 1864), p.
7; “Proceedings of the Wisconsin State Historical Society” (Madison,
Wis.), 1908, p. 255.
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state for 100 days, and these men will have to come, many
or a large share of them, from the farms.” 109

High prices, patriotism, favoring weather, and appeals simi-
lar to the one just cited, stimulated small-grain production
in the United States during the Civil War. All of these in-
centives would have been of little avail if grain-growers,
handicapped by a curtailed labor supply, had still been depend-
ing upon the cradle-scythe to cut their harvest. The domestic
demand for grain was satisfied and a much larger surplus than
ever before was available for export.?*® England and Russia
suffered from poor harvests for several years during the Civil
War period. French crops were very light in 1861 and those of
the Danube Valley were equally so in 1863 and 1865.1** “The
cotton of the South is doubtless very important to the interests
of the Districts referred to in M. Thouvenel’s Despatch,” the
United States Ambassador to France informed W. H. Seward
in November, 1861, “but the bread of the North and West is
an absolute necessity. Cut off from it just now and a month
would not pass without the danger of a terrible revolution
in France.” **2 In how far the dependence of England and

109 L.P.C.B. No. 69, p. 367, the Co. to J. B. Fairbank & Son, Concord,
1L, May 4, 1864; No. 69, p. 133, to Goetschius & Holtz, Ottawa, O., Apr.
26, 1864. See also, the catalogs of the McCormick Co. for 1863 and 1864.

110 The value of the total agr'l. exports of the U. S. in 1860 was approxi-
mately $91,000,000, of which southern ports sent out about $20,000,000 worth.
In 1861, with a million men under arms and few southern exports, the total
value reached $137,000,000. In 1862, with a million men changed from pro-
ducers to consumers (perhaps one-half from the farms), $155,000,000.
“Genesee Farmer” (Rochester, N. Y.), Sept. 1863, p. 290.

111 “Scientific American,” Oct. 4, 1862, p. 215. Grain crops were light
in England in every year between 1861 and 1867 (both inc.) except 1863.

112 W. L. Dayton to W. H. Seward, Nov. 25, 1861, Archives of U. S.
State Department, Diplomatic Correspondence, 1861-1863, France, MS.
Dispatch, No. 86. See also, MS. Dispatch No. 75, “Confidential,” W. H.
Seward to W. L. Dayton, Oct. 30, 1861. For different views of the influence
of grain upon the official attitude of England and France toward the Civil
War, see L. B. Schmidt, “The Influence of Wheat and Cotton on Anglo-
American Relations During the Civil War,” in “The Iowa Journal of His-
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France upon grain from the United States was a factor in
restraining those nations from recognizing the independence of
the Confederacy, is a question which probably admits of no
certain answer. It is perhaps significant, however, that their
need for foreign wheat was the greatest in the early years of
the war when the North had the most reason to fear that
they would intervene.

The stirring events in forum and field were almost unmen-
tioned in the thousands of letters mailed annually by the Mec-
Cormick factory office between 1861 and 1865. Fredericksburg
signified that the premium on gold might rise, and Lee’s
march to Gettysburg that fewer reaper sales might be expected
in Maryland and Pennsylvania. Judging from the silence of
this correspondence, there was no Emancipation Proclamation,
the siege of Vicksburg and Petersburg are myths, Lee did not
surrender, and Lincoln was never assassinated. Business did
not go on as usual, but it was all-absorbing.**3
tory and Politics” (Iowa City), July, 1018, pp. 400-439; Wm. Trimble,
“Historical Aspects of the Surplus Food Production of the United States,
1862-1902,” in “Annual Report of the American Historical Association,”
1918 (Wash,, 1921), I, pp. 223-239; E. D. Adams, “Great Britain and the
American Civil War” (N. Y., 1925), II, p. 13.

13T, P.C.B. No. 35, p. 516, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Dec. 15, 1862;
No. 61, p. 234, the Co. to I. Dickey & Co., Pittsburgh, Pa., June 16, 1863.



CHAPTER IV

BUILDING A FORTUNE DURING YEARS OF DEPRESSION
AND CIVIL WAR

HE first ten years of manufacturing reapers and mowers
in Chicago made Cyrus McCormick a millionaire. At
the close of the harvest of 1856 he was told that his profits for
the season would probably total $300,000, and by then he had
little more than sampled the immense field of sale in the
Mississippi Valley.! In the main, his money had come from
the farmers who had purchased his machines, rather than from
patent fees or damages won in suits for infringements. A
not inconsiderable item, however, was the value of his factory
site with its three hundred feet of river frontage near the heart
of the busy city. Purchased for about $25,000, this plot of
ground was now conservatively estimated to be worth at least
four times as much.> Hitherto he had put back much of his
profits into the business, erecting new buildings, installing
additional machinery, and improving his dock.® To continue
to concentrate his fortune upon a single enterprise was in-
advisable in view of the threatening economic situation in
the Middle West by 1857. His wealth, beyond the needs of
his factory, demanded prudent investment in days of financial
depression and civil war. How to conserve and to employ it
wisely came gradually to occupy more of his attention than
his plant in Chicago.

*L.P.C.B. No. 5, p. 561, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 14, 1857.
2MS. “Diary of Greenlee Davidson,” entry of Sept. 19, 1856.
8 “Lexington Gazette” (Lexington, Va.), Apr. 28, 1850.

100
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Fortunately for him, by the time he was ready to widen
his financial interests, his two brothers were prepared to stand
in his stead in the office and construction department of his
factory. He could be away for a large part of each year with
the confident knowledge that he was ably represented there.
William S. McCormick was his chief reliance, and until 1865
loyally shouldered many of his responsibilities, shrewdly in-
vesting large amounts of his funds and acting as a buffer for
him when times were tense in the early days of the Civil War.

Although William S. had much business acumen, he dis-
liked the confinement of the office and was happiest when at
his “home” in Virginia or in a harvest field near Chicago ex-
perimenting with some new device.* He was unjust to himself
when he claimed that he lacked mechanical talent, for the
development of a good mower between 1854 and 1860 was due
in no small measure to his skill. Like his older brother, he
did not know how to relax. He carried his business worries
with him on his annual hunting and fishing trips to northern
Wisconsin or Minnesota, and often made an office of his home
after the day’s work at the factory was over.? His letters
reveal him toiling long hours at his desk, and after a sleepless
night, arising be-times to hurry without breakfast to the
country to test a mower while the dew was on the grass.®

He derived little pleasure from the company of those who
were endeavoring to make a ‘“fashionable” Chicago society, al-
though he naturally was pleased to note that his rapid rise

41 P.CB. No. 1, pp. 338, 365, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, May 7, 8,
1856. Mary Ann to Nettie F. McCormick, July o and Sept. 1, 1858.

5 L.P.C.B. No. 31, p. 829, W. S. McCormick to T. J. Massie, Lovingston,
Va., May 10, 1860; No. 42, p. 403, the McCormick Co. to J. Rhodes,
Hastings, Minn., June 3, 1861. As a rule, railroads which carried McCormick
machines were willing to transport W. S. McCormick, his hunting party,
his tents, wagons, etc., without charge. Ibid., No. 62, p. 400, the McCormick
Co. to G. C. Dunlap, Supt. of N. Western RR,, July 10, 1863.

8 Mary Ann to Nettie F. McCormick, Sept. 1, 1858. L.P.C.B. No. 14, p.
439, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, Christian’s Creek, Va., Aug. 28, 1858.
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won him recognition from its inner circle. Success in business
was the “open sesame” to the homes of the great of Chicago
and few men there were among the élite at an evening “affair”
who could not be found at their desks early the next morning.
William came to be enough of a Chicagoan to have great faith
in the future of his city and to write frequently to friends
of the ease with which money could be made there.” In spirit,
however, he remained the southern farmer, dreaming of the
time when he could live the year around amid the simple
neighborliness of his Virginia country-side.® His devoted wife,
Mary Ann Grigsby, whose brother was to don a Confederate
uniform, shared his longing for her native valley. After ten
years in Chicago she could still write: “What a pity this
[Illinois] wasn’t a slave state because so easily cultivated.” ®
William S. McCormick’s dislike of indoor work was in-
tensified after 1856 by ill health. Probably with justice he
attributed his dyspepsia to nervous exhaustion and lack of
exercise. But he confessed that he had “been a hearty eater
of everything eatable almost,” and while this habit brought no
penalty during his youthful years at “Walnut Grove,” it was
unsuited to his more sedentary life in the city. By 1859 under
doctor’s orders, he was accustoming himself with difficulty to
a regimen of stale bread, eggs, milk and vegetables.® On his
saddle horse, or by an evening’s rivalry with his kinsfolk and
church friends in the gymnasium of his new house in Chicago,
he tried without success to recapture the physical well-being

7 Ibid., No. 1, p. 308, W. S. McCormick to A. D. Hager, Proctorsville,
Vt.,, May o9, 1856, and in No. 5, p. 322, to J. M. Lilley, Greenville, Va., Feb.
25, 1857.

8 L.P.C.B. No. 31, pp. 759-762, W. S. McCormick to A. Leyburn, Lexing-
ton, Va., May 8, 1860.

9 Mary A. McCormick to L. P. Grigsby, Hickory Hill, Va., Aug. 10,
1858.

101..P.C.B. No. 24, p. 167, W. S. McCormick to Dr. G. R. Woods, Phila.,
Oct. 18 and 19, 1850,
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he had known in Virginia.** His business judgment remained
as keen as ever, but he was aware that he had paid a heavy
price for his small fortune.

Shortly after William and his brother, Leander, came to
Chicago to live, they began to invest in real estate the small
surplus left each year from their salaries.*® Soon with the con-
sent of their elder brother, they borrowed in advance of wages
due, whenever a favorable opportunity to purchase property
presented itself.?® So alluring were the prospects of a large re-
turn that William tried for a half-dozen years to find a buyer
for the old home of the family in Virginia in order to have
additional capital for his speculations in Chicago.’* Memories
of his youth, awakened by a long visit to the farm in the
summer of 1859, weakened his determination to raise money
by selling the homestead to a stranger.!® Thereafter, he planted
a new orchard, repaired the fences, and drained the fields.*®
When the war came and the plantation was threatened with
sequestration by the state as the property of an alien enemy,

11 Jbid., No. 29, p. 569; No. 30, pp. 246-248, 739, W. S. McCormick to
L. G. Hamilton, Fancy Hill, Va., Jan. 27, 1860; to L. Grigsby, Feb. 18,
1860, and to J. B. McCormick, Mch. 7, 1860.

12 Jpid., No. 5, p. 132, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 6, 1857; No. 6, p-
106, to J. Shields, Apr. 11, 1857.

18 C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 12, 1857. L.P.C.B. No. 5, pp. 501,
824; No. 6, pp. 112, 304, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 14, 27, Apr. 7,
16, 1857; No. 28, p. 738, to L. G. Hamilton, Fancy Hill, Va., Apr. 9, 1860.
No. 11, pp. 217 ff. According to this financial statement of Feb. 27, 1858,
W. S. owed C. H. McCormick over $21,000; Hugh Adams owed him over
$14,000, and J. Shields, about $5,000.

14 C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Feb. 7 and 12, 1857. L.P.C.B. No. 10,
pp. 662, 860, W. S. McCormick to T. Berry, Feb. 8, 1858; to R. T. Elkin-
ton, Phila., Mch. 1, 1858; No. 11, p. 127, to J. Campbell, Westons, N. J.,
Mch. 11, 1858. .

15 Mary Ann to Nettie F. McCormick, Jan. 17, 1859. W. S. to C. H.
McCormick, July 6, 1859. L.P.C.B. No. 33, p. 606, W. S. McCormick to
J. Campbell, Westons, N. J., Aug. 18, 1860. He would still sell “Walnut
Grove” for $20,000.

18 Ibid., No. 35, p. 720, W. S. McCormick to J. Murdock, Pittsburgh, Pa.,
Oct. 12, 1860.
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he transferred it to his sister-in-law in the Valley, in discharge
of what was said to be a bona fide debt of about $7,000.'7
Little shrewdness was needed in order to make money in
Chicago in the early 1850’s. A “neat” two-story frame dwell-
ing could be built for $5,000 and rented for $700 or $800 a
year, or sold upon its completion at an advance of at least
twenty per cent over the first cost. To purchase a lot and hold
it for a rise in value was equally remunerative. The brothers
prospered, and like others who were also “on the make,” they
migrated as often within the restricted area of the “North
Side” as pioneers who were ever seeking a new frontier. To
build a house, live in it for a time, sell out at a profit, and
then move to another dwelling where the process could be re-
peated, was the formula whereby both Leander and William
attained a modest competence during their first ten years in
Chicago.’® On the eve of the Civil War they had risen both
economically and socially to the class which could afford to
have a permanent residence, while continuing to keep their
money active by the purchase and sale of desirable proper-
ties.?® The residential district north of the Chicago River was
probably the most exclusive in the city. Here, by 18509, the
four families of the McCormick clan had gathered, each in its
own hotne, with a broad, shaded lawn over-looking the lake
and several, at least, with their cows in the stable behind the

17 MS., Defense by J. G. Davidson and Emma Grigsby vs. J. G. Slack,
Confederate Receiver, before Judge J. W. Brockenbrough of the District Ct.
of the Confed. States, Western Dist. of Va. The property was saved and by
1865, at least, was occupied by J. G. Hamilton as a tenant of W. S. Mec-
Cormick. W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 9, 1865; J. G. Davidson to
J. G. Hamilton, Feb. 23, 1866.

18 Letters from W. S. McCormick in L.P.C.B. No. 1, p. 365, to C. H.
McCormick, May 8, 1856; No. 9, p. 700, to J. B. McCormick, Dec. 3,
1857, No. 10, p. 141, to Emma Grigsby, Jan. 4, 1858; No. 19, p. 865, to
Jacqueline Grigsby, Apr. 30, 1830.

19 In fact, L. J. McCormick built a new residence “as handsome as any
in the City” for a home in 1863. Mary Ann to Nettie F. McCormick, Oct.
21-22, 1863.
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house.2° Friends from the Old Dominion came to marvel at
their rise. One of them was moved to confide to his diary:
“A man with money at his command is a fool to stay in
Virginia. With judicious management he can make his for-
tune here in 10 years. . . . The go-a-headitiveness of the
people exceeds anything I ever conceived of. It is one con-
tinuous rush & hurry.” 2*

Cyrus McCormick began to purchase residence lots in Chi-
cago at least as early as 1854, but owing to the attractiveness
of other investments and the financial demands of his business
during the several years when collections from sales were very
light, it is probable that his holdings by 1860, exclusive of
the factory and its site, were not as valuable as those of either
William or Leander.22 The coming of the Panic of 1857 and
its four years’ aftermath of low rents and real estate values—
particularly of business properties—led him and others who
were confident of Chicago’s great future to extend their pur-
chases.28 As the most important of these deals, in 1860 he
acquired the Revere House, which had been the first five-story
brick building in the city at the time of its erection by Isaac
Cook seven years before.?*

20 T, P.C.B. No. 40, p. 103, W. S. McCormick to H. S. Champlin, Mch. 22,
1861.

21 MS. “Diary of Greenlee Davidson,” entry of Sept. 16, 1856.

22 “Democratic Press” (Chicago), Dec. 4, 1854; J. Forsythe, Chicago,
to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 24, 1855; C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 1,
1856; L.P.C.B. No. 11, pp. 217 ff., W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 11, 1858.
W. S. believed that his brother’s land in Chicago, including the factory site,
was worth about $100,000. The factory buildings and its machinery were
valued at $50,000, and materials on hand, $60,000.

23 C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Sept. 1, 5, Oct. 7, 1857. L.P.C.B. No. 11,
p. 806, W. S. McCormick to J. T. Griffin, Apr. 16, 1858, and No. 20, p. 334,
to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 16, 1859.

24 The Revere House at the corner of Randolph and Dearborn sts. was
formerly the Young America Hotel. In 1860, C. H. McCormick had it
pulled down to make way for his McCormick Block. Several years later
the partners acquired the old Foster House at the cormer of Clark and
Kinzie sts. After remodeling it at a cost of about $33,000, they opened it
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As an investment, iron and lumber were purchased at low
prices for factory use in advance of need. During this period
McCormick joined with J. Watson Webb of the “New York
Courier and Inquirer” to secure coal-mining rights in the
Laurel Hill property of about 1700 acres on the Guyandotte
River in western Virginia. When Webb was unable to repay
a loan made to him by McCormick, he transferred his interest
in this concession to the inventor.?®

McCormick declined to enter the private banking business
although money borrowed in New York at seven or eight
per cent a year could be loaned in Chicago on short term and
with good real estate security at from one and one-half to two
per cent a month. Nevertheless, William S., with his more
intimate knowledge of the financial opportunities of his city,
braved his brother’s displeasure by using in this way some of
the money sent in by reaper agents during 1857.2¢ Although
Cyrus was unwilling to launch upon an enterprise with which
he was wholly unfamiliar, he was attracted by the profits made
annually by the Marine Bank in Chicago. When he heard that
some of the most solid men of the city, including George
Armour, William Ogden, and Wesley Munger, were about
to open a new financial institution to be called the Merchants’
Savings Loan and Trust Company, he purchased $20,000
worth of its stock.?” It was an excellent investment, although
the bank did not fulfill his early hopes of permitting him to

in the spring of 1864 under the name of the Revere House. C. H. Mc-
Cormick purchased the original Revere House for about $60,000. See also,
post, ftn. 8z '

25 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, May 30, 1857. £]J. W. Webb to C. H. Mc-
Cormick, Oct. 3, 1859 and Mch. 31, 1870. ¥L.P.C.B., No. 1, 2nd ser., p. 118,
C. H. McCormick to J. W. Webb, June 6, 1870. McCormick here stated
that his deed for this property was destroyed when his luggage was burned
in Mch. 1862. See, post, p. 756.

26 C, H. to W. S. McCormick, Apr. 20, 1857. W. S. had a power of
attorney from C. H. McCormick.

27 Idem to Idem, Apr. 9, 15, 17, 1857.
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borrow on easy terms.?® He continued to look to New York
City when loans were needed, and the Importers’ and Traders’
National Bank there was for many years his principal place
of deposit.

Strongly believing in family solidarity, and wishing his
two sisters to share in his prosperity, he persuaded Hugh
Adams and his wife, Amanda McCormick, to exchange Vir-
ginia for Chicago as a home. Mrs. Adams was glad to be
relieved of “the care and responsibility of a family of col-
lored [stc] people” and her husband with the aid of the Mc-
Cormick name and money was soon established as a commis-
sion merchant, using a part of a factory building as his ware-
house.?® This promised to be better than storekeeping and
farming in the Valley, particularly since he handled all grain
taken in exchange for reapers.®® In like manner, but without

28 Jdem to Idem, Dec. 16, 1857. McCormick was a trustee of this bank
for about ten years, although he attended few, if any, meetings of the board.
In 1866 he declined to exercise his option as a stock-holder, to purchase 250
more shares of stock, but by 1871 his investment in the bank had increased
to $25,000. L.P.C.B. No. o1, p. 486, C. H. McCormick to L. J. Gage,
Aug. 1, 1866; No. 95, p. 612, C. A. Spring to C. H. McCormick,
Feb. 18, 1867; No. 121, p. 420, C. A. Spring, Jr, to C. H. McCormick,
Sept. 5, 1870. As late as 1882, the Merchants’ Savings Loan and Trust Co.
handled the Chicago account of the McCormick Harvesting Machine Com-
pany, and C. H. McCormick, Jr., was then one of its board of trustees.
In 1873, the elder McCormick was a director of the Security Savings Bank,
located in his Reaper Block in Chicago.

20 L.P.C.B. No. 8, pp. 534, 654, W. S. McCormick to H. Adams, Aug. 21,
1857, and to J. B. McCormick, Sept. 5, 1857. “Daily Chicago Times,” May 17,
1859. Amanda J. Adams to Nettie F. McCormick, Mch. 13, 1858. This was
the commission house of C. H. McCormick & Co. H. Adams received a
salary from the McCormick brothers, and they apparently supplied all the
capital used by this Co. until 1866. In that year its office was moved to
La Salle St.: “on account of the river being so unhealthy & at times un-
bearable from the dreadful odors.” Mary Adams to Nettie F. McCormick,
May 20, 1866. ¥L. J. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 3, 1866.

30 During the war, C. H. McCormick & Co. was “handling the pork of
some very heavy pork men on the Miss. River.” L.P.C.B. No. 65, p. 823,
W. S. McCormick to B. Mills, LaCrescent, Minn., Nov. 24, 1863.
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success, the McCormicks sought to provide their other brother-
in-law, James Shields, with a lumber business and guarantee
him from loss.?* But Shields was a minister and his poor
health and unwillingness to enter trade 32 held him on his little
living in the mountains of Pennsylvania until his death in
1862, while on a hunting trip with William S. McCormick.
Thereafter his widow, Mary Caroline McCormick, moved with
her two children to Chicago.?

Cyrus McCormick was aware that his wealth had come
more directly from his success as a manufacturer than from
his possession of several important patents. His brothers also
stressed the fact that without their aid his large profits during
the 1850’s would not have been possible. They felt that they
had done most of the work and by their ingenuity had kept
the McCormick reaper and mower in step with the progress
of the art, while their brother spent the larger part of each
year in the East. He wrote to them from Philadelphia and
Washington, from ocean resorts, and the springs of New
York, Virginia, and Vermont, and told them confidentially of
his dinners and carriage-drives with the Commissioner of
Patents while he was trying to secure an extension or reissue

31L.P.C.B. No. 6, pp. 196, 304, W. S. McCormick to J. Shields, Apr. 11,
1857; to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 16, 1857; No. 8, pp. 521, 816, to Caroline
Shields, Aug. 21, 1857, and to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 19, 1857.

32 Shields, through W. S. McCormick, had purchased at least one house
in Chicago. In 1860-61, it was occupied by Dr. Rice. Ibid., No. 49, p. 577,
W. S. McCormick to J. Shields, June 4, 1862.

33 Ibid., No. 60, p. 290, the Co. to S. Cuthbert & Sons, Juniata, Pa.,
May 25, 1863. The Shields’ 52-acre farm at Mexico, Pa., was offered @
$100 an acre, and 200 acres in the Western Reserve of Ohio @ $20 an acre,
cash. Following her husband’s death, Mrs. Shields lived in W. S. McCor-
mick’s home in Chicago until the autumn of 1865, when she moved to a
house on Rush St. C. A. Spring, Jr.,, to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 26, 1865.
She moved several times during the next three years and L. J. McCormick
aided her with money. Finally in 1868, L. J. and C. H. McCormick agreed
to contribute 14rd and 2%4rds of the cost, respectively, to the erection of
houses for both her and Amanda Adams. Mary Caroline McCormick died
on Mch. 18, 1888, and Amanda Adams on Oct. 12, 1809I.
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of his monopolies. Now and again he would take a hurried
trip to Chicago to talk about family affairs, but he came
mainly, it seemed, to have a financial accounting and to make
sure of their devotion to his interests at the factory.3* They
knew how much money he was making each year and how
very small their own salaries seemed by comparison. Mary
Ann McCormick, worried by the strenuous routine of her
husband, told a long story in a single sentence when she wrote
to her brother, “C. H. is the picture of health, he takes it easy
and thinks after all he does the hardest of the work.” This
verdict was unjust but it was not an unnatural one.3%

In early 1857 William S. McCormick bluntly told his elder
brother that he “calculated upon something considerable more
than a salery [sic] out of the business.” ¢ Soon Leander
threatened to resign unless he were better provided for. “As
I have said to you I have done not a Iittle for the machine
and I am resolved not to be satisfied without a pretty strong
interest if I remain in the business.” 3" The brothers were
financially unprepared to purchase an interest in the factory,
but on the other hand Cyrus McCormick realized that their
skill and experience made their services invaluable to him.
Finally, near the close of 1859, a firm was organized under a
twelve years’ agreement. Its style was C. H. McCormick &
Bros., and the inventor was to supply all the needed capital
at eight per cent interest. He agreed to furnish new factory
machinery at cost and to rent the plant to the company for
$10,000 a year. The brothers should each receive an annual

34 Ibid., No. 8, p. 495, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, Aug. 17, 1857; C. H.
to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 30, 1858.

85 Mary Ann McCormick to L. P. Grigsby, Aug. 10, 1858.

36 ..P.C.B. No. 6, p. 112, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 7, 1857.

3TL. J. to W. S. McCormick, July 1, 1850. L. J. had evidently written
in a similar vein in 1858. C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Oct. 30, 1858: “I
think he [L. J. McCormick] regretted the course he took with me, and [I]
have no idea it would be his nterest to leave the business.”
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salary of $5,000 and each was allotted one-fourth of the net
profits. They guaranteed that they would not manufacture
harvesting machinery elsewhere or work for another reaper-
builder during the life of the contract. On his part Cyrus also
pledged that he would not erect a branch factory although he
reserved the right to license others under his patents. It was
emphasized that “no actual partnership” existed, probably be-
cause the eldest brother assumed all the financial risk and fur-
nished the entire capital.®® That same autumn he moved with
his wife and son, who had been born in May of that year at
Washington, to 230 North Dearborn Street, Chicago. There
was a lull in his patent and lawsuit business in the East and
he had been eager for several years to settle down and make
a real home.®® He at once surprised his brothers by taking
more interest than was his wont in the details of factory opera-
tion and management. “Bro. C. H. is having a say so in
almost everything now-a-days,” wrote William, with perhaps
a tinge of regret because his word was no longer law in the
routine affairs of the plant.*® William’s health improved, now
that he was receiving a return commensurate with the value
of his services.*!

By 1860, however, politics, the new seminary, a newspaper,
a religious journal, and his effort to secure an extension of

38 This is a summary of two agreements, one made on Nov. 1, 1859, and
the other on Jan. 1, 1860. It is interesting to note that even at this late
date W. S. McCormick was not certain that he would long remain in the
business. L.P.C.B. No. 26, p. 444, W. S. McCormick to L. J. Hamilton,
Fancy Hill, Va., Dec. 17, 1850.

39 Cyrus Rice McCormick was born on May 16, 1859. About 1870, his
name was changed to Cyrus Hall McCormick. In “Nettie F. McCormick
B. A files is an envelop dated May 24, 1869, and marked Cyrus Rice
McCormick. In a letter to W. S. McCormick on Jan. 12, 1858, C. H. Mc-
Cormick expressed his regret that his long absences from Chicago had
allowed him to make few close friends there. L.P.C.B. No. 29, p. 480.

40 Ibid., No. 24, p. 516, W. S. McCormick to G. Walker, Ann Arbor,

Mich.,, Nov. 4, 1850.
41 Ibid., No. 26, p. 78, W. S. McCormick to J. Shields, Dec. 3, 1850.
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his patent of 1847 kept the inventor too occupied to give much
thought to his factory. Since he was abroad during the two
most critical years of the conflict, the task of investing the
company’s funds fell largely upon the shoulders of William.
Suffering in mind and in body, and unsympathetic toward
the objectives of the war, he viewed his work without en-
thusiasm. The bright future in store for the Northwest, Chi-
cago, and the McCormick factory, were the only articles of
his old faith which seemed to him worth preserving during
the crisis. Former values were swept away, close friendships
broken, and to use his own words, “a good deal of humility
has had to be endured on account of our position.” *2

Now our hearts sicken at the spectacle that is presented [he
confided to a friend in Virginia]. We are attending closely to our
business. We see few people on the streets & corners & say but
little & hope & pray that an all wise Providence may overrule all
the evil, that is now so much in the ascendent, for good. We expect
our relations & friends & acquaintainces for whom we have a high
regard will be slain in this war—We think & talk much about it.
Our little circle meet very often to think & talk of what is going
on & can hardly realize the condition of things in & around our
native State & the Home of our Fathers & Mothers.*

To him, and to others in the company office who reflected his
opinion, it would have been better “if old Buck had remained
President for a dozen years longer.” #* “All is treason that is
not fanaticism,” and “with stamp duty, taxes, conscription,
paper trash, and bastiles, we begin to feel respect for the
more liberal and moderate laws of Russia and Austria.” *5

42W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 6, 1864.

431, P.C.B. No. 42, p. 40, W. S. McCormick to W. T. Rush, May 22,
1861; No. 41, p. 377, to J. B. McCormick, May 3, 1861.

44 Jbid., No. 44, p. 28, W. S. to J. B. McCormick, July 15, 1861: “These
are most glorious Lincoln Republican times to be sure. . .. Verily Demo-
cratic sins are nothing to the Sins of these Times.”

45 Ibid.,, No. 58, p. 249, W. J. Hanna to W. A. Polk, Oak Station, Ind,,
Mch. 26, 1863.
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In this atmosphere of dissent the McCormick reaper busi-
ness was carried on from 1861 to 1865. The prosperity of
northern manufacturer and farmer during the Civil War has
often been emphasized. Mill-owners became millionaires.
Grain-growers paid their old debts and in many instances
contracted new ones before the struggle was over. Little at-
tention, however, has been given by writers to the puzzling
problems arising daily for solution by a manufacturer whose
wealth could not increase rapidly unless the farmers enjoyed
“flush times.” The experiences of the harvest of 1861, with
its changes in outlook so unexpected that the most careful
planning was of no avail, were duplicated a hundred-fold dur-
ing the next four years. They partially explain why men who
were growing rich beyond their fondest dreams, became old
before their time, and prayed for the war to end despite its
heavy yield of prosperity. A Federal defeat, a new tax law,
a quick rise or fall in the premium on gold, appeared to signify
all the difference between large profits and bankruptcy. Look-
ing back upon these years, it would now appear that more gain
or less gain, not ruin or riches, hinged upon the choice of one
or another of the several investment projects so often under
consideration.

At the outset of the struggle, when prices were still low
and agents were unable to collect for the reapers and mowers
sold, the McCormicks gloomily predicted that the situation
would not improve until peace came. They talked much about
economizing, reducing the force in field and factory, and sail-
ing under bare poles as long as the hurricane lasted.*® It would

46 L.P.C.B. No. 44, p. 730, W. S. McCormick to D. Zimmerman, Cordova,
Ill, Aug. 8, 1861: “If this war is to be waged indefinitely, I believe we
shall all be nearly ruined. We just now begin to see the veil lifted. We
shall be burdened with taxes & low prices & I ask the question, is there at
the end of this war the gold that is to compensate us for “the blood &
treasure that our Rulers are so lavishly pouring out. I love the Union but
will our Rulers save it so as to be a blessing?” Emphasis on economizing
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perhaps be better, in their opinion, to cease manufacturing al-
together, for the enormous crop of 1861 and the closure of
the southern market for grain, signified that farmers would
have no money to spend for reapers.*” But when times im-
proved in the autumn of 1861, the chief question was no
longer where money might be borrowed to keep the wheels
turning, but how to invest safely the cash that was flowing
to the factory office from the farms of the Northwest. The
cash, however, had no certain value and the improvement of
the currency situation in the Middle West by late 1861 was
largely counteracted by measures of the national government
during the next ten years. The greenbacks issued in 1862 and
thereafter, added to the confusion although the McCormicks
foresaw as early as December of the previous year that gold
would probably go to a heavy premium.*® The National Bank-
ing Act of 1863 had a depressing effect upon state bank-note
issues, the only circulating medium that was current in many
rural districts of the Old Northwest. To invest in those un-
certain times meant not only to make the difficult choice of a
reasonably safe project that would probably yield an attractive
return upon the sum ventured, but also to decide wisely in
haste before the funds available had further depreciated.

The more cheerful note of the factory correspondence in
the autumn of 1861 was replaced by hysteria in late December
when the crisis over the Trent Affair led William S. Mec-
Cormick to telegraph his New York bankers to convert all
company funds into gold and express the metal to Chicago as

continued throughout the war. See, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 15,
1863.

#7L.P.C.B. No. 44, p. 28, No. 45, p. 300, W. S. to J. B. McCormick,
July 15 and Sept. 2, 1861. As late as mid-Oct., 1861, the firm had not begun
to manufacture for 1862. See, Ibid., No. 46, p. 434, the Co. to S. H.
Mitchell, Concord, Ill, Oct. 16, 1861. W. S. McCormick did not foresee the
large foreign market for northern grain.

48 Ibid., No. 54, p. 110, W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 24, 1861.



114 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

a safeguard against the anticipated bombardment of the
eastern metropolis by English warships.#® With this danger
averted and grain once again resuming its upward trend,’°
optimism returned for a few months.

But the failure of the military campaigns of 1862 to end
the war, the issuance of the Emancipation Proclamation, and
the realization that Lincoln would not change his policy in
spite of his rebuff by many voters in the by-elections of that
year, reduced William McCormick to despair.’® Ill health and
overwork doubtless helped to determine his outlook. For
eleven months following the Federal rout at the second battle
of Manassas in August, 1862, he saw no light.5? He, and
those in the company office during that anxious time, wrote
often of “the fiery ordeal through which we shall have to
pass,” and of “the big smash-up which seems to be peeping
around the corners of the future.” ®® William’s letters are
filled with references to the over-extension of government
credits, the probable repudiation of the national debt, the im-
minent ‘“‘commercial revolution,” and of two hundred thousand
dissatisfied Union soldiers marching home before long under

49 Jbid., No. 54, p. 107, Idem to idem, Dec. 23, 1861.

50 Ibid., No. 54, p. 293, the Co. to J. Rodermel, Freeport, Ill, Dec. 31,
1861.

51'W.S. to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 28, 1862. In this letter, he wondered
whether, in view of possible anarchy in the North, it might not be wise to
transfer their fortune and factory to Europe. Idem to idem, Oct. 5, 1862,
“I feel our ship is sinking. . . . Things look black as midnight.” See also
his letters to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 25, Oct. 19, Nov. 9, 1862, and Mch. 1,
1863.

52From the northern victories at Vicksburg and Gettysburg until 1865,
his general opinion as to the military outcome of the war is summarized
in the following sentence from a letter to C. H. McCormick on July 2, 1863.
“It would seem that by numbers & brute force the South must gradually
be crushed.” C. H. McCormick did not agree with this prophecy. See, supra,
Pp. 57, 61.

58 L.P.C.B. No. 57, pp. 208, 216, the Co. to E. A. McNair, Davenport, Ia.,
and to Bass & Elmendorf, McGregor, Ia., Feb. 21, 1863.
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the lead of “a Jacobin.” 5* In his opinion a civil war might
possibly be avoided in the North if the government were
shrewd enough to pledge a fifty per cent redemption of its
enormous debt. To pay it dollar for dollar was unthinkable.?®

“I assure you,” he wrote his elder brother, “I think enough
upon the various questions I have to act upon to make a man
grey.” %8 But Cyrus McCormick had no encouraging word to
send him from England, and in fact did little more than to
criticize the investments which his brother made after so much
tortured study. Both in building reapers at the factory and in
using the money of the firm, ‘“be cautious,” was the burden of
the inventor’s letters during his two years abroad. He was ad-
vised by Junius Morgan and Charles Francis Adams to avoid
borrowing for purposes of investment, to place surplus funds
in land, and to contract business as much as possible.

That the revulsion must come is considered certain. The N. W,
has not yet felt this tremendous war. The stimulant of gov’t credit
has so far been equal to the draught upon the patient, but already
the dose has to be increased 3234 % to keep up the effect, and soon
the whole thing must fail, when reaction must set in and “down,
down, down” must go everything. We feel we can understand

from here better than you can in Chicago. . . . T am opposed to
speculation now with the prospect of revulsion, depression, and
ruin ahead. . . . The collapse is inevitable, . . . the only question is
when ? 57

5¢ W, S. to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 19 and May 31, 1863. °

55 Jdem to idem, Dec. 11, 1862.

56 Xdem. to idem, Nov. 23, Dec. 31, 1862, and Jan. 4, 1863: “You would be
so puzzled you would throw up a copper to know what to do.”

57C. H. to W. S. McCormick, Dec. 2, 1862. L.P.C.B. No. 49, p. 856,
C. A. Spring to W. S. McCormick, Aug. 12, 1862. C. H. McCormick hoped
to gain a perspective abroad which would enable him better to judge of the
proper investments to make at home. #Jas. Buell, the cashier of the Im-
porters’ and Traders’ Bank, probably comforted him but little when he re-
minded him in a letter of Dec. 5, 1863, that Bank of England notes during
the Napoleonic Wars were within ten points of being as low in relation to
gold, as were greenbacks in that month.
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Thus McCormick, in December, 1862, confirmed from Lon-
don, after talking with a financier and his country’s ambassa-
dor, the fears for the future which plagued his brother in
Chicago.

William had a power of attorney from the inventor, but he
was expected to ask his advice and consent before investing
the profits of the firm. He did so in long, revealing letters
which he rightly supposed “would be a curiosity among many
others after this war shall have ended.” 8 Nevertheless, the
kaleidoscopic changes in the financial situation from day to
day % and the failure of his brother to answer his many ques-
tions either fully or promptly, obliged him to act upon his
own responsibility and report his course after it had been
taken. Thereby he risked the censure and even the refusal of
Cyrus McCormick to abide by his decision, in so far as the lat-
ter’s share in the venture was concerned.

The largest amounts of money reached the company office
during the darkest period of the war, for it was then that
currency was the most depreciated and farmers were able and
ready to cancel debts which in many cases had been incurred
four or five years before the conflict opened. This fact also
helped to shape the financial policy of the company, since at a
time when William McCormick was the most pessimistic he
was obliged to handle sums of money dwarfing any in his pre-
vious career. He brought no wide experience to his task except
an expert knowledge of Chicago real estate and farm values.

To dispose of greenbacks quickly and to forecast accurately
the amount they would depreciate between January, when
reaper prices were announced, and the selling season of the
following summer, were two of the most serious and usual

58'W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 15, 1863.

59 Idem to 1dem, Mch. 29, 1863: “We don’t think worth while now to
report little events such as an advance or decline of only forty per cent in
gold.” See also idem to idem, Jan. 24, 1864.
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problems of the war period.®® Since the value of the paper
money in relation to gold was in a considerable degree deter-
mined by the fortunes of the northern armies, and since sig-
nificant victories or defeats chiefly occurred during the sum-
mer campaigns, the currency was most unstable in the months
when harvesting machinery was sold. With the price of reaper
raw materials—wood and iron—increasing faster after 1862
than the rate of greenback depreciation, more than human wis-
dom was required to fix terms of sale one winter that would
pay without question for the cost of machine reproduction the
next, and yield a fair profit.® Nevertheless, prices once adver-
tised were never raised, although the purchaser of a reaper
was expected either to pay cash upon delivery so that the paper
could be invested at once before further depreciation took
place, or, since this was usually impracticable, to sign notes
extending in the future for three to five years, with the hope
that when they fell due, greenbacks would be at a parity with
gold.®® Although a plan in the late autumn of 1862 to sell
reapers only for wheat was never carried out,®® grain and

80 Idem to idem, July 4, 1862: “You have not seemed to fear as I have
this depreciation in paper money. I am for investing somehow without delay.
. . . Farming lands or lots or anything sooner than paper money these times
in Bank.” He wondered how his elder brother could even think of going
abroad before an investment policy was decided upon.

61 L.P.C.B. No. 73, p. 482, the Co. to J. Fisher, Liberty Mills, Ind., July
19, 1864. Here the Co. insisted that it was making no profit on its 1864 sales,
since the cost of all factory raw materials had so much advanced after it
had issued its machine price list earlier in the year.

62 Letters from the Co. in Ibid., No. 49, p. 869, to W. S. McCormick,
Aug. 25, 1862; No. 55, pp. 784-5, 844, to W. H. B. Warren, Wabash, Ind.,
Jan. 5, 1863, and to J. B. McCormick, Jan. 6, 1863; No. 57, Dp. 216, 505,
to Bass & Elmendorf, McGregor, Ia, Feb. 21, 1863, and to G. Smith,
Burnett Station, Wis,, Mch. 5, 1863.

8% He proposed to take wheat in exchange for reapers at its average price
in Chicago during the past four or five years (86%4¢ a bu.) and even to
make the interest on reaper notes payable in wheat. The idea was abandoned
by Jan., 1863. Early in the autumn of 1862, he considered the advisability
of building grain elevators in Chicago, borrowing $200,000 in N. Y. for



118 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

stock were occasionally received for machines; the grain sold
through the commission house of C. H. McCormick & Co.;
the cattle quickly taken by the city packers who had for long
made the Chicago River run red with blood; and the horses
and buggies held during the winter on the several stock farms
of the firm for apportionment among the three hundred agents
when the spring canvass opened.®*

Two normal avenues of investment were closed to William
S. McCormick. He had no acquaintance with the stock market
and declined to gain it during the uncertain times of the Civil
War.%® Because of his determination to “play safe,” his fear
that the federal government would repudiate its enormous debt,
and perhaps also because of his lack of sympathy for the
policy of coercion, United States bonds were not included in
his portfolio of investments.®® In fact, he believed that any
man wishing to borrow money or to sell a farm would prefer
McCormick’s reaper notes to greenbacks. It was a fine conceit
to assume that a private partnership was more solvent than the

investment in wheat, and holding it through the winter for shipment in 1863
to Europe. Possibly word from his brother that the depredations of Con-
federate cruisers would probably boost ocean freight rates, made him less
ready to go forward with this plan, as well as the one mentioned in the text.
Ibid., No. 52, W. S. McCormick to L. Hopkins, Oct. 17, 1862; No. 55, the
Co. to F. Cuddington, Dixon, IIl, Dec. 20, 1862. C. H. to W. S. McCormick,
Dec. 19-20, 1862; W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 3, Oct. 19, Dec. 28,
1862. On Oct. 19, he wrote: - “There isn’t room now in Chicago, to hold the
grain pouring in despite the short crop.” Statistics do not support his judg-
ment that the crop was light.

64 Ibid., No. 54, pp. 725-727. In Jan,, 1862, the Cordova, Ill., agency had
65 horses, 15 cows, 2 oxen, I mule, and a variety of farm wagons, etc.,
taken in payment of reaper notes. Other McCormick depots of this kind
were at Concord, Courtland and Tiskilwa, Il

65W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 22, 1863.

66 Idem to idem, Oct. 19, 1862. Apparently C. H. McCormick invested
$16,000 in U. S. bonds in Jan., 1863, but this is an exception to the rule.
L.P.CB. No. 56, p. 111, the Co. to J. Buell, Importers’ and Traders’ Bank,
N. Y, Jan. 12, 1863; W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 31 and Feb. 21, 1864.
C. H. McCormick still owned some U. S. 6% gold bonds in 1868. C. H.
McCormick to C..A. Spring, Jr., July 17, 1868.
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national government, but at least he was able to loan many
thousand dollars’ worth of company paper at interest rates of
from seven to ten per cent.®” These notes paid six per cent
interest to the holder, were guaranteed by the firm, and were
said to be negotiable and stable in value, although the bor-
rowers seem to have overlooked the fact that they would be
cancelled eventually in depreciated currency, either by the
farmer who first signed them on the delivery of his reaper,
or by the company as endorser. However, every note so loaned
saved the firm the cost of its collection and lessened the quan-
tity of paper money which it was obliged to handle.8

By the summer of 1862, William McCormick realized that
the war years would be a debtors’ paradise. He was obliged
to give a receipt in full when farmers sent him cheap legal
tender of a face value equal to the old reaper obligations,
totaling well over a million dollars and incurred when a dollar
was a dollar. Consequently, he understood why “creditors were
running away from debtors who pursued them in triumph and
paid them without mercy.” % If reaper purchasers could do

87 L.P.C.B. No. 53, pp. 455, 476, the Co. to H. S. Champlin, Courtland,
Ill, and to E. Healy, Earlville, Ia., Nov. 6, 1862. To combine portions from
each letter: “There must be a demand for capital with you. If there is, then
why should not our good Solvent Reaper notes be as available as other
paper. . . . Currency may depreciate but this paper will not, the farmer can
keep it, as it bears interest, and collect along just as he needs the money.
We are satisfied with the paper, but we wish to concentrate our means, and
make investments on long time.”” By Dec., 1864, at least $185,000 in notes
and money had been loaned. W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 10, 1864

88 L.P.C.B. No. 52, pp. 848-852, 880, a form letter of the Co. to its agents,
Oct. 20, 1862. In this, it proposed to sell and loan reaper notes, loan money,
and buy farm lands with notes or greenbacks. Ibid., No. 55, p. 66, the Co.
to W. C. Leyburn, Sparta, Wis., Nov. 24, 1862; and p. 806, to W. H.
Brazier, Salem, Ill,, Jan. 5, 1863.

89 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, July 9, 1862; Jan. 25, 1863, “I have told
you long ago that legal tender would in the end be a good Bankrupt law.
‘Money’ may be bought by the bushel to pay debts to us. This legal tender
law is to be a great leveler. It will enable the Creditor to pay up his honest
debts with scraps of paper.”
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this, why could not the company borrow large amounts of
greenbacks, invest them at once, and pay back the loans when
the paper was still further depreciated? Big profits were made
in this way. At one time the partners owed almost $225,000,
and a considerable portion of this debt was cancelled in the
winter of 1863-1864 before the currency reflected the Federal
victories around Richmond and Atlanta.” Fortunately for
the success of this plan, there was never a time during the war
when the McCormicks could not borrow large sums at from
six per cent to eight per cent interest, with the date of re-
payment, in most cases, at their option.™

In addition to the ante-bellum reaper notes, which most
farmers, spurning the shelter afforded by the stay laws, were
now able and anxious to cancel, the annual sale of about five
thousand machines brought to the company treasury more
than three-quarters of a million dollars in greenbacks during
the autumn and winter months. To hold them was to lose
money, and quick decisions had to be made, often involving
as much as fifty thousand dollars a week. Factory raw ma-
terials were purchased two years in advance of need and paper
currency was loaned to farmers at from six per cent to ten

70 Idem to idem, Oct. 14, 1862, and Nov. 22, 1863. In Nov., 1863, the firm
owed $222,000, but to W. S. McCormick’s regret, $09,000 was about due
to be paid.

71 Jdem to idem, Oct. 12, 19, 26, 1862. L.P.C.B. No. 52, W. S. McCormick
to L. Hopkins, N. Y. Oct. 17, 1862. An interesting illustration of the
financial advantage enjoyed by a big firm over a smaller competitor is fur-
nished by C. H. McCormick & Bros’. practice of overdrawing its account
at the Importers’ & Traders’ Bank, sometimes as much as $80,000. Of course
it paid interest on the amount of its overdraft, and its special specie account
was considered security, but it was none the less a convenient and elastic
way of borrowing. Ibid., No. 69, p. 377; No. 76, p. 77, C. A. Spring, Jr,, to
J. Buell, May 5 and Nov. 10, 1864. Nevertheless, in 1867, this bank called
a halt upon this practice. Thereupon C. H. McCormick transferred his funds
for a time to the Park National Bank of N. Y., which offered him easier
accommodations. #J. Buell to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 27, 1867; L.P.C.B.
No. 95, C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 29, 1867; #C. A.
Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 5, 16, 1867.
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per cent interest for a seven- to ten-year term, with the hope
that the date for repayment would find greenbacks at par.”
Whether to place surplus funds in gold or in real estate was
always one of the most puzzling problems that faced William
McCormick. His opinion as to the relative profit to be expected
from these two modes of investment changed time and again
during the war, and at its close he was still in a quandary about
them. He admitted in 1864 that city property had not ad-
vanced in value as much as he had anticipated two years
before, but on the other hand, gold paid no interest to its
holder. In the summer of 1862 he favored gold over real
estate, regretted his change of heart in the spring of 1863,
was again cheering for city property in preference to specie by
December of that year, and by February, 1864, repented that
he had not purchased more metal.”® Whichever alternative he
followed, his brother usually was sorry that he had not made
the opposite choice.™ The McCormick hoard never exceeded
$200,000, and apparently was largest in the autumn of 1862
and the winter of 1863-1864. At the latter time Cyrus trans-

72W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 11, 1863. By this date over $100,000
had been loaned for from five to ten years, and in the next Sept., the total
was half again as large. About one-third of the total, however, consisted
of reaper notes rather than money. Curiously enough, the firm would only
loan money on improved farm land security, “not desiring [to have] the
care and attention that city or town securities impose.” L.P.C.B. No. 56,
D. 495. Probably the preference for loans to farmers arose also from the fact
that, unlike city dwellers, their security “can’t be burned or destroyed by
mobs.” W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 29, 1863. Idem to idem, Oct. 14,
and Nov. 23, 1862. The Co. had invested $246,313 in raw materials, and in
July, 1864, the sum tied up in this way was equally large. Pig-iron was
piled like cord wood all over the factory yard.

73 [dem to idem, July 9, Nov. 9, 1862; Mch. 1, Dec. 13, 1863; Feb. 28,
1864.

74 Idem to idewm, Jan. 24, 1864. In this letter W. S. McCormick opposed
his brother’s suggestion that the firm should buy $300,000 in gold and ship
it to Europe for investment. William argued that gold was worth more in
the U. S. than abroad, that it could only be loaned @ 4% interest overseas,
while investments in Chicago real estate yielded 10% a year.
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ferred $75,000 in specie from his New York account to Lon-
don for investment, and although his holdings thereafter were
not very large, the purchase and sale of gold are mentioned in
his correspondence until the close of 1866.7

By far the largest proportion of the surplus money of the
firm was invested in real estate. Here a choice had to be made
between city property, subject to heavy taxes and insurance
charges, and farm lands—both wild and improved—which
could be held at small cost until railroads and the coming of
more settlers advanced their value. Attractive bargains in both
city and country were available throughout the conflict, and
the depreciation of the currency affected real estate values but
slowly.”® Increasing faith in Chicago made the decision an
easier one as the war dragged on and the city boomed as never
before. “Chicago must be a success if any city in this country
will be,” wrote William McCormick in October, 1863. “The
best men and capital are here and coming here. There are not
enough stores to do the business.” 77 Leander, fresh from
London, believed his home city had larger crowds than the
English metropolis, while Mary Ann McCormick was aston-
ished at “the indifference manifested by the loss of life” in the
war. “The idea is with everybody to go ahead, & see how
much you can swindle out of everybody while this thing
lasts.”” ™ Crime kept pace with the city’s growth; even the

75 §Naylor & Co., N. Y., to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 19, 1864; W. S.
to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 14, 1862, and Feb. 7, 1864. At the earlier date,
C. H. McCormick had $104,791 in gold and W. S. McCormick $35,000.
In Feb. 1864, C. H. McCormick held $105,701, and about half that amount
by autumn.

76 L.P.C.B. No. 55, p. 60, the Co. to B. G. Fitzhugh, Frederick, Md.,
Nov. 24, 1862: “Real estate is low, very cheap; the general inflation has
not affected that yet; we can invest our money in real estate at bargains.
. . . Real estate must feel the depreciation, and rise in value.”

77W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 4, 1863. As early as the spring of
1862, Chicago merchants were agreed that business was better than at any
time since before the Panic of 1857.

78 Mary Amn to Nettie F. McCormick, Oct. 21, 22, 1863, and Mch. 5,
1864.
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main streets were unsafe after dark. Cyrus McCormick’s
home was ransacked by burglars, and thereafter, until it was
rented, a clerk from the factory office slept in the house with a
Colt revolver under his pillow and threads running from all
the doors and windows to a bell at the head of his bed.?®

In the autumn of 1862, William McCormick wished the
firm to invest a million dollars in Chicago real estate.®® Cyrus
demurred, but by the close of the war the value of the partners’
properties in the city was almost that much, and were return-
ing about $100,000 a year in rents.3! Their hotel, the Revere
House, was a money-maker after they had widely advertised
it among their agents in 1863.82 About a dozen stores were
erected and as many more were purchased. The McCormicks
were the largest landlords of Chicago and William might well

70 C. A. Spring, Jr., to Nettie F. McCormick, July 29, 1862; Feb. 7, and
May 23, 1863. L.P.C.B. No. 65, p. 595, the Co. to W. J. Beebe, Kankakee,
I, Nov. 12, 1863; No. 80, p. 143, to P. Mohan, Louisville, Ky., May 20,
1865.

80 W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 20, Dec. 11, 1862.

81 #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 22, 1865. Annual rents
paid to C. H. McCormick totaled about $40,000, while $60,000 more came
in from properties owned by the firm. In July of that year, C. H. Mc-
Cormick’s real estate in Chicago, including the factory, was valued at over
$600,000, an increase of more than $200,000 since the previous summer.
W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 29, 1863. Land for which the firm had
paid $40,000 was renting @ $3,600 a year, while two stores on Lake St.,
costing $22,000, returned $2,700 a year. The heaviest purchases of city real
estate were made during the winter of 1862-1863, and by Mch, 1863, the
partners had invested $355,000 in this way. In September of this year, the
firm had $500,000 in city property, $42,000 in farm lands, $157,311 loaned
to farmers, $85,000 in gold, etc. Idem to idem, Sept. 27, 1863.

82 Jdem to idem, Feb. 15, 1863. The McCormicks distributed 100,000 circu-
lars through their agents who “will work for & fill our Hotel with cus-
tomers we think.” L.P.C.B. No. 67, p. 2, W. S. McCormick to S. C. John-
son, Kenosha, Wis,, Feb. 19, 1864; No. 69, p. 111, the firm made over
$20,000 from the hotel during its first year of operation, W. S. to C. H.
McCormick, Apr. 6, 1865. “Chicago Times,” Apr. 8, 1864. In 1868, following
the death of Wm. S. McCormick and the division of the properties owned
jointly by the partners, this hotel passed into the possession of Leander.
It was destroyed in the fire of 1871, but two years later a new Revere House
was opened a half-block further north.
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write to Cyrus, “We even command the respect of the Aboli-
tionists for doing so much for the City.” 3 Only the commis-
sion house of C. H. McCormick & Co. failed to yield a profit.
William wished his elder brother to enable Hugh Adams to
improve both his social and financial standing by being “rid of
[grain] gamblers for associates” and join the “quiet, gentle-
manly capitalists” engaged in the wholesale dry goods busi-
ness.8* This Cyrus refused to do, and he also declined a golden
opportunity to enter a partnership with the young and able
Marshall Field in the same type of enterprise.8®

‘With several hundred agents in all parts of the Northwest
the firm had unusual opportunity to hear of bargains in farm
lands.®® Rural real estate was expected to decline in value after
the war, but William McCormick judged that it would be al-

83W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 13, 1863; “Chicago Times,” May 8,
13, 1864. “Chicago Daily Tribune,” Oct. 8, 1863, May 20 and July 21, 1864.

8¢'W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 4, 1863, Feb. 28, and Dec. 14, 1864.
W. S. McCormick to H. Adams, July 21, 1865; H. Adams to C. H. Mc-
Cormick, Jan. 31, 1866; C. H. McCormick to H. Adams, Mch. 27, 1877.
Following the war, Adams continued in the commission business but was no
longer paid a salary by the reaper firm. The concern prospered (L. J. to
C. H. McCormick, Jan. 10, 1866; L.P.C.B. No. 89, p. 262, C. A. Spring, Jr.,
to H. Adams, Apr. 14, 1866). In the winter of 1873-1874, Adams admitted
his eldest son, Cyrus Hall, to the firm and its name was changed to Mec-
Cormick, Adams & Co. By 1877 it was one of the largest of its kind in
Chicago, and its profits for 1876 were said to have been between $65,000
and $75,000. Hugh Adams died on Mch. 10, 1880, at the age of 60, but the
business was continued.

85 [bid., No. 76, p. 383, W. S. McCormick to M. Field, Nov. 29, 1864.
W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 31, Dec. 10, 14, 26, 31, 1864. W. S. advised
that C. H. McCormick or the firm should put $200,000 into the venture.
Field, who was a member of Farwell, Field & Co., was negotiating also
with Potter Palmer. In 1865, Field and his partner, L. Z. Leiter, purchased
the retail dry goods business of Palmer.

86 . .P.C.B. No. 353, p. 16, the Co. to H. G. Grattan, Oct. 22, 1862: “We
learn thru one of our agents that owners of farming lands find it very
difficult to get tenants owing in a measure to the great drafts of men for
the war. This is calculated to lessen the price of lands.” Ibid., No. 57, p. 884,
W. S. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Sr., Mch. 19, 1863: “There is a great
deal of land in market low, and for cash, very low.”
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most tax-exempt as long as the farmers held the whip-hand
in the state legislatures, and that at least a three per cent or
four per cent return could be counted upon annually from
rents.87 Compared with the large purchases of city property,
the $100,000 used to buy over 11,000 acres outside of Chicago
seems quite small. These holdings were scattered through
more than fifty counties in six states of the Northwest.® Be-
cause of the agricultural collapse a few years after the close
of the war, this investment was probably unwise, but as late
as 1867 the firm believed that these properties were worth
over half as much again as they cost.??

William McCormick could truthfully assert when giving an
account of his stewardship to his brother in 1864, that no
company funds entrusted to his care had been lost and that
the profits of the firm would have been much larger if a less
cautious course had been run. To find the safest rather than
the most remunerative investment, and to divide financial risks
as much as possible, were two considerations always upper-
most in his mind.?° Buildings and land, gold, grain, pig-iron,
and wood attracted most of the McCormick money during the
Civil War and helped to place the inventor’s name at the head

87W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 19, 1862: We can buy farms under
cultivation for $20 an acre, lease them for a rental that will return us 3%
annually on our investment, and we can probably sell them “on time” at the
close of the war for $15 an acre, the notes paying us 10% interest. Some
farm property was purchased with reaper notes. L.P.C.B. No. 52, pp. 331,
350, the Co. to S. H. Mitchell, St. Francisville, Mo., Sept. 30, 1862, and
to C. W. Battell, Paris, Ill., Oct. 1, 1862; No. 55, p. 256, to W. S. Beebe,
Kankakee, Ill., Dec. 4, 1862.

88 Of this total, 7,318 acres were in Ill, 2,701 in Ia., 600 in Minn., 360
in Wis., 120 in Ind., and 40 in Mich. The largest county acreage was in
Rock Island and Pike Cys., Ill., where the Co. owned 1520 and 9o3 acres,
respectively. Ibid., No. 157, p. 807, Co. to J. Edgar, Rochester, Minn,,
May 11, 1875: We would like to sell all of our country real estate.

89 Financial Statements of C. H. McCormick, and C. H. McCormick &
Bros., 1867. C. H. McCormick also invested $46,000 in farm lands.

90W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Mch, 16, 1864; Jan. 19, Mch, 1, May 31,
1863.



126 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

of the income tax list of Chicago by 1868.%* “Buying and in-
vesting in advance of rising prices” was William McCor-
mick’s terse formula of success. Because competition kept the
price of reapers at a low level while the cost of their produc-
tion almost doubled, it is evident that the prosperity of at least
one war-time industry was not due to the exploitation of the
consumer. The McCormick Company made much money, but
its history during these four years does not harmonize with
the usual story of war-profiteering and industrial expansion.
Shrewd investment of the funds received from reaper sales,
and not large profits from those sales, explain why the part-
ners were much richer in 1865 than they had been at the open-
ing of the conflict.

The firm balanced its accounts on August I of each year,
but its investments had been made in such a way that hard
feeling between the three brothers was almost inevitable if
the time should ever come when each must be allocated his
proper share of the profits. Cyrus had not collected his moiety,
and by the close of the war the company owed him over half
a million dollars.?? He believed that his two brothers had used
more than their percentage of the profits for their own specu-
lations; investments had been made contrary to his advice, and
if he wished to assert his rights he could demand his due at
any time in cash. But much of his portion had been used to
buy real estate which could not readily be turned into money
except at a loss.?® He had complained that Leander had sub-

91 “Chicago Evening Journal,” May 28, 1869. C. H. McCormick’s net
income for tax purposes in 1868 was $231,667.

92'W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 14, 1864.

93 According to the agreement of 1859, C. H. McCormick was obliged to
furnish the money needed by the firm for manufacturing machines. But his
two brothers used Cyrus’s share of the undivided profits as well as their
own, to purchase real estate and insisted that they were entitled to a 50%
interest in this property. For the sake of peace, C. H. McCormick agreed,

although a strict interpretation of the contract placed him under no obliga-
tion to do so. C. A. Spring, Sr., to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 28, 1866.



BUILDING A FORTUNE 127

jected him to “cruel treatment” by not finishing as many ma-
chines as were needed for the European market, and he
further angered his youngest brother by advising him not to
forget his work at the factory while he was building his new
residence.®*

When Cyrus McCormick returned from Europe in the sum-
mer of 1864, a new business agreement between the brothers
was urgently needed. This was concluded in mid-November of
that year. The name of the firm and the portion of the profits
to be enjoyed by each brother remained unchanged, but there-
after they were associated into a true partnership and Leander
and William were each obliged to furnish one-fourth of the
capital. Each of these two was to receive a salary of $6,000 a
year, while Cyrus was guaranteed at least $1,000 annually as
well as a bonus of $25,000 from the assets of the old firm. All
matters in disagreement connected with the former business
were to be submitted for decision to three arbitrators. Of sig-
nificance for the future were the provisions that certain patents
owned by Cyrus McCormick should be purchased by the firm,
and that all patents held by any one of the brothers could be
used without charge by the partnership.?s

With this contract closed and Illinois politics no longer re-
quiring his presence in Chicago, Cyrus McCormick hurried
to the seaboard to work for peace between the warring sections
and to meet his wife and children upon their return from Eu-
rope.®® He hoped that his stay might be a brief one, since he
had recently purchased a residence on Michigan Avenue and

9¢1. J. to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 8 and Dec. 6, 1863.

95 This agreement was made for a seven-year term on Nov. 18, 1864, and
was to date from the first of that month. The partnership assumed all the
assets and liabilities of the old firm. C. H. McCormick was to receive about
$11,000 a year rent for the plant, and proportionately more if the annual
production of machines exceeded 4,000. He agreed to supply all new ma-
chinery required by the factory.

26 Supra, pp. 60 ff.
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longed to occupy it with his family.®” The call of business,
however, once again determined his course. The Fifth Avenue
Hotel in New York City was his address until November,
1866, when he purchased a near-by residence for $80,000.
While living at the hotel in late 1864, his three children were
stricken with scarlet fever, and the youngest, Robert Fowler,
succumbed to the disease.®8

Word now came from Chicago that William S. McCormick
was again broken in health and suffering “from nervous head-
aches, low spirits, & general debility—about as he was some
years ago.” % Electrical treatments, a stay of almost two
months at a hydropathic institute in New York, and ten days
at Dr. Seely’s “water cure” at Cleveland failed to bring relief.
By the close of the summer his case was desperate.’®® His

97 This was No. 128 Michigan Ave, and is often called the Burch house
in the correspondence. Its fruit orchard and “grapery” especially appealed
to its owner, as did the greenhouse and flowers of his Dearborn Street
home, now rented to Mr. J. Lombard. #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. Mec-
Cormick, May 30, July 10, 13, Nov. 8, and Dec. 23, 1865. W. S. to C. H.
McCormick, Apr. 10, 11, 1865. L.P.C.B. No. 84, p. 637, C. A. Spring, Jr,,
to Mr. Lombard, Oct. 9, 1865; No. 86, pp. 167, 355, C. A. Spring, Jr., to
C. H. McCormick, Dec. 7, 1865. Because McCormick refused to give a
year’s lease, thinking he might soon return to Chicago to live, the Michigan
Ave. house remained unrented until the spring of 1866.

98 Robert McCormick was a year and three months old at the time of his
death on Jan. 6, 1865. “New York Daily Tribune,” Jan. 7, 1865. Letters to
Nettie F. McCormick from Mary C. Shields, Jan. 3, 9, 1865; Mary Ann
McCormick, Jan. 11, 1865, and Henrietta McCormick, Jan. 7, 1865. Mary
Virginia McCormick was born in Chicago on May 5, 1861. The residence
at 40 sth Ave. was purchased of Murray F. Smith. C. H. McCormick wrote
to his friend J. D. Davidson on Mch. 18, 1867, that he found it necessary
to “have a stopping place in this great centre of the country, & prospective
centre of the world.”

99 Mary Ann to Nettie F. McCormick, Jan. 31, 1865.

100W. S. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 19, 22, 25, 28, 1865. L.P.C.B. No. 8o,
p. 50, C. A. Spring, Jr.,, to Dr. H. Brown, South Pass, Ill., May 18, 1865;
No. 83, pp. 400, 564, the Co. to J. B. McCormick, Aug. 9, 1865. C. A.
Spring, Sr., to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 8, 1865; Mary Shields to Nettie F.
lggCormick, Aug. 22, 1865; #B. M. Smith to W. S. McCormick, Aug. 22,
1865,
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From a photograph in the possession of the Nettie Fowler
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physical condition, religious doubts, and business cares preyed
upon his mind, and in late August he was taken to Jackson-
ville, Illinois, to live for a time in the home of Dr. Andrew
McFarland, the Superintendent of the State Hospital for the
Insane. Dysentery was epidemic in that town, and when Cyrus
visited his brother two weeks later, he vainly urged that the
patient should be brought back to Chicago.’®! Under Dr. Mec-
Farland’s care, William’s mental condition improved and his
dyspepsia was apparently yielding to treatment. In mid-Sep-
tember, however, he was attacked by “dysentery of a typhoid
character—very little under the control of medical meas-
ures.” 1% Before the end came on the twenty-seventh, he re-
gained his peace of mind, and with almost his last breath
urged his brothers to realize the folly of money-making and
to “forbear one another in love!” 2 To Cyrus McCormick
the death of William was an irreparable 1oss.1%* Their differ-
ences of opinion were never of a personal nature and they had
worked together since the reaper was in its infancy. William

101 C, H. McCormick to Dr. A. Leyburn, Oct. 9, 1865, and to C. A.
Spring, Sr., Oct. 18, 1865. C. A. Spring, Sr., to C. A. Spring, Jr., Aug. 27,
1865. Mr. Spring, Sr., attended William during his long illness. The patient’s
mind was intermittently clear, and he was then consulted on matters of
business. He desired to go to Jacksonville because he feared “his mind
may be deranged if he does not have the best of treatment.” L.P.C.B. No. 83,
p. 718, C. A. Spring, Jr.,, to Dr. H. Brown, Aug. 25, 1865. Dr. McFarland
diagnosed his affliction as “softening of the brain” and believed that general
paralysis would follow. No. 83, p. 879, C. A. Spring to J. B. McCormick,
Sept. 2, 1865. C. H. McCormick visited his brother in Jacksonville in mid-
September but was at Avon Springs, N. Y., at the time of his death and
funeral. Burial was at Graceland Cemetery, Chicago, on Nov. 15, 1865,

102 A, McFarland to C. A. Spring, Sept. 30, 1865; Mary Ann McCormick,
to Nettie F. McCormick, Sept. 5, 1865. L.P.C.B. No. 84, p. 250, C. A.
Spring, Jr, to L. J. McCormick, Sept. 17, 1865. $C. H. McCormick to the
Editor of “The Herald,” New York, Oct. 6, 1865.

108 C, A. Spring, Sr., to C. A. Spring, Jr., Sept. 1, and 7, 1865; Letters
to C. H. McCormick of Mary C. Shields, Oct. 5, 1865, and of Mary Ann
McCormick, Dec. 12, 1865.

104 C, H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Sr., Oct. 18, 1865.
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had conducted the business of the firm through the years of
panic and civil war with great skill.

A new partnership arrangement between Cyrus and Leander
was now necessary, and in June, 1866, they agreed to continue
the interest of William’s heirs in the business until 1871, or
until such time prior to that date when Leander, as administra-
tor of his deceased brother’s estate and guardian of the minor
heirs, should see fit to withdraw it. Cyrus was released from
his obligation to furnish machinery for the factory at his own
expense, and Charles A. Spring, Jr., as his representative,
together with Leander, was entrusted with the general super-
intendence and management of the firm’s business.'®® Al-
though this contract declared that most of the old matters at
issue between the partners were now passed into oblivion, the
pact was concluded in an atmosphere of ill will, created mainly
by disagreement over the title to certain mower patents.1%®
Henceforward, William S. McCormick would be sorely missed
as a peacemaker between his two brothers.

During his last illness, he had implored Cyrus and Leander

105 M S. Agreement of June 16, 1866, between C. H. and L. J. McCormick,

revising the contract of Nov. 18, 1864. C. H. McCormick furnished Leander’s
security, as administrator.

106 Post, p. 520. C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, June 18, 1866:
“He [Leander] feels sore and says little. . . . I advised him to forget it and
he agreed with me.” Leander submitted to his brother’s view of the mower
patent question by Feb., 1867, but upon Cyrus’s return from Europe a year
later, an old issue, involving the obligation of the firm to pay for certain
patents which the inventor had purchased in the later 1850’s, caused a new
rift. As in several other instances during his lifetime, Cyrus stood upon
the spirit of, and the implied obligations in, a contract—in this case the
1859 agreement between the brothers—while Leander insisted upon an ob-
servance of its letter. The amount of money in question was about $25,000.
After much bickering and many threats of suit, a compromise was reached,
which was chiefly in accord with L. J. McCormick’s position. C. H. to L. J.
McCormick, Apr. 11, ¥Nov. 12, 1868. L. J. to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 23,
18688. $J. N. Jewett to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 22, June 4, July 8, and Sept.
9, 1868.
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to work together in harmony, but by a strange whim of Fate
the real estate investments made by him for the firm were now
to lead to their further estrangement. As administrator, Lean-
der was naturally anxious that his brother’s estate should be
settled as soon as possible, and he early decided that the heirs
should withdraw their interest from the reaper company.°” To
effect this, the value of all the farms and city property held
jointly by the partnership had to be appraised in order that an
equitable division might be made. This was a tedious matter,
and Cyrus McCormick, who wished both to go to Europe in
1867 and to be on hand when the apportionment was made,
was annoyed by Leander’s determination to press ahead with
all speed.’®® The inventor doubted the wisdom of removing
William’s investment from a profitable business, although he
realized that to do so would save much confusion in the future

107 The judge of the Probate Court had been loath to agree that William’s
money should remain tied up in the reaper business. He finally acquiesced,
but with the express understanding that any losses should be borne by the
administrator and guardian. This probably goes far to explain why Leander,
so shortly after the contract of June 16th, determined to withdraw William’s
interest from the firm. C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, July 12,
1866. For a time in the spring of 1867, relations between Leander and Cyrus
were cordial, but the statement in the text is generally true. C. H. to L. J.
McCormick, Feb. 19, 1867: “I desire nothing but peace with all men, if that
can be had on honorable terms; and much more especially do I desire
‘peace & goodwill’ toward my ‘kindred according to the flesh’ if that can
be on proper terms.” L. J. to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 25, 1867: “Let all
differences between us be of the past from this time forward.”

108 #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 31, 1866, Sept. 19 and
Mch. 16, 1867. Spring agreed with Leander and believed that the division
of the real estate should be made at once and that the interest of William's
heirs should be taken out of the business. At the time of his death, W. S.
McCormick owned fourteen houses in Chicago and several more jointly
with one or another of his brothers, in addition to his one-fourth interest
in the large holdings of the firm. L.P.C.B. No. 96, p. 645, C. A. Spring to
C. H. McCormick, Mch. 22, 1867. C. H. McCormick was relieved to learn
that even though he should be in Europe at the time the division was made,
he would be allowed five years in which to file an appeal in case he deemed
it to be unfair. C. H. to L. J. McCormick, Mch. 26, 1867.
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and give him a dominant voice in the policy of the firm.1%® On
the other hand, farm values were declining, and the partners
would be unable to unload their country property as long as
the slow work of arriving at a just division was in progress.**?
Even though William’s share were drawn out, his estate could
not be settled, for his five children were all minors and one of
them would not reach her majority until 1881.112

The division of the firm’s property was not completed until
1869.11% Fortunately, the commissioners made the allotments
so fairly that no one of the three parties in interest had just
cause for complaint.’*® Thereafter, for the next twenty years,
the company gradually sold its country real estate as favor-
able opportunities appeared. The firm of C. H. McCormick
& Bro., in which Cyrus and Leander had a two-thirds and
one-third interest respectively, agreed to give the heirs of
William $400,000 for their share in the business.*** This
large payment, and the need for each surviving partner to
invest more money in the company, called for a financial out-
lay which neither brother was prepared to meet. Leander was
particularly embarrassed, and after trying various expedients
which need not be described here, Cyrus McCormick borrowed

109 As long as W. S. McCormick’s heirs retained a share in the partner-
ship, Leander could speak for them as well as for himself. He and his
deceased brother each had a one-fourth interest. Thus his opinion was now
equal in weight to that of his elder brother.

110 L P.C.B. No. 95, p. 565, the Co. to D. W. Fairbanks, Concord, Ill,
Feb. 16, 1867.

111, P.CB. No. 161, pp. 364-365, L. J. McCormick to J. S. Waterman,
Sycamore, Ill., Aug. 12, 1875.

112 The court order for the division of the real estate was not issued until
Sept., 1868. #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 28, 1868. L.P.C.B.
No. 105, p. 679, the Co. to Dr. H. Brown, South Pass, Ill, June 18, 1868;
No. 108, C. A. Spring, Jr.,, to D. W. Cobb, Marshalltown, Ia., Oct. 24,
1868; C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr., Oct. 22, 1868.

118 ¥C, A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 5 and 19, 1868. C. H.
McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr., Dec. 9, 1868.

114 #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 30, 1868.



BUILDING A FORTUNE 133

$200,000 of the Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Co. and
loaned one half of it to his brother on real estate security.
The interest to be paid by Leander on this sum was soon in
dispute, although for a time the relations between the partners
were generally cordial.**5

In 1867, the real estate of Cyrus McCormick, both in and
outside of Chicago, was worth almost twice as much as he had
paid for it. His annual income from rents was $95,000, and of
this total about one-third was derived from his two principal
groups of stores, known as the McCormick and Larmon
Blocks. In addition to this sum, the reaper company collected
each year from its own tenants over $130,000, of which the
senior partner was entitled to one-half.*¢ To put the matter
differently, a decade after the inventor began to invest heavily
in real estate, his annual rents amounted to about one-third
of the profits from the sale of reapers and mowers. Thanks
to the expert management of Charles A. Spring, Jr., assisted
by his father during the rush of the spring leasing season,
these properties demanded but little of the inventor’s time and
thought. Speculations at this time in mines and railroads re-
quired more of his attention but brought him a smaller re-
turn.

115 Jdem to idem, June 1 and Aug. 30, 1867; Apr. 28 and 30, 1868; Mch.
17, 19, Apr. 19, 22 and 23, 1870; May 13, June 15, Aug. 7, and 8, 1871
#L.P.C.B,, No. 1, 2nd ser., pp. 34, 58, 82, C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring,
Jr., Apr. 20, and 28, 1870, and to the McCormick Co., Apr. 19, 1870. At
this time, C. H. McCormick had advanced the firm more money than he
was obliged to do under the contract. He desired to use these funds for
other purposes, and called upon Leander to contribute his due share to the
factory’s treasury. C. H. McCormick repaid $100,000 of his loan from the
Insurance Co., in July, 1871. See, ibid., No. 127, p. 581, C. A. Spring, Jr.,
to the Conn. Mutual Life Ins. Co., Hartford, Conn., June 29, 1871. C. H.
McCormick’s heavy borrowings at this time were also due to his large loans
to the Union Pacific Railroad Co. Post, p. 137.

116 The value of McCormick’s real estate in 1867 was said to be $1,347,522.
This represented an investment by him of $718,479. About 7% of his rents
were derived from farm lands. The firm had farm properties valued at
$150,000, and about 4% of its total rents came from this source,



CHAPTER V
RAILROADS AND MINES

YRUS McCORMICK, the conservative in politics and
religion, the innovator in methods of manufacturing and
harvesting, the investor in gilt-edge Chicago real estate, was
also fascinated by speculative risks, offering remote chances
of large profits. He relished a new financial adventure and en-
joyed it as long as it was exciting and not too expensive. Par-
ticipation in hazardous schemes afforded him a release from
the humdrum affairs of every day. He shared the spirit of the
rich and would-be rich of his generation, men who thought of
progress in terms of rapid exploitation of natural resources.
To subdue a continent was to confer a public benefit, and in
his opinion no instrument was better adapted to achieve this
end than the railroad.

In the summer of 1865 George Francis Train, “a splendid,
dashing-looking fellow, with a head like Apollo’s, a voice full
of music, a hand with an electric thrill in its grasp,” was tak-
ing a “water cure” at the Hydropathic Institute in New York
City. Here Cyrus McCormick met him and was regaled with a
rosy account of the Union Pacific Railroad and the Crédit
Mobilier. Soon the inventor’s heavy purchases of stock in
both of these companies led Train to congratulate him upon
his admission to the “Pacific Board of Brothers.” 2

1 A. C. Cole, “The Irrepressible Conflict, 1850-1865” (N. Y. 1934), p. II.
U.P.R.R. Co, N. Y., to C. H. McCormlck Sept. 5, 1865. This letter makes
clear that McCormlck had purchased 250 shares of Crédit Mobilier stock
for $50,000. See also, #Receipt of H. C. Crane, Asst. Treas. of C. M., to
C. H. McCormick, Nov. 20, 1865. By the close of 1866, McCormick owued

134
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The Credit Mobilier [continued Train], is made up of wealthy
men ; and owning the the [sic] Pacific Contract >—Someday will be
the Grandest Financial Institution in the world. What other Bank-
ing concern ever had $100,000,000 Government Bonds and 20,-
000,000 acres of Land for a Base? . . . You are just the man to
be interested in the World’s Highway—~Paris to Pekin in Thirty
Days, by Two Ocean Ferry Boats and Continental Railway.

Your $50,000 interest, in five years, I believe will be worth
$500,000. . . .

I want you to know Gen’l Dix and Mr. Cisco—as well as your
Brother Contractors. You will find Durant a live man—This is
the project of his life, and he succeeds in Everything he under-
takes. I hope you will try that Yacht of his before you leave the
City2

“To oblige two or three wealthy parties,” the capital of the
Crédit Mobilier was enlarged and care was taken to admit a
few Democrats to its benefits, “for we have too many Repub-
licans now.” * On this score too, McCormick qualified, and by
October he was also a director of the Union Pacific Railroad
Company.®

Some who were prominent in this enterprise and were Cré-
dit Mobilier stock-holders as well, were aware of still another
opportunity to make large profits. With Train as its president,

045 shares of C. M. stock and 1251 shares of U. P. stock. L.P.C.B. No. ¢6,
p. 330, C. A. Spring, Jr.,, to C. H. McCormick, May 12, 1867. C. H. Mc-
Cormick’s earliest purchase of railroad securities was in 1858 when he in-
vested $600 in the stock of the Galena & Chicago R.R. In 1865 he also pur-
chased 550 shares of the Chicago & Rock Island R.R.

2 The “Pacific Contract” was the Hoxie Contract of 1864, to build about
250 miles of the railroad for over $12,000,000. The obligations and benefits
of this agreement were assumed by the Crédit Mobilier Co. in the spring of
1865.

3¢G. F. Train to C. H. McCormick, Aug. 28, 1865. John A. Dix was
president of the UP.R.R. Co., and John J. Cisco was treasurer. Thomas
C. Durant was president of the Crédit Mobilier and vice-pres. of the Union
Pacific.

4 Jdem to idem, Sept. 29, 1865.

5U.PRR. Co, N. Y, to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 5, 1865. He was also
a member of the Finance Committee of the Board.
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and George P. Bemis, secretary, the Crédit Foncier, or Pacific
Cottage and Land Company, was organized under a charter
from Nebraska Territory.® It was described in its prospectus
as ‘‘a wheel within a wheel,” and its sponsors felt no scruples
in referring to its membership as a “Ring.” 7 Although “en-
tirely independent of the Pacific and Crédit Mobilier,” its
identity of personnel with these gave it “the advantage of
knowing where Station Buildings and Towns will be built”
along the railroad.® Profiting by their advance information,
the concern planned to buy land and erect houses for the work-
men along the right of way. “As towns will be started at every
station on the U.P., the idea [behind the Crédit Foncier] is
but in its infancy, and by reinvesting the profits every forty
miles where the station is built & town started, leaving the
alternate lots of land to increase in value, the man who puts
down his one thousand dollars now can judge of the harvest
he will reap.” ®

McCormick took his allotted share in this grandiose enter-
prise and was made one of the seven directors. It soon at-
tracted to its subscription list members of Congress and well-
known business men such as George M. Pullman and Ben

¢ The act of incorporation was passed on Feb. 15, 1866, over the gover-
nor'’s veto. The capital might be increased to $1,000,000, but at the outset
it was $100,000, divided into 100 shares. “It will be a new idea in American
Finance, to see a special co-partnership of Millionaires, where no one risks
but One Thousand Dollars, which may indirectly represent a Thousand
Millions.”

7 Prospectus of Crédit Foncier of America, 1866. In this, the plan was
said to be based on “Péreire’s system” of Crédit Mobilier and Crédit
Foncier, sponsored by Napoleon III, “the best statesman in Europe, and the
best financier in the world.” G. F. Train to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 29,
1865.

8 Ibid. Each subscriber to the Crédit Mobilier stock was given the option
of purchasing one share in Crédit Foncier.

9 G. P. Bemis to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 1, 1866. In its prospectus, the
Crédit Foncier group frankly stated that it proposed “to own the towns and
cities at every station on the line of the Pacific Railway.”
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Holladay of the Overland Stage Company.'® Except for a
purchase of eighty acres of land at Omaha and the erection of
a few houses there, its dream was never realized. It remains,
however, an excellent illustration of the business “temper” of
the times and the close tie-up between politics and private
enterprise.*!

For about five years, McCormick’s investments in the Crédit
Mobilier brought him a golden return. A fifty per cent divi-
dend was declared in the summer of 1866 and by the close
of 1868 profits in the form of cash and Union Pacific stocks
and bonds totaled several times the amount of his subscrip-
tion.?? Crédit Mobilier stock “‘skyrocketed” and the company’s
undivided profits were then very large. This rich harvest re-
sulted from the assignment by the Ames brothers to the Crédit
Mobilier of their 1867 contract with the Union Pacific to build
the line west of the 10oth meridian.*?

As a director and big stock-holder of the railroad company,
McCormick was afforded the opportunity to loan it large sums
of money on short term at high rates of interest. On every

10 Other members of the Crédit Foncier were T. C. Durant, J. A. Dix,
J. J. Cisco, H. S. McComb, H. Clews, Simon Cameron, P. H. Smith (vice-
pres. of the NW.R.R.), C. H. Ray (of “Chicago Tribune”’), W. G. Fargo,
C. A. Seward (late Asst. Secy. of State), G. T. Brown (Sergeant-At-Arms
of the U.S. Senate), J. W. Forney (Secy. of the Senate), Senator S. C.
Pomeroy, and the following members of the House of Representatives, W. D.
Kelley, H. T. Blow, W. B. Allison, O. Ames, and R. T. Van Horn.

11 #] etters to C. H. McCormick of G. P. Bemis, Nov. 1, 1866, G. F.
Train, Mch. 30, 1867, and H. M. Taber, N. Y., Jan. 8, 1873.

12 Letters to C. H. McCormick, from John Duff, Sept. 21, 1866, and S. L.
M. Barlow, Jan. 7, 1868. C. H. Adams for C. H. McCormick to C. A.
Spring, Jr.,, July 3 and Nov. 25, 1868, and Jan. 7, 1869. During 1868 Mc~
Cormick received dividends of 155% from his C. M. investment and on
Jan. 6, 1869, a 200% dividend. C. H. McCormick’s financial balance-sheet
for Jan. 1, 1869, shows his C. M. profit as $565,687.25, or almost 600%
on his investment.

13 A construction agreement was, as a rule, not made directly with the
Crédit Mobilier, but with an individual who assigned it to certain stock-
holders of that concern.
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sum advanced, he also received a brokerage fee of one or two
per cent. These loans were so remunerative that he borrowed
heavily from banks and insurance companies in order to be
able to make them.* On his motion in the spring of 1867, the
directors of the Union Pacific appropriated $10,000 to use in
advertising its stocks and bonds in Europe in connection with
the Paris Exposition and to make known “the size and im-
portance of the U.P.Rd.” He, Samuel B. Ruggles who was
the Commissioner of the United States at the Fair, and John
A. Dix the Ambassador of the United States to France, were
appointed a committee to spend this money.® The inventor

14 Thus on June 15, 1867, he wrote to his broker, S. L. M. Barlow, of
N. Y.: “ .. they allow say 14}4% per cent int. on so much as I have in the
P.[acific] R.R. for 4 mos (with “commissions”) like others.” This letter 1s
in Room No. 400, 606 S. Michigan Ave. Chicago. Soon however, the rail-
road co. refused to pay more than 7% (plus 1% commission) on its loans,
but McCormick continued to advance large sums ($100,000 to $200,000 at
various times), especially in 1868. See, C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring,
Jr.,, #Apr. 1, ¥May 30, #June 8, and Oct. 22, 1868; C. A. Spring, Jr., to
C. H. McCormick, Nov. 12, 1867; L.P.C.B. No. 101, p. 738, C. A. Spring,
Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 29, 1867. C. H. Adams, for C. H. Mc-
Cormick, to C. A. Spring, Jr., Jan. 14, 1869. In this letter it is stated that
C. H. McCormick had loaned $100,000 to the U.P. and wished to double it
“immediately in order to secure a large rate of interest & commission
which is paid to the members of the Co. only.” Although the road was not
generous in issuing passes, McCormick secured several for ministers whom
he wished to befriend. #]J. Duff to C. H. McCormick, June 5, and 17
1869; C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr., June 28, 1869, and to J. Duff,
June 10, 1869. #B. M. Smith, Hampden Sidney, Va., to C. H. McCormick,
June 16, 1869. .

15 Letters to C. H. McCormick from Oliver Ames, Mch. 1, 1867, #Louis
D. Combe, Paris, Jan. 5, 1868, and #J. A. Dix, Paris, Apr. 17, 1868. Dix
wrote: “I should certainly have been very agreeable to remain at the head
of the Co. until it met the Central [Pacific], but it is no doubt best as it is.
I have purchased $30,000 of the first mortgage Bonds, and, of course, feel
deeply interested in the prosperity of the Company.” #C. R. Norton of
Norton & Co., Bankers, Paris, to C. H. McCormick, June g, 1868. He asked
C. H. McCormick to use his influence to gain the appointment of his firm
as financial agent in Europe of the U.P. He believed that he could sell
$4,000,000 worth of the bonds in Europe. “These bonds would be very
popular in Germany.” He advised that the U.P. Co. should issue land
mortgage bonds of small denomination, each to bear a coupon, which when
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believed that his contribution to the enterprise was of service to
the public and should be given consideration in estimating his
qualifications for admittance to the French Legion of Honor.1®

In that same year, he and John Duff of Boston were named
trustees of the lands granted by the national government to
the road.’™ With this property as security, ten $1,000 bonds
were issued for each mile of track laid. Many of these were
turned over to the Crédit Mobilier in part payment for its
construction work. The two trustees were obliged to sign every
bond, and McCormick wrote his name on about ten thousand
of them. For this purpose he was expected to go to the Boston
office of the Union Pacific Company whenever a new issue
was made, but most often he required the annoyed treasurer
to send the securities by special messenger to his home in New
York or Richfield Springs.’® Although he asked to be paid
one dollar for every bond that he signed, the Union Pacific
Company refused to agree that his autograph was so valuable,
and he eventually consented to accept $5,000 in full payment
for his services.*?

detached would entitle the holder to a passage to Omaha where he might
settle along the line of the road. C. H. McCormick to C. R. Norton, July 29,
1868. McCormick thought that the bonds were selling too well in the U.S,,
to try to market them abroad.

16 C. H. McCormick to J. T. Griffin, Apr. 25, 1867, and to M. Chevalier,
Paris, Sept. 12, 1868: “The U. Pacific is going forward very fast & the
stock in our Crédit Mobilier in connection with it is now 4 to one advanced.
. - . In fact nothing is lacking to see our great country advancing to front
rank among nations, but the overthrow of the present Radical rule, wh. I
Hope is soon to be realized. I hope Gen’l Dix is not for Grant for Pres.”

17 MS. Indenture between the U.P.R.R. Co., C. H. McCormick, and John
Duff, Apr. 16, 1867. C. Tuttle to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 28, 1867.

18#Oliver Ames to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 20, 1869, and #J. M. S.
Williams to him on June 15, 25, July 16, Aug. 20, 31, and Sept. 2, 1869:
“As the mountain couldn’t come to the mole hill, we must go to the moun-
tain, with our Bonds.”

19 Letters to C. H. McCormick of #J. Duff, Dec. 2, 1874, S. Dillon, Jan. 8,
1876, and H. Day, #June 17, 1876, Mch. 31, Apr. 10, $May 35, and July 14,
1877; #F. H. Matthews to H. Day, Apr. 4, 1877. $L.P.C.B. No. 4, 2nd ser.,
p. 89, C. H. McCormick to F. H. Matthews, Nov. 25, 1877.
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The directors of the Union Pacific were not a harmonious
“band of brothers.” Personal jealousies and differences on
matters of policy served to divide them. The Durant faction
wished to build the line as inexpensively as possible so as to
have for its own pockets a large surplus from the government
subsidies, while the Ames group believed the construction
work should be done with more care, since it optimistically ex-
pected that the road would operate at a profit as soon as it
was ready for use. By 1867 a modus vivends had been ar-
ranged, but Oliver and Oakes Ames were in the ascendancy.2°
At this time McCormick, who had favored their position, left
for a long stay abroad. On his return in the spring of 1868
he learned that he had been dropped from the board of direc-
tors. Why he was displaced is by no means clear because his
relations with the Ameses remained cordial, and he was re-
stored to the board in the following year.?* In any event his
absence in Europe was a stroke of good fortune. While there,
Oakes Ames, who feared that the legality of the contract made
by the Union Pacific with the Crédit Mobilier might be chal-
lenged, sold on favorable terms to certain members of Con-

20 In Aug., 1867, the board of directors, including Durant, accepted the
proposal of Oakes Ames that he should build the road west of the 1ooth
meridian and receive his pay in the stocks and bonds of the U.P. It was
known that Ames would assign to the Crédit Mobilier. Oliver Ames wrote
to C. H. McCormick on Aug. 23: “I think the Dr. [Durant] found that he
was getting in a position where he would be deprived of all power in the
Road and is now anxious to make friends in the Board. This Contract will
give a large amt. of Stock to Cr. Mobr. We are getting on Splendidly with
the Road. . . . We are selling our Bonds Rapidly and our Finances are in
first rate condition. . .. Your investment in the road looks as though it
would pay 100 per cent this year. Our only Trouble now is with the
Indians.” Oliver Ames to C. H. McCormick, July 18, 1867: “Durant’s In-
junction don’t stop us. But he is annoying us every sort of way and we
want a strong body of the Stockholding Directors at our next meeting who
are too honest to lend themselves to plunder.”

21%]. M. S. Williams to C. H. McCormick, May 22, 1869; C. H. Mc-

Cormick to J. M. S. Williams, May 24, 1869; #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H.
McCormick, May 26, 1869.
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gress whose friendship was desired, stock of the construction
company, and thereby prepared the way for the scandal of
1872. Cyrus McCormick, at least, would have a convincing
alibi.

By May, 1869, when the simple and impressive ceremony
at Promontory Point in Utah marked the completion of the
first transcontinental railroad, the Union Pacific Company was
under heavy fire. James Fisk and others of the Wall Street
crowd were convinced that as stock-holders they had not re-
ceived their due share of the profits. They secured from pliable
judges in New York City a court order to restrain the road
from disposing of its assets, pending an investigation of its
financial management.?? At this time Cyrus McCormick was
owed about $250,000 by the company and held its land grant
and first mortgage bonds to the amount of $275,000 as his se-
curity. On the evening of April 26, a bailiff appeared at the
door of his Fifth Avenue residence with a process designed to
prevent him from disposing of these securities. Luck favored
the inventor, since the paper was made out in the name of
“Charles H. McCormick™ and he refused to accept it. As soon
as the embarrassed deputy had left, McCormick penned a
hasty note to Oliver Ames, the president of the road. “A hint
is said to be sufficient for the wise,” he wrote, “and I con-
cluded it better no longer to hold any of these Bonds as col-
laterals.” He took the securities for his own in payment of his

227, Duff, Washington, to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 20, 1869: “I under-
stand that the Erie Ring and the Central Pacific are working against us but
I hope we shall get something that will releive [sic] us from the Judiciary
of New York City.” C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr., Apr. (?),
1869 : “There will be perhaps a great demand here latter part next week for
money—in connection with Pa. R.R. investigation (disgraceful) by a scoun-
drel Fisk. I have been told to have money ready by that time, if possible,
as important results may be secured by it. . . . Could you send me $50,000
as soon as you get this?” $C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 27,
1869: I borrowed the $50,000 from the Bank for you @ 8%.
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loan, sending to Ames on the same evening a check for $25,-
000 and the canceled “I’O’U’S” of the Union Pacific.?®

By this time, however, McCormick was also convinced that
the management of the company was dishonest and that he had
not received all of the profits that were rightfully his due.
“While others have got Bonds largely,” he complained to its
treasurer, “I have not—nor have I yet sold a dollar of them—
not wishing like others to keep the price down by keeping the
market glutted, &c! H says B is $400,000 behind!
. . . We all [the Directors at yesterday’s meeting] feel that
there has been large stealing in this business, while I have not
an equal chance at that.” 2*

He admitted that he was “entirely foo slow for this
game,” 2% and therafter refused to loan the road as liberally
as before until the “vast whirlpool somewhere that swallows
up [money] faster than it can be supplied” was revealed.?®

Although the company was in a very shaky financial con-
dition, its officials deluded themselves with the belief that

23 C. H. McCormick to Oliver Ames, Apr. 26, 1869. A. C. Rogers for
C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr, May 1, 1869. The Fisk group
petitioned that the U.P.R.R. should be declared bankrupt, and a N.Y. judge
appointed “Boss” Tweed’s son, receiver of the Co's. assets. But the officials
of the road managed to remove most of its securities and cash from the
jurisdiction of the court. The story is told in dramatic fashion by Robert H.
Fuller in his “Jubilee Jim” (N.Y., 1928), pp. 215 ff.

2¢C. H. McCormick to J. M. S. Williams, June 26, 1869. From a letter
to Williams on Aug. 3, it is evident that McCormick meant Cornelius S.
Bushnell by “B.” Who “H” was, is not certain, although probably Springer
Harbaugh or Rowland Hazard. #Undated letter in C. H. McCormick’s hand,
probably written in 1869 to J. M. S. Williams: “There is little doubt I
suppose that there has been enormous stealing in some way in connection
with the building of the Road! Where has [sic] all the proceeds of the
Govt & Mortgage Bonds—with the Capital of the Stockholders—gone to?
Of course you know I have not been in a position to know any thing about
the practical details of this business.”

25 C. H. McCormick to J. M. S. Williams, Aug. 3, 1860.

28 $1dem to idem, Aug. 2, 1869: “$600,000 & over rec’d from Govt. again—
where all gone to?”
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prosperity would return as soon as the national government
placed its seal of approval upon the completed road and paid
the amount due under its contract. To secure this approval,
John Duff, Cornelius Bushnell, and others, exerted pressure
upon prominent members of Congress.

“Wade & Conklin(g) are enthusiastic about the road,”
wrote Duff, “& have telegraphed Cox and the President that
it is the best road they ever rode on and its equipment &
buildings are Superior to any in the United States—they ex-
amined everything thoroughly & will speak understandingly—
‘Wade says he will go to Washington & tell Grant that we have
built the best road in the world & that you can ride fifty miles
per hour as safely as twenty.” 27

But Congress moved slowly and Union Pacific securities
steadily declined. In an effort to sustain their market value,
big stock-holders of the company were urged not to unload
their paper while the price was low.?8

McCormick was willing to codperate with his associates to
this end as long as all loyally played the game, but it was
patent that a few men were violating their pledges to their
own profit and to his loss. In the autumn of 1870, he refused
longer to stand passively by while Union Pacific stocks and
bonds fell lower and lower. During the following year, he re-
leased almost $250,000 worth of this stock at sacrifice prices.2?

27 J. M. S. Williams to C. H. McCormick, July 10, 1869, quoting a letter
written to him by J. Duff on July s.

28 #Circular Letter of the U.P.R.R. Co. to its Stock-holders, Aug. 11,
1860.

29 C. H. McCormick to R. Welsh, July 4, 1870; $F. D. Cobb & Co. to
C. H. McCormick, Oct. 5, 1870; #C. A. Spring, Jr., to C. H. McCormick,
Sept. 30 and Oct. 8, 1870; C. H. McCormick to C. A. Spring, Jr., May o,
1871. On May 8, McCormick sold 6200 shares of U.P. stock @ about 32.
He had sold 500 shares in the preceding Oct. @ 27%. By 1877 he held
only 11 shares. In order that his disposal of the stock might not he known,
Eis shares were sold in the name of W. H. Taylor, an employee of his

rokers.
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According to his balance-sheet of August 1, 1871, his remain-
ing shares of stock in this company and his Crédit Mobilier
securities with a face value of $111,000 and $95,000 respec-
tively, were of little value.?® Two years later he ordered his
broker to sell most of his Union Pacific bonds, and shortly
thereafter he resigned as trustee of the land grant bonds.3!

Thus McCormick’s official connection with the Union Pa-
cific Railroad Company ended in 1873, although he was still
a large stock-holder in the Crédit Mobilier. Since the summer
of the preceding year, the affairs of this construction company
had been the talk of America. In 1868, Henry S. McComb
of Wilmington, Delaware, brought suit to compel the Crédit
Mobilier to deliver to him 375 shares of its stock for which
he claimed to have subscribed. He charged that Oakes Ames
had been given most of these securities to distribute at Wash-
ington “where they will do most good.” 32 This court action
reached its climax in the late summer of 1872, when the
Democrats and Liberal Republicans endeavored to discredit
some of the “Stalwarts” in the presidential election campaign
by pointing with disgust to the revelations made in the pub-
lished Ames-McComb correspondence.®® Cyrus McCormick
was directing the campaign of his party in Illinois that au-
tumn, but if the Crédit Mobilier scandal disturbed him, at
least no reference to it is found in his correspondence. He had
had no part in the transactions that were under fire and his
name was rarely mentioned either in the testimony given be-

30 C. H. McCormick’s Balance Sheet, Aug. 1, 1871. He also owned at this
time over $73,000 of U.P. first mortgage bonds, over $163,000 of its income
bonds, and about $26,000 of its land grant bonds.

81 Lord, Day & Lord, N. Y., to C. A. Spring, Jr., Feb. 24 and 27, 1873.
C. H. McCormick resigned as trustee on June 28, 1873 (#C. H. McCormick
to J. Duff, June 28, 1873), but his resignation was not accepted until Oct. 15,
1873 (E. H. Rollins, Boston, to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 28, 1873).

82 Qakes Ames to H. S. McComb, Jan. 25, 1868, printed on pp. 104-10%

of J. B. Crawford, “The Crédit Mobilier of America” (Boston, 1880).
33 “New York Sun,” Sept. 4, 1872.
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fore the Poland Investigation Committee of Congress or in the
several monographs that have been since written on the history
of the Crédit Mobilier. He was aware that the course of some
of its officials had been a sinuous one, but he believed that
the company had performed a great public service and that its
profits had not been excessive in view of the large risks in-
volved.3*

The work of the Crédit Mobilier was finished in 1869 and
its officials, in order to avoid paying state taxes longer than
was necessary, wished to surrender its charter as soon as the
McComb suit was settled.® Following the Panic of 1873,
however, Jay Gould gained control of the Union Pacific Rail-
road Company and certain of its stock-holders threatened to
hale the Crédit Mobilier before a court in order to compel it
to return all of its “profits and Dividends.” Oakes Ames was
dead, but his brother, Oliver, was still a director of the rail-
road and hoped that there were enough Crédit Mobilier men
on the board “to settle the whole matter (without suit) and
release us from all future Liability.” Although he admitted
that if action were brought it would be “very dangerous,” he
believed that the Crédit Mobilier had a rightful claim against
the Union Pacific for an amount of money about equal to the
sum which the disgruntled railroad stock-holders expected to
compel the construction company to disgorge.3®

3¢ C. H. McCormick to H. Day, July 7, 1877. Henry K. White, “The
Building and Cost of the Union Pacific,” in William Z. Ripley, ed., “Rail-
way Problems” (Boston, 1907), p. 97. White, after a careful analysis of the
records available, estimates that the total profit gained from building the
Union Pacific was “slightly above 2714 per cent of the cost of the road.
Considering the character of the undertaking and the time when it was
carried through, this does not seem an immoderate profit.”” Interview with
C. H. McCormick about Crédit Mobilier, in “Chicago Times” of May 28,
1873.

354B. F. Ham, N. Y., to C. H. McCormick, May 6, 1872.

86 Letters to C. H. McCormick of O. Ames, Aug. 24, 1875, June 14 and
17, 1876, F. H. Janvier, Oct. 14, 1875, and H. Day, June 21, 1876. Day
reported that the Crédit Mobilier had a claim of $2,263,620.13 against the
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McCormick was no longer on cordial terms with the leading
spirits of the Crédit Mobilier. He had refused to contribute
money to its defense in an action brought against it by the
United States.3” After resuming his residence in Chicago in
1871, he was unable to talk with big railroad men almost daily
in the lobbies of the Fifth Avenue Hotel. If any more profit
could be realized from his Crédit Mobilier stock he wished to
have it.38 He asked his New York friend and counsel, Henry
Day, to investigate and tell him what to do. Day first advised
that because of the apparent intention of the Union Pacific
stock-holders to sue, ‘it would be discreet to be satisfied with
what you have received from the C. M. & take a release from
them [the U.P.] of all further claims & give up the Stock
[of the Créd. Mobr.] to them.” 3 The following day, how-
ever, after talking to Durant and McComb, he hastened to
assure the inventor that the old Crédit Mobilier group, still
owning many shares of Union Pacific stock, could probably
dominate the stock-holders’ meeting of the road as well as its
board of directors. If this proved to be the case, not only could
court action be prevented, but some of the alleged claims of
the Union Pacific against the Crédit Mobilier would be
shelved. Should this happen, the board of directors of the rail-
road would probably recognize the validity of the Crédit
Mobilier’s bill of about two and a half millions of dollars

U. P., and that this road had claims against the C. M. of $2,516,348.00.
#MS. entitled “Arrangement, as proposed by H. S. McComb, for collection
of the Union Pacific’'s $2,000,000 note due to the Crédit Mobilier of
America.”

37 S, Dillon to C. H. McCormick, Jan 8 and #Nov. 13, 1876. #B. F. Ham,
to C. H. McCormick, July 13, 1876. This suit had been won by the C. M.
at a cost of $22,500 in counsel fees. $L.P.C.B., June 1876—Apr. 1878, p. 57,
F. H. Matthews to H. Day, Apr. 4, 1877, C. H. McCormick did not help
pay the cost of this suit because the U.P.R.R. had not compensated him for
his services as trustee of the land grant bonds.

88 H. Day to C. H. McCormick, June 21, 1876.

89 Jdem to idem, June 21, 1876.
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against the road. In this event, the stock of the construction
company, now worthless, could be canceled for about sixty-
five per cent of its par value. To Cyrus McCormick this would
mean an unexpected windfall of approximately $60,000.4°

That the Crédit Mobilier, when on its deathbed, might be
able in this way still further to “bleed” the stock-holders of
the Union Pacific Railroad, was highly improbable. Most of
the prominent members of the eonstruction company, fearing
the outcome if a suit were brought against them by the Union
Pacific, made haste to turn in their Crédit Mobilier stock to
the road and receive a release from all future claims.** Not
so, however, Cyrus McCormick, Henry S. McComb, and Row-
land G. Hazard. They met in conference in July, 1877, and
decided that the Crédit Mobilier’s bill against the Union Pa-
cific could be collected.*> By this time Day had once again
changed his opinion, and was now certain that McCormick was
taking a big risk. “I should not want to have you sued by
Mr. Gould or any other of these gentlemen on a/c of the C. M.
It would be a long, ugly & troublesome affair depending very
much upon evidence under their own control.” 43 Pressed from
all sides by those who urged him to close this chapter of his
financial career, the inventor finally yielded in December, 1877,
and relinquished his 945 shares of Crédit Mobilier stock to
the Union Pacific.#*

40 Jdem to idem, June 22, 1876.

41 Qliver Ames to C. H. McCormick, June 14 and 17, 1876. He urges
C. H. to send in his Crédit Mobilier stock “& a power of Atty. to sign your
name to the paper exempting you from Liability to U.P.R.R. or any Stock-
holder thereof on a/c of any Div’d. recd. that rightfully belonged to the U.P.
I think Senator Grimes’ widow of Iowa but a few days since sent in a paper
of this kind with her Cr. Mobr. Stock.”

42 C. H. McCormick to R. G. Hazard, Peace Dale, R. 1., Aug. 1, 1877.
H. S. McComb to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 21, 1877.

48 H. Day to C. H. McCormick, July 14 and Apr. 10, 1877. $L.P.C.B,,
June 1876—Apr. 1878, pp. 57, 59, F. H. Matthews to H. Day, Apr. 4, 1877.

44 C. H. McCormick’s long delay in surrendering this stock was due, in
a measure, to his insistence that as a partial quid pro quo he should be com-
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During the fifteen years following the Civil War, McCor-
mick was associated as a stock-holder with several of the
Union Pacific leaders already mentioned, and with John I.
Blair and C. E. Vail, in building railroads in Iowa and Ne-
braska with the aid of government subsidies. These half-dozen
enterprises stemmed back to the original Iowa Railway Con-
struction Company in which McCormick invested $50,000
during 1866.%45 After paying in four-fifths of his subscription,
the balance due was transferred to the Sioux City & Pacific
Railway Company, while his dividends from the Iowa Com-
pany were in the form of bonds of the Cedar Rapids & Mis-
souri River Railroad.#® This is merely a sample of the con-
fused interlocking of the securities of these lines and several
others. By 1879 the farthest west strand of this tangled web
was forty miles up the Elkhorn Valley from Wisner, Ne-
braska.*” These roads were for the most part pushed too

pensated for his services as trustee of the land grant bonds. See, supra,
p. 130. H. Day to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 7, 1877 and Sept. 18, 1879. Two
telegrams of S. Dillon to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 14, 1877. #C. H. Mc-
Cormick, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 29, 1882.

45 C, H. McCormick to J. M. Williams, Aug. 20, 1866. ¥MS. Account-
book of C. H. McCormick called “Journal A” and begun in Nov., 1866,
pp. 91-94. C. E. Vail to C. H. McCormick, May 9, June 3, 1868, and
Feb. 24, 1870. John I. Blair was a leading Presbyterian and a benefactor of
Blair Academy, Lafayette College, and Princeton College.

46 £]. M. Williams, Boston, to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 26, 1866, and
#C. E. Vail to him on May 135, 1868.

47 C. H. McCormick invested $40,000 in the Iowa Railway Contracting
Co., and when this concern settled up its affairs he received $30,000 in the
bonds of the Cedar Rapids & Mo. River Rwy. (a unit of Chicago & North-
western), and 470 shares ($47,000 @ par) of its stock. In 1871, he esti-
mated that these bonds were worth one-half of their face value. He in-
vested $14,000 in Sioux City & Pacific Railroad Co. bonds in 1868 and also
received a like amount of its stock. This Co. consolidated with the Northern
Nebraska Air Line Railroad in 1869, and three years later leased the Fre-
mont, Elkhorn & Missouri Valley R. R., in which McCormick owned 70
shares of stock. He also held $15,834 of stock in the Sioux City Railroad
Contracting Co. When this concern finished building the Iowa Falls & Sioux
City R.R. (a unit of the Ill. Central) this investment was transmuted into
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rapidly into uninviting, treeless, and sparsely settled coun-
try.*8 Although the many stocks and bonds of these companies,
owned by McCormick, had a face value of almost $150,000,
their market price was far below par, and dividends were small
or omitted altogether. Because of these investments he was
occasionally given the opportunity to buy land along the track
for two dollars an acre, but apparently he never availed him-
self of the privilege.*?

The Southern Railroad Association was another enterprise
of these years which brought C. H. McCormick an impressive
amount of paper securities but a large ultimate loss.?° In 1868
he, with nine other men of whom Henry S. McComb and
Grenville M. Dodge are still remembered to-day, formed the
Southern Railroad Association with a capital of $1,500,000.
The inventor subscribed $125,000 to its stock, while Mec-
Comb, the largest share-holder, risked nearly four times as

stocks and bonds of this road. Letters to C. H. McCormick from #C. E.
Vail, June 6, 1867, July 1, 1868, and Feb. 18, 1871; #J. M. Williams, July 28
and 30, 1870; and #D. P. Kimball, Boston, Sept. 20, 1879. £J. I. Blair to
Stock-holders, Sioux City R.R. Ctg. Co., Feb. 15, 1870. ¥L.P.C.B. No. 1,
2nd ser., p. 300, C. H. McCormick to McCormick Co., Oct. 27, 1870.

48 §Circular to the Stock-holders of the Cedar Rapids'and Mo. R.R. Co.,
the Iowa Land Co., and the Sioux City and Pacific R.R. Co., Apr. 13, 1870.
These three concerns owned over 1,200,000 acres and deemed it wise to
divide them into 160-acre farms and sell them as quickly as possible. They
estimated that, in normal times, each farm would pay annually to the road
an average of $2 an acre in freights.

4 L P.C.B. No. 160, p. 404, F. H. Matthews to Greenbaum Bro. & Co.,
N. Y., Dec. 18, 1877. H. Williams to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 10, 1873. In
1881, C. H. McCormick received $1175 in dividends on his stock in the
Cedar Rapids & Mo. R.R. Co., and Iowa Land Co. See, ¥C. H. McCormick
to D. P. Kimball, Boston, Apr. 28, 1881. At the time of McCormick’s
death in 1884, he had 8o bonds of the Cedar Rapids & Mo. R.R,, Fremont,
Elkhorn & Mo. Valley R.R., Iowa Falls & Sioux City R.R.,, and Sioux City
& Pacific R.R., listed as worth $74,000. If this sum were ever realized from
them, the estate received back a little more than the amount of the original
investments.

50 According to C. H. McCormick’s annual financial balance-sheets of
Aug. 1, 1870, and Aug. 1, 1871, he had paid in $95,871 to the S.R. Asso.
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much.5! The company leased for sixteen years the 230 miles
of the Mississippi Central Railroad, and agreed to extend it
north from Jackson, Tennessee, to Paducah, Kentucky, where
it would connect with the Memphis & Ohio Railroad. The
securities of the Mississippi Central were selling at a very low
figure, and the association, in accord with its original purpose,
used much of its capital to buy them in, and thus became own-
ers of the road.’ Title to the line carried with it the obligation
of paying a debt of about a million and a third dollars to the
state of Tennessee, but the associates shrewdly purchased the
bonds of this commonwealth at about 50 and used them at
par to discharge the obligation.?®

Until the mid-1870’s the association seemed to be prosper-
ous, although its members had not received any dividends on
their investments.?* For $60,000 McCormick purchased 2,000
shares of stock (worth $200,000 at par) in the New Orleans,
Jackson & Great Northern Railroad, of which McComb was

51 Pamphlet entitled “The Southern Railroad Association, Articles of As-
sociation, with Minutes of a Meeting of Its Share-holders, June 235, 1868”
(Wilmington, Del., 1868). By 1870, the capital stock of the Asso. had been
increased to $2,000,000. McComb, Eben D. Jordan, McCormick, and H.
Winthrop Gray were the largest stock-holders of the ten. McCormick was a,
director of the Asso. after Sept. 1, 1869. S. H. Edgar to C. H. McCormick,
Sept. 15, 1869.

52 Pamphlet entitled “The Southern Railroad Association, Lease of the
Mississippi Central Railroad. Agreement for Milan Extension, and Articles
of Agreement Between the Trustees” (Wilmington, 1868). The Asso. paid
$500,000 for the lease of the road. It was obligated by the terms of the lease
to extend the line for twenty-one miles north from Jackson, Tenn., to Milan.
The Asso. had a Tenn. charter at first but by the summer of 1870 was
incorporated under the laws of Miss. #H. S. McComb to C. H. McCormick,
Jan. 12, 1869. #J. B. Alexander, N. Y., to C. H. McCormick, July 28, 1870.

53 Letters to C. H. McCormick from J. L. King, Treas. S.R.A., Feb. (?),
1870, #H. Day, Nov. 19, 1873, and #J. M. Rodney, Sept. 16, 1873.

5¢ E. Norton, N. Y., to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 21, 1870. At this time the
S. R. Asso. proposed to give $25,000 and 4000 shares of its stock to the
Paducah & Gulf R.R. in exchange for a 4/5ths control of that road. J. L.
King, to C. H. McCormick, June 5, 1871: “Due to yellow fever, floods, and
our heavy expenditures for rolling stock and the paper of the Miss. Central
R.R,, the S. R. Asso. is bare of funds.”
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president. This line, together with the Mississippi Central and
Illinois Central, agreed in 1871 to lay down a track from Jack-
son, Tennessee, to Cairo, Illinois, and thus make an unbroken
rail connection between Chicago and New Orleans. To help
in this project, the Illinois Central loaned the association a
million dollars.®® McCormick also, in the early 1870’s, ad-
vanced large sums to the association and to the New Orleans,
Jackson & Great Northern Railroad at twelve per cent interest.
These were repaid when due, and since these transactions were
only possible because of his large interest in both enterprises,
the profits gained from them should probably be taken into
account when estimating his net loss from the entire venture.?®

One sample of the financial manipulations of the Southern
Railroad Association must suffice. In 1873 it determined to
retire its first mortgage bonds by levying a pro rata assess-
ment upon its stock-holders. McCormick’s share was about
$66,000 and in exchange for the payment of this sum he
received an equivalent value in the seven per cent gold bonds
of the Mississippi Central Railroad, as well as $166,700 in
income and equipment bonds of the same road.’” In the fol-
lowing year he exchanged a thousand shares of the New

554D, Lord to H. Day, Dec. 14, 1871: Because of this arrangement with
the Ill. Central R.R., the S. R. Asso. is “exceedingly prosperous.” ¥H. S.
McComb to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 2, 1871, and May 29, 1872. L.P.C.B.
No. 131, pp. 106-107, C. H. McCormick to “My dear Sir,” Dec. 8, 1871.
The line between Jackson and Cairo was ready for use by late 1873.

56 #H. S. McComb to J. H. Day, Aug. 9, 1872. L.P.C.B. No. 137, p. 442,
telegram of C. H. McCormick to H. Day, Sept. 4, 1872; No. 138, p. 346,
C. A. Spring, Jr., to Lord, Day & Lord, Oct. 30, 1872. It is interesting
to note that C. H. McCormick was able to make these loans totaling
$125,000 at a time when he was under very heavy expenses in Chicago be-
cause of the Great Fire there; L.P.C.B. No. 141, p. 313, C. H. McCormick
to H. S. McComb, May 3, 1873. #H. Day to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 11,
1872. Letters to C. H. McCormick from #J. M. Rodney, Dec. 6 and 20, 1872,
#H. S. McComb, Dec. 26, 1872, and May 12, 1873, and #D. Lord, Jr., Jan. 4,
1873.

57 §7. M. Rodney to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 11, 1873. L.P.C.B. No. 130,
p. 445, C. H. McCormick to Lord, Day & Lord, May 25, 1874. W. Calhoun,
N. Y, to C. H. McCormick, May 23, 1874 and Sept. 17, 1875.
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Orleans, Jackson & Great Northern Railroad stock, which had
cost him $30,000, for one thousand more Mississippi Central
income and equipment bonds worth $75,000 at par. Thus, by
1874, from an investment of about $222,000 he held railroad
paper of over $400,000 face value, not including the worth,
whatever it might be, of his 1667 shares of Southern Rail-
road Association stock.’® All in all, this was McCormick’s
largest venture outside of his reaper factory and Chicago real
estate.

By now, the New Orleans, Jackson & Great Northern Rail-
road and the Mississippi Central had consolidated, and the
northern extension, making contact with the Illinois Central,
had been completed. The Southern Railroad Association had
more than doubled its length of track, but each mile repre-
sented $37,000 of debt.5? Although this load was not unusually
large, it could not be carried since the freight and passenger
traffic on the road did not come up to expectations. The
Mississippi Central was bankrupt by 1877, and in the reor-
ganization which followed McCormick was obliged to ex-
change the seven per cent gold bonds of this road as well as
his stock in the New Orleans, Jackson & Great Northern, for
bonds and stock in the new company which rose upon the

58 For his 1667 shares of S. R. Asso. stock, McCormick between 1868
and 1873 paid in various assessments totaling $162,551. The $66,000 men-
tioned in this paragraph was the last of these. To this total should be added
the $60,000 paid for 2,000 shares of N.O., J., & G.N. stock. For these pay-
ments, McCormick owned by 1874,—$308,380 in Miss. Central R.R. bonds,
1000 shares in N. O., J. & G. N. stock (par value $100,000) and 1667 shares
of S. R. Asso. stock. Letters in L.P.C.B. No. 151, pp. 590-501, W. J. Hanna
to H. Day, June 22, 1874, and pp. 668-671, to J. S. McComb, June 25, 1874;
No. 152, p. 29, C. H. McCormick to Lord, Day & Lord, June 29, 1874 and
PD. 461-462, W. J. Hanna to H. Day, July 8, 1874; No. 168, p. 206, F. H.
Matthews to C. H. McCormick, Sept. 23, 1876. $H. Day to C. H. Mc-
Cormick, July 28, 1874.

59 H. S. McComb to C. H. McCormick, June 30, 1874. W. Calhoun to
C. H. McCormick, Sept. 17, 1875. The consolidated road was 560 miles long.
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ruins.®® His large holding of Mississippi Central income and
equipment bonds was written off as a total loss. As soon as the
market was favorable, McCormick unloaded his new securities
for about $126,000.6* This was in 1882, and he still had the
Southern Railroad Association stock to salvage.

Since 1877 he had considered this to be worthless, but some
of the share-holders of the association believed that Henry S.
McComb had mismanaged its affairs and that an investigation
would probably reveal some hidden assets.®? McComb died in
1882, and his widow, left with the tangled residue of her hus-
band’s Crédit Mobilier and Southern Railroad Association
interests, employed Wayne McVeagh as her counsel. Faced
by the prospect of a long and probably embarrassing suit by
several of the association’s share-holders, she wrote to Mec-
Cormick : “I wish to be at peace over my husband’s name and
grave, and not to renew the misery, nor perpetuate the mem-
ory, of what was to him the most disastrous of all his enter-
prises.” 88 To settle the matter forever she offered to buy the
inventor’s shares in the association for $7.50 a share. He tried
for several months to induce her to give $10, but eventually

60 'W. H. Osborn to H. Day, Aug. 7, 1877; Stuyvesant Fish, Ill. Central
R.R. Co.,, to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 3, 1877. The new railroad company
was known as the Chicago, St. Louis & New Orleans. It was virtually
owned by the Ill. Central. McCormick was assessed $1320 at the time this
reorganization took place. C. H. McCormick to H. Day, Aug. 16, 1877 and
#Jan. 8, 1881.

61 L.P.C.B. No. 221, p. 304, C. H. McCormick to H. L. Horton & Co.,
Mch. 2, 1832, #W. R. Selleck to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Sept. 20, 1882.
#C. H. McCormick, Jr., to C. H. McCormick, May 13, 1882.

62 H. Day to C. H. McCormick, #Sept. 11, 1879, Dec. 14, 1880, and Apr.
26, 1883. #C. H. McCormick to H. Day, Nov. 23, 1875.

83 fElizabeth P. McComb to “My dear Sir,” Oct. 22, 1883: “My compen-
sation will be in the peace and satisfaction which all who have ever been
concerned in protracted and bitter litigation must have learned to ap-
preciate.”” $#A. P. Whitehead and M. Storey to the President and Directors
of the S. R.R. Asso.,, Oct. 9, 1883. Circular Letter of Whitehead and Storey
to the Stock-holders of the S. R. Asso., Oct. 10, 1883.



154 CYRUS HALL McCORMICK

accepted her original offer.%* If the sum of about $12,500
received for this stock is added to the $126,000 realized from
the sale of securities in 1882, McCormick’s net loss from the
Southern Railroad Association was about $85,000.

To aid his native state recover from the effects of the Civil
War, McCormick accepted a directorship in the Virginia Inter-
national Land, Loan & Trust Company. This firm was closely
affiliated with the Norfolk & Great Western Railroad.
Although it was organized for profit, its members also desired
to confer benefit upon their commonwealth by promoting
viticulture and the sugarbeet industry there, to encourage
immigration to their lands along the railroad, and to make
clear to the outside world that the Old Dominion was a safe
place in which to invest capital. This praiseworthy program
was never carried out, and the company dissolved in 1870
after less than two years of life.%%

8¢ H. Day to C. H. McCormick, Dec. 28, 1883, and Jan. 5, 1884. fTele-
gram of C. H. McCormick to H. Day, Nov. 6, 1883. #C. H. McCormick, Jr.,
to C. H. McCormick, Nov. 1, 5, and Dec. 1, 1883. C. H. McCormick re-
ceived $12,386 from Mrs. McComb on Jan. 29, 1884.

65 “Minutes” of the Directors of the Va. International Land Co., Oct. 13,
1869. #Act of Incorporation of the Va. International Land, Loan & Trust
Co., Mch. 23, 1870. By its charter it was permitted to increase its capital to
$1,000,000 and to lay out towns, but by 1880 it should not own over 10,000
acres in any one county, or more than 1000 acres after 1900. J. McKaye
was its president in 1870, J. D. Imboden, vice-president, and R. H. Maury,
its treasurer. #Maj. Gen’l. Sam Jones, C.S.A., Amelia Cy., Va., Feb. 28,
1870, to C. H. McCormick. He applied for the position of land agent for
the Co. and added: “My brother, the Chief Engineer of that Road (Norfolk
& Great Western), could give me valuable information in regard to the
Country through which the road will pass, which would enable me to pur-
chase or sell to advantage.” #E. Deleon, N. Y, to C. H. McCormick,
Nov. 3, 1870. At this time, C. H. McCormick was also interested in W. Va.
coal lands and secured an option from R. H. Maury to buy over 40,000
acres on Gauley Creek and elsewhere in that state. McCormick then sent a
mining engineer to estimate the value of this property, as well as the hold-
ing near Lewisburg of Jas. G. Paxton of Lexington, Va. Mainly because
of the inaccessibility of the Maury lands the report was unfavorable, and
McCormick thereupon waived his option. #Letters of J. D. Imboden, Rich-
mond, Va., to C. H. McCormick, Oct. 20, Nov. 22, and Dec. 28, 1869, Feb. 4,
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Later in this decade the Shenandoah Valley Railroad and
the James River Valley Railroad (the Richmond & Allegheny)
were rivals for the financial favor of C. H. McCormick, each
basing its claim for assistance upon the plea that its track
would rest upon the soil of his native county of Rockbridge.
Somewhat to the annoyance of the “Lexington Gazette and
Citizen,” McCormick was made a director and bought the
stock of the Richmond & Allegheny.%® This company hoped to
tap the coal lands of West Virginia and by a tie-up with Ohio
railroads eventually to complete a short “‘sea level” line from
Chicago to tidewater.®” Control was secured of the old James
River and Kanawha County Canal, one of George Washing-
ton’s favorite projects, and much dependence was placed upon
James G. Blaine to give assistance over any political hurdles
that might bar its way.®® By the autumn of 1880, when the
first train was ready to move along its tracks, C. H. Mec-
Cormick, Jr., had also invested in its stocks and bonds.®® Due

and Mch. 2, 1870. ¥Letters of C. E. Detmold, R. P. Rothwell, and J. G.
Paxton to C. H. McCormick and to each other, dating between Apr. 18.
1870 and Mch. 17, 1871.

66 “The Lexington Gazette and Citizen,” Feb. 15, 1878, f#Letters to C. H.
McCormick from T. F. Randolph, Washington, D. C., June 19, July 19 and
29, 1879; J. S. Wells, Dec. 12, 1870; E. R. Leland, Dec. 13, 1880; H. C.
Parsons, Dec. 24, 1879, and Jan. 18, 1880. #C. H. McCormick to E. R.
Leland, N. Y., Dec. 21, 1880. Parsons, who was a good friend of Mc-
Cormick, was the vice-president of the road. Hugh McCulloch and W. L.
Scott were also directors.

67 #H. C. Parsons to C. H. McCormick, Jan. 25, 1880, and Feb. 19, 1881,
and to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Mch. 20, 1881. C. H. McCormick was also a
member of the Richmond & Allegheny Coal and Iron Co., formed to buy
mineral properties along the R. & A. R.R. track. Its leading spirits were
directors of this road.

68 #H. C. Parsons’s telegram to C. H. McCormick of Feb. 4, and letters
of Feb. 10, 21, Mch. 8, and 18, 1880, Mch. 4, 1831, and May 27, 1882.
$#Telegram of C. H. McCormick to H. C. Parsons, Mch. 5, 1880. $H. C.
Parsons to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Nov. 23, 1881. #C. C. Copeland to C. H.
McCormick, Jr., June 1, 1882.

69 ¥H. C. Parsons to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Sept. 1, 1880, and May 1,
1881, and telegram of Nov. 9, 1880. #G. MacNeill to C. H. McCormick, Jr.,
Nov. 6, 1882, ¥C. H. McCormick, Jr., to H. C. Parsons, Nov. 26, 1881.
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to inefficient management, so it was said, the road failed to
secure profitable connections with West Virginian and north-
western lines.” The second mortgage bond-holders forced the
company into the hands of a receiver, and for several years
thereafter the McCormicks gained no return from their invest-
ments.”

Soon after the close of the Civil War McCormick became
interested in promoting closer communications between the
United States and foreign countries, both because of the possi-
bilities afforded in this field for profitable investments, and
because he desired to foster international friendships and busi-
ness. When he was in France in 1867 he talked with Michel
Chevalier and Ferdinand de Lesseps about an isthmian canal
across Nicaragua or Panama, and also expressed the wish that
with the aid of the governments of France and the United
States a transatlantic cable could be laid which would connect
with telegraph lines in America not controlled by the monopo-
listic Great Western Union Telegraph Company.” This latter

70 #H. C. Parsons to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Mch. 20, 1881. #C. A. Brice
to F. O. French, July 27, 1882. In late 1881 a pool was being formed to
raise $425,000 and secure control of the Scioto Valley R.R. in Ohio. J. G.
Blaine, H. C. Parsons, and C. H. McCormick were prominent in this effort.
On #Apr. 20, 1882, C. H. McCormick, Jr., wrote to his mother that profits
from Richmond & Allegheny might conservatively be estimated at $100,000.

71 §Telegram of H. C. Parsons to C. H. McCormick, Jr., June 25, 1883.
#Lletters of G. MacNeill to C. H. McCormick, Jr., June 26, 28, July 7,
Sept. 8, 1883, Jan. 22 and July 1, 1884. G. MacNeill to C. H. McCormick,
Jr., Mch. 19, 1887. The McCormicks had bought a goodly block of the
stocks and bonds of the Ohio Central R.R. at the time when its junction
with the Richmond & Allegheny seemed assured. Its securities were also
at low ebb by 1884. Among C. H. McCormick’s assets at the time of his
death were stocks and bonds of the Ohio Central of a face value of $37,000
and stock of the Richmond & Allegheny R.R. of a face value of $40,000.
He then owned also $100,000 worth of Canada Southern R.R. bonds and an
equal amount of the bonds of the Pennsylvania R.R.

72 M. Chevalier to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 12, 1868. Chevalier, economist
and engineer, had published several volumes twenty-five years before on life
in the U.S., and had written a treatise on the isthmian canal problem.
Chevalier was confident that Napoleon III, who was anxious to promote
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hope was soon in large measure gratified, and McCormick for
several years was a director and member of the Executive
Committee of the Atlantic & Pacific Telegraph Company. John
Duff was its president, and in other ways also it was quite
closely affiliated with the Union Pacific Railroad.”

Of a similar nature was McCormick’s connection with the
Mississippi Valley Society mentioned elsewhere in this narra-
tive. In 1879 he was made a director of the ‘“American
Exchange in Europe, Ltd.,” formed by Henry F. Gillig and
Senator Joseph R. Hawley of Connecticut for the purpose of
engaging in an international express, banking, and shipping
business, and extending aid to tourists and immigrants.”

Franco-American friendship, would at least lend his moral support to a
company formed by the capitalists of both countries to build an isthmian
canal. C. H. McCormick to M. Chevalier, Sept. 12, 1868, and to C. C. Cope-
land, Feb. 16, 1869. When in France, McCormick instructed Copeland to
see Chevalier and learn his plans for a canal across the Isthmus of Darien.
#C. Butler to C. H. McCormick, Feb. 26, 1869. De Lesseps visited Mc-
Cormick in Chicago in March, 1881.

78 L.P.C.B. No. 119, p. 72, W. J. Hanna to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 7,
1870. $C. A. Spring, Jr,, to C. H. McCormick, Apr. 25 and May 13, 18y0.
These letters show that McCormick was entitled to send messages gratis
over the Atlantic & Pacific Telegraph Company’s wires. A pass made out
in his name was given to C. A. Spring, Jr.,, so McCormick could at the
same time wire from both Chicago and New York without charge. Up to
1875 he received but one dividend on his stock and he resigned as director
in Mch., 1871. In 1882, he invested $25,000 in the stock of the Postal Tele-
graph Co. #Letters to C. H. McCormick of the Atlantic & Pacific Telegraph
Co., Mch. 11, 1871, of A. Nelson, July 19, 1872, and of C. H. McCormick,
Jr., Aug. 26, 1882. $C. H. McCormick to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Aug. 28,
1882.

% Post, pp. 595 to 600. Senator Hawley had also been the president
of the U.S. Centennial Exhibition at Phila. in 1876 and governor of Conn.
The Exchange had a “Bureau of Emigration and Travel,” which sold
tourist guide-books and advertised that it would furnish without charge
reliable information about the U.S. It was the sales agent for 5,000,000
acres of improved and unimproved farm lands in the U.S. It issued traveler’s
checks which were honored by over 1100 banks of the U.S. and Europe.
A house and apartment renting-bureau for travelers was another of its
services. One of its aims was to overcome in Europe the distrust for
American investments aroused by the Panic of 1873. See, Pamphlet, Olive
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He who desires to export horses or import cattle [ran its pros-
pectus in 1881], to place his last painting before the eyes of an
American millionaire, or to secure a Yankee patent for his latest
toy; he who wishes to assure himself whether mining stocks in
Arizona are what they are represented, and he who desires to be
certain that he is buying a pure article of Bordeaux wine, may
apply with confidence to the “American Exchange in Paris.” 7®

For several years gratifying dividends were paid to its
stock-holders, including Cyrus McCormick, but by 18go this
pioneer enterprise of its kind had succumbed to the competi-
tion of more efficiently managed rival concerns which its early
success had called into being.”®

In 1869, Cyrus McCormick and nine others bore the cost of
a survey of the mineral resources of Santo Domingo with the
hope that President Grant’s interest in that negro republic
would soon lead to its annexation by the United States. Helped
by McCormick’s contribution of about $6,400, title to a large
tract of land was secured, but Grant was unable to convince
the Senate that the acquisition of non-contiguous territory
was desirable, and the ten associates lost almost the entire
amount of their investment.””

Logan, “The American Abroad” (undated and no place of publication
stated), and “The American Settler” (London), Apr. 30, 1881, p. 32.

75 $“Circular No. 1, November 15, 1881. American Exchange in Paris,
Ltd.” (Paris, 1881), pp. 6-7.

76 Between 1879 and 1881, McCormick invested $10,000 in this company.
Its capitalization by 1884 was $5,000,000 and its central office was in Lon-
don. fLetters to C. H. McCormick of W. C. Boone, N. Y., July 2, 1881,
and of H. F. Gillig, July 29, Dec. 19, 1881, Nov. 2, 1882, and Apr. 5, 1884.
C. H. McCormick to #M. Field et al, Mch. 25, 1881, and to the Merchants’
Loan and Trust Co., Chicago, June 7, 1883. #Sullivan and Cromwell, N. Y.,
to C. H. McCormick, Mch. 14, 1834. C. H. McCormick, Jr.,, MSS., Book
“C,’ p. 31, Nettie F. to C. H. McCormick, Jr., Apr. 24, 18g0.

77T A. C. Rogers for C. H. McCormick, to C. A. Spring, Jr., Feb. 20,
1869. If the result of the survey is an encouraging one, a company with
$100,000 capital will be formed “to obtain possession of about ¥4 the whole
mineral wealth of that country.” #C. H. McCormick to S. L. M. Barlow,
Apr. 9. 1874. #